

# UMass Global UMass Global ScholarWorks

**Dissertations** 

Spring 2-25-2017

# Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics: How Do Gay Male Leaders and Impostors Cope?

Donald B. Scott

Brandman University, doscott@brandman.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.umassglobal.edu/edd\_dissertations

Part of the Counseling Commons, Counseling Psychology Commons, Developmental Psychology Commons, Gender and Sexuality Commons, Social Psychology Commons, and the Training and Development Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Scott, Donald B., "Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics: How Do Gay Male Leaders and Impostors Cope?" (2017). *Dissertations*. 79.

https://digitalcommons.umassglobal.edu/edd\_dissertations/79

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by UMass Global ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UMass Global ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact christine.bombaro@umassglobal.edu.

Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics:

How Do Gay Male Leaders and Impostors Cope?

A Dissertation by

Donald B. Scott

Brandman University

Irvine, California

School of Education

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in Organizational Leadership

February 2017

Committee in charge:

Douglas DeVore, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Julie Hadden, Ed.D.

Paulette Koss, Ed.D.

### **BRANDMAN UNIVERSITY**

# Chapman University System

# Doctor of Education in Organizational Leadership

The dissertation of Donald B. Scott is approved.

The dissertation of Bonara Brown is approxim	
Douglas DeVore, Ed.D.	, Dissertation Chair
Julie Hadden, Ed.D.	, Committee Member
Paulette Koss, Ed.D.	, Committee Member
Patricio Clarko Ahila	, Associate Dean
February 2017	

# Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics:

How Do Gay Male Leaders and Impostors Cope?

Copyright © 2017

by Donald B. Scott

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Completing this dissertation would not have been possible without the guidance and support my dissertation chair, Dr. Douglas DeVore, provided throughout this journey. His constant words of encouragement and willingness to respond to me from the mountaintops of California to the sunny shores of Hawaii always reassured me I was a priority for him. I will always be grateful for his words of wisdom during the darkest days of Chapter II.

I also wish to thank my committee members, Dr. Julie Hadden and Dr. Paulette Koss, for their willingness to support me throughout this process. I never could have imagined that the initial sense of intimidation I felt about Dr. Hadden in June 2014 would become the profound sense of respect I have developed for her as a result of our work together. Dr. Koss has been equally instrumental given her willingness to offer such valuable words of encouragement and feedback every step of the way.

Our program stressed the importance of learning how to effectively network, and I understand the powerful impact it has on completing a dissertation as I reflect and thank the following individuals: Dr. Kelly Davids, who was so pivotal in helping pull my data together; Dr. Richard Sinacola, who provided such expert guidance; Kelli Wyngarden for her amazing editing skills and patience; the friends who helped me locate the 14 incredible participants included in this study; my fellow "dissertation hikers"; Dr. Martinrex Kedziora and the rest of the Palm Desert Gamma cohort; and fellow Gammas Dena Fiori and Linda Carvalho-Cooley.

These acknowledgements would not be complete without special mention of my accountability partner, Pamela Gabbay-Roethel. Starting with our earliest discussions

about how to use EndNote and through each and every stage of this process, we supported one another, always reminding each other we would reach the finish line. I will always cherish the many laughs, the ability to share our moments of joy and sadness in our research "caves," and the cake we shared at each other's defenses. I wish you and Richie every happiness as you finally get to enjoy living as husband and wife in the same time zone!

Anyone who knows me well is aware of the pedestal upon which I place my family. I know for a fact I would not have finished this challenge had it not been for the love and support my sister Karen Scott, Shawn Pidcock, and most of all my precious mother and soulmate, Jane Pidcock, offered along the way. While I may always regret the expense of losing time spent with you while I completed this task, I hope you know you remained my inspiration throughout. On many levels, I finished this for you.

I close by honoring my husband, Felipe Urias Primera, as a person who has supported me for the last 19 years in ways no words on paper could ever begin to capture. You are my tech wizard, my inspiration, my best friend, and thankfully someone who knows how to keep me calm while encouraging me to keep going no matter what. Thank you for your love and patience, your valuable feedback, and for always being there for me. I am so lucky the 50-year clock never seems to start. I hope it never does.

#### **ABSTRACT**

Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics:

How Do Gay Male Leaders and Impostors Cope?

by Donald B. Scott

**Purpose:** The purpose of this mixed-methods case study was to explore and describe the coping skills used to overcome 9 behavioral characteristics by gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the impostor phenomenon (IP) by the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS; Clance, 1985).

**Methodology:** This study used a mixed-methods, descriptive case study approach to collect both quantitative and qualitative data about 14 study participants. Each completed the 20-question CIPS that represented the quantitative strand of the study prior to an interview that included 10 semistructured interview questions designed to collect rich, descriptive data. The purpose for conducting the case study was to explore and describe the individual experiences of gay male leaders who have moderate to intense IP experiences.

**Findings:** Overall, 2 to 4 common themes shared by the participants per characteristic emerged, including focusing on values, appreciating challenges, presenting an authentic self, and following personal instincts. In addition, identifying internal motivational factors, reviewing lessons learned, and realigning personal thought processes represented the intentional approaches participants described as critical coping skills.

Conclusions: These findings led the researcher to conclude that individuals experiencing IP characteristics should carefully consider potential work environments, develop strategies for evaluating their personal and professional values, and establish clear

expectations and steps they plan to take prior to embarking upon new challenges. In addition, the results suggest that organizations and clinicians should focus on the role they play in raising awareness of the IP while assisting individuals who typically experience it without the benefit of knowing how to incorporate successful coping strategies.

**Recommendations:** This research should be replicated in other parts of the United States and internationally. Future research should include different comparative studies that consider other members of the LGBT community, compare sexual minorities and their heterosexual counterparts, examine other leaders and those in support roles, and compare leaders in nonprofit versus for-profit environments. Finally, a replication of this study should include full disclosure of the IP construct to its participants ahead of data collection in order to explore alternative coping strategies that may emerge.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Background	2
Impostorism	
Theoretical Background	
Gender differences	4
Family influences	5
Behavioral Characteristics	6
Generalized anxiety	6
Lack of self-confidence	6
Depression	7
Perfectionism	7
Self-presentation	8
Procrastination	8
Emotional exhaustion	8
Fear of failure and fear of success	9
Coming-Out Process	9
Sexual orientation models	10
Gender differences	11
Professional implications	11
Leadership	12
Statement of the Research Problem	12
Purpose Statement	14
Research Question	14
Significance of the Problem	15
Definitions	17
Theoretical Definitions	17
Coping skills	17
Impostor phenomenon (IP)	
Operational Definitions	
Adult	17
Behavioral characteristics	17
Civic agency	17
Coming out	
Coping skills	
Impostor cycle	18
Impostor phenomenon (IP)	18
Leadership position	18
Nonprofit agency.	18
Parentification	
Sexual orientation	
Delimitations	19
Organization of the Study	19
· ·	
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
Impostor Phenomenon	20

Describing the Impostor Phenomenon.	. 20
Attributions of success	. 21
Behaviors	
Focus on diligence and hard work	. 22
Acts of intellectual inauthenticity	. 22
Seek external approval	
Gender-related expectations.	. 23
General profile	
Impostor cycle	
Fear of failure	
Fear and guilt about success	
Denial of competence and praise	. 26
The Psychological Construct	
Influential Factors	. 28
Family influences	
Parentification	
Five-Factor Personality Trait Model	
Populations Studied	
Gender	
Professionals	
Impostors in the Workplace	
The impostor experience	
Workplace support	
Behavioral Characteristics	
Anxiety	
Lack of Self-Confidence	
Depression	. 42
Perfectionism	
Procrastination	
Self-Presentation	
Emotional Exhaustion	
Fear of Failure	. 49
Fear of Success	. 50
The Coping Construct	
Coping	
Emotion Regulation and Flexibility	
Sexual Identity and the Coming-Out Process	
Models of Sexual Identity Development and Coming Out	
Gender Differences	
Professional Implications	
Leadership	
Continued Challenges	
Future Opportunities	
Summary	
Synthesis Matrix	. 60

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	61
Overview	61
Purpose Statement	61
Research Question	61
Research Design	62
Population	63
Sample	65
Instrumentation	66
Quantitative Instrument	66
Qualitative Instrument	67
Semistructured Interview Questions	68
Validity and Reliability	68
Expert Validity	
Field Test	69
Data Collection	70
Quantitative Data	71
Qualitative Data	72
Data Analysis	72
Quantitative Analysis	
Qualitative Analysis	73
Interrater Reliability	74
Limitations	
Summary	75
CHAPTER IV DECEARCH DATA COLLECTION AND EDIDING	77
CHAPTER IV: RESEARCH, DATA COLLECTION, AND FINDINGS	
Overview	
Purpose Statement	
Research Question	
Research Methods and Data Collection Procedures	
Propulation and Sample	
Presentation and Analysis of Data	
Data Analysis by Participant  Participant 1	
1	
Participant 2 Participant 3	
Participant 4	
Participant 6	
Participant 7	
Participant 8	
Participant 9	
1	
Participant 11	
Participant 12	
Participant 12 Participant 13	
Participant 14	
Data Analysis by Common Themes Related to Behavioral Characteristics	
Anxiety	

Common Theme 1: Anticipate what needs to be done	106
Common Theme 2: Seek alternative solutions	
Common Theme 3: Engage in positive self-talk	
Common Theme 4: Take one step at a time	
Lack of self-confidence	
Common Theme 1: Continue striving for success	108
Common Theme 2: Celebrate unique perspective	109
Common Theme 3: Embrace positive feedback	109
Depression	110
Common Theme 1: Remember priorities	110
Common Theme 2: Assess situations and mindset	111
Common Theme 3: Celebrate being valued by others	111
Perfectionism	
Common Theme 1: Accept adversity	112
Common Theme 2: Celebrate success	112
Procrastination	113
Common Theme 1: Identify lessons learned	113
Common Theme 2: Thoroughly evaluate projects	114
Self-presentation	114
Common Theme 1: Present an authentic self	115
Common Theme 2: Negotiate based upon expectations	115
Common Theme 3: Respect boundaries	116
Emotional exhaustion.	
Common Theme 1: Realign thoughts and actions	
Common Theme 2: Focus on values	
Common Theme 3: Regain power	
Fear of failure	
Common Theme 1: Reframe the thought process	
Common Theme 2: Strive to make the best of a situation	
Common Theme 3: Follow instincts	
Fear of success	
Common Theme 1: Seek balance	
Common Theme 2: Appreciate challenges	
Common Theme 3: Seek valuable colleagues	
Summary	124
CHAPTER VICINGAARVI CONCLUCIONE DARLICATIONE AND	
CHAPTER V: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, AND	126
RECOMMENDATIONS	
Summary of the Study	
Purpose Statement	
Research Question	
Methodology	
Population and Sample	
Major Findings	
Major Finding 2	
Major Finding 3	
iviajoi i mumg J	149

Major Finding 4	
Major Finding 5	
Major Finding 6	
Major Finding 7	
Major Finding 8	
Major Finding 9	
Unexpected Findings	
Unexpected Finding 1	
Unexpected Finding 2	
Unexpected Finding 3	
Conclusions	
Conclusion 1	
Conclusion 2	
Conclusion 3	
Implications for Action	
Implication 1	
Implication 2	
Implication 3	
Implication 4	
Implication 5	
Implication 6	
Recommendations for Further Research	
Concluding Remarks and Reflections	
REFERENCES	141
APPENDICES	165

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Alignment of Interview Questions With Behavioral Characteristics	79
Table 2. Description of Participants.	83
Table 3. Participant 1: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	84
Table 4. Participant 2: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	85
Table 5. Participant 3: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	87
Table 6. Participant 4: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	89
Table 7. Participant 5: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	90
Table 8. Participant 6: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	91
Table 9. Participant 7: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	93
Table 10. Participant 8: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	95
Table 11. Participant 9: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	96
Table 12. Participant 10: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	98
Table 13. Participant 11: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	100
Table 14. Participant 12: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	101
Table 15. Participant 13: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	103
Table 16. Participant 14: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics	104
Table 17. Anxiety: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	106
Table 18. Lack of Self-Confidence: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	108
Table 19. Depression: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	110
Table 20. Perfectionism: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	112
Table 21. Procrastination: Common Themes in all Participant Responses	113
Table 22. Self-Presentation: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	114

Table 23. Emotional Exhaustion: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	. 116
Table 24. Fear of Failure: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	. 119
Table 25. Fear of Success: Common Themes in All Participant Responses	. 121

#### CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

The pressure for employees to demonstrate workplace competence continues to grow as globalization advances (Vergauwe, Wille, Feys, De Fruyt, & Anseel, 2015). As both for-profit and nonprofit business and civic agencies pursue downsizing, scholars are considering the effect on remaining employees faced with greater responsibilities they may feel unprepared to manage (Whitman & Shanine, 2012). Individuals struggling with intense internalized feelings of inadequacy, self-doubt, and inferiority face barriers impeding their chances for both career advancement and personal success (Bechtoldt, 2015). Although perceived by others as highly competent, these individuals maintain negative views of themselves, provoking unnecessary pressure to perform at high levels often at the expense of both their career and their own well-being (Cokley et al., 2015).

The impostor phenomenon (IP), a term psychologists Dr. Pauline Clance and Dr. Suzanne Imes coined in 1978, describes a collection of behavioral characteristics some individuals routinely exhibit in every aspect of their lives (Clance & Imes, 1978; Cusack, Hughes, & Nuhu, 2013; Hutchins, 2015). Clance (1985) created the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS) to measure three primary characteristics including an individual's fear of evaluation, fear of not being able to repeat his or her success, and fear of being less capable than others. While the CIPS has been used in multiple studies of individual populations to measure these characteristics, little research exists on the effects of the IP in the workplace (Whitman & Shanine, 2012).

One population yet to be included in the IP research is the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) community. During the critical "coming out" phase of identity formation, LGBT individuals experience negative behavioral characteristics such as

anxiety and shame often associated with the IP (Brown & Trevethan, 2010). Despite increasing levels of social and cultural acceptance of sexual minorities, concern about the physical and psychological well-being of LGBT individuals persists (Martos, Nezhad, & Meyer, 2015). Examining the connection between LGBT sexual orientation formation and the behavioral characteristics associated with the IP can help fill a research gap by informing future scholars and clinicians how best to support individuals during the LGBT identity formation process (Rossi, 2010).

#### **Background**

The background section begins by explaining the IP and providing context about how it affects individuals both personally and professionally. A description of the initial focus on women in early studies and the IP precedes information regarding gender and familial differences. A comparison of the IP as a combination of behavioral characteristics versus a psychological experience introduces contrasting perspectives of how the IP affects individuals. Various sexual orientation formation theories and variables affecting the coming-out process in the LGBT community are presented, positioning this study to address an identified gap in current research about the IP (Clancey, 2014).

#### **Impostorism**

Though the IP term appeared in 1978, it was not until 1987 that anyone asked why awareness of the construct should matter (Clance & O'Toole, 1987). The ability to appreciate one's own successes and strengths is commonly noted as a limitation of those identified with the IP. For instance, an inclination to decline career advancement opportunities because of the IP's behavioral characteristics prevents individuals from

achieving their personal dreams (Clance & O'Toole, 1987). Likewise, impostors face difficulty reaching their full potential because of their internalized sense of fear and self-doubt (Kumar & Jagacinski, 2006). These feelings can often lead impostors to believe they must work harder than others to avoid detection, which creates a negative cycle of other destructive behaviors (Parkman & Beard, 2008).

Scholars have considered the effects of impostorism within specific professions. Hutchins (2015) described the obstacles higher education faculty members dealing with impostorism face, including their constant fear of being discovered as frauds. These psychological barriers to success negatively impact the faculty members' ability to experience personal satisfaction and affect overall job performance (Hutchins, 2015). Similarly, physician assistants experiencing feelings of impostorism find themselves questioning themselves and attribute their success to luck or charm (Mattie, Gietzen, Davis, & Prata, 2008; Prata & Gietzen, 2007). Like others who battle the IP, these physician assistants also believe they have successfully deceived others about their ability to achieve at such a high level of competence (Prata & Gietzen, 2007). This collection of personal characteristics and negative outcomes demonstrates the early foundations of the IP construct.

#### **Theoretical Background**

Psychologists Clance and Imes grouped feelings of fraudulence, a fear of being exposed, and the inability to internalize actual success expressed by 150 high-achieving women under the IP umbrella (Caselman, Self, & Self, 2006; Clance & Imes, 1978; Langford & Clance, 1993; Leary, Patton, Orlando, & Funk, 2000; Whitman & Shanine, 2012). Just as these individuals demonstrated, impostors share similar beliefs about their

inferior levels of intelligence and competence while attributing their success to a variety of external factors unrelated to their own ability levels (Clance, Dingman, Reviere, & Stober, 1995). Consequently, these feelings of inferiority promote their drive to perform at higher levels in order to demonstrate that their work justifies any praise they receive (Cokley et al., 2015). All of this creates an "impostor cycle" that reinforces the initial impostor anxiety about the situation, followed by hard work, success of the project, and finally a return to a feeling that any praise or success is attributed to something other than the impostor's competence (Caselman et al., 2006).

Gender differences. Scholars have debated whether the IP affects men and women differently. A study of medical, dental, nursing, and pharmacy students considered the role of gender stereotyping, indicating men entering the nursing profession are affected by the IP as much as and even more than women (Henning, Ey, & Shaw, 1998). However, Kumar and Jagacinski (2006) explored the links between the IP and anxiety and lower confidence levels in intelligence, finding women more likely to exhibit greater levels of impostor fears. Similarly, J. E. King and Cooley (1995) found the IP is a predictor of achievement and achievement behavior more frequently in women than men.

Other studies have been unable to support distinct differences in how the IP affects men and women. Fried-Buchalter (1997) noted similar levels of fear of success, a common IP characteristic, for both genders. Similarly, Sonnak and Towell (2001) reported no significant differences between male and female students regarding their likelihood of developing IP feelings. Finally, Castro, Jones, and Mirsalimi (2004) explored how family and, specifically, the concept of parentification, or role reversal of

parents and children, impacts the IP and found no significant differences between men and women.

Family influences. An additional factor contributing to the IP includes the role parents and family play for those who exhibit IP characteristics. Clance and Imes (1978) initially identified two groups based upon family background to describe the differences in the environments as predictors of developing IP tendencies. One group of impostors included those identified as the more sensitive of their siblings or family members. In this case, the impostors try to prove their intelligence to those around them but soon begin to believe their achievements are related to external factors rather than their own intelligence. The second group of impostors included those who receive praise for everything they do regardless of the outcome. As they encounter difficulties with certain tasks, they experience an unexpected pressure to perform at the highest level and begin to doubt the praise they receive and themselves (Clance & Imes, 1978).

Later, J. E. King and Cooley (1995) explored the parental messages children receive related to possible gender stereotyping and the impact it has on the children's development of IP tendencies. Further study about parental overprotectiveness and its connection with the IP supported the important role families play (Sonnak & Towell, 2001). Finally, Castro et al. (2004) explored parentification, the reversal of child and parental roles, and how that impacts children's reporting IP characteristics later in life. As a child assumes and is unable to meet the responsibilities associated with being a parent, feelings of inadequacy lead to anxiety and an inability for the child to develop a true sense of his or her own abilities (Castro et al., 2004). These characteristics, among others, are common for those dealing with the IP.

#### **Behavioral Characteristics**

The early work of Clance and Imes (1978) placed significant attention on the behavioral characteristics impostors exhibit. The researchers identified four primary behaviors including generalized anxiety, lack of self-confidence, depression, and frustration with the struggle to achieve high expectations they set for themselves. Other researchers have explored an additional five behavioral characteristics associated with the IP, including perfectionism, self-presentation, procrastination, emotional exhaustion, and fear of failure and success (Cowman & Ferrari, 2002; Crawford, Shanine, Whitman, & Kacmar, 2016; Ferrari & Thompson, 2006; Fried-Buchalter, 1997; Henning et al., 1998; Kets de Vries, 2005; Kumar & Jagacinski, 2006; Leary et al., 2000; McElwee & Yurak, 2010; Neureiter, Traut-Mattausch, Buse, & Di Fabio, 2016; Thompson, Foreman, & Martin, 2000; Vergauwe et al., 2015).

Generalized anxiety. Clance and Imes (1978) explained that impostors are convinced their feelings of fraudulence accurately represent what the outside world perceives about them. These internal feelings subsequently lead impostors to experience generalized anxiety about their inability to achieve an identified goal and a belief that nobody will understand their struggle. The researchers highlighted that impostors' willingness to disclose these feelings of anxiety often takes place when they learn others share similar feelings (Clance & Imes, 1978).

Lack of self-confidence. Kumar and Jagacinski (2006) described confidence as the degree to which an individual believes he or she is intelligent. Clance and Imes (1978) described two situations impostors experience that lead them to question their self-confidence. First, impostors seek and obtain validation of their intellect but then

dismiss the validation, believing it is attributable to some other quality. Second, the impostors begin to question their need to seek external approval and convince themselves that a truly successful or intelligent person has no need for this kind of validation (Clance & Imes, 1978).

Depression. Clance and Imes (1978) included depression as a behavioral characteristic impostors present, highlighting the psychological feelings of distress impostorism creates. Subsequent researchers have also included depression, describing it using overarching categories of neuroticism or perceived levels of fraudulence (Chrisman, Pieper, Clance, Holland, & Glickauf-Hughes, 1995; Kolligian & Sternberg, 1991; McGregor, Gee, & Posey, 2008; Peteet, Brown, Lige, & Lanaway, 2015). It is the negative thought patterns and self-doubt that appear in impostors and those diagnosed with depression that demonstrate the similarities in both populations (McGregor et al., 2008).

Perfectionism. Kets de Vries (2005) described perfectionism and highlighted two distinct types predicting one's likelihood of developing IP characteristics. Benign perfectionists thrive on their perfectionist tendencies, suffering few negative effects and often finding success. In contrast, absolute perfectionists establish a negative cycle of setting unrealistic goals they are unable to achieve, followed by a belief that working harder will compensate for their deficiencies. Establishing unattainable goals leads impostors to express more concern about making mistakes in addition to miscalculating the number of mistakes they are actually likely to make (Thompson et al., 2000). Finally, Henning et al. (1998) noted that impostors possessing perfectionist characteristics are more susceptible to various forms of psychological distress.

Self-presentation. Along with perfectionism, scholars have studied the importance of self-presentation among impostors. Leary et al. (2000) explored the implication of different situations impostors encounter and how each affects how the impostors react. Cowman and Ferrari (2002) compared the role of guilt and shame related to the degree to which impostors adjust their self-presentational attributes. Likewise, Ferrari and Thompson (2006) noted that impostors tend to be concerned with how they are perceived by others, linking that back to the desire to demonstrate perfection.

**Procrastination.** Clance et al. (1995) noted that impostors engage in a pattern of self-sabotage including the tendency to procrastinate. As a result, the individuals find they are paralyzed by their fear of looming deadlines, placing additional pressure on themselves to complete a task. Upon successful task completion, the impostors perpetuate their own self-doubt by attributing their success to luck versus their ability (Sakulku & Alexander, 2011). Further, Yuen and Depper (1987) indicated that procrastination offers impostors an opportunity to avoid negative consequences by associating failure with a lack of effort versus a lack of ability.

Emotional exhaustion. Another characteristic emerging as common among identified impostors involves the toll impostorism takes on an individual's emotional state. Crawford et al. (2016) highlighted the constant strain impostors face as they try to balance their need to conceal their feelings of fraudulence while striving to meet the demands of their professional and personal responsibilities. The success, or lack thereof, with which they are able to meet these demands coupled with any sources of support for their experiences can determine how the impostors manage this characteristic.

Fear of failure and fear of success. Two seemingly opposing behavioral characteristics are also frequently mentioned. Neureiter et al. (2016) highlighted that impostors may deal with both but mentioned the characteristics represent different psychological experiences and are often reflective of a person's stage in life. Fried-Buchalter (1997) considered both by highlighting that the fear of failure can affect the types of goals one sets, while fear of success appears when an impostor suspects any perceived success will result in the loss of affection from others.

Other recent studies have begun to consider whether the IP is a personality trait or a psychological experience triggered by specific situations individuals encounter throughout their lives (McElwee & Yurak, 2010). Research has recently explored how individual self-perceptions represent one of several core self-evaluations individuals formulate over time that supports the complex understanding of how the IP develops (Vergauwe et al., 2015). These behavioral characteristics can affect not only an individual's personal life but also his or her professional life.

#### **Coming-Out Process**

Scholars agree that the coming-out process for LGBT individuals is complex and includes a set of milestones each individual experiences in his or her own time (Brown & Trevethan, 2010; Martos et al., 2015; Rossi, 2010). Likewise, D'Augelli (1991) described the process as a series of transitions one experiences as he or she moves from one identity to another. Further, Vaughan and Waehler (2010) noted two primary types of growth LGBT individuals experience after coming out, including an improvement in how they perceive themselves and an improvement in how they perceive their relationships with other LGBT individuals.

Current research is beginning to consider the benefits of stress-related personal growth associated with the coming-out process. Cox, Dewaele, Van Houtte, and Vincke (2011) noted the personal issues LGBT individuals face, such as their own internalized homonegativity as well as the impact of coming out on their relationships with others. However, Solomon, McAbee, Åsberg, and McGee (2015) noted that an individual may withhold disclosure as a way to avoid negative outcomes and fail to realize the potential for growth associated with the critical step of coming out to others.

In addition to their personal lives, LGBT individuals must consider the impact of coming out on their professional lives as it concerns fears of job loss or professional credibility (Troiden, 1989). As societal acceptance of the LGBT community has evolved over time, so have proposed models designed to explain the sexual orientation development and coming-out processes individuals experience (Benozzo, Pizzorno, Bell, & Koro-Ljungberg, 2015; Creed & Scully, 2011; Dunlap, 2016; Manning, 2015; Martos et al., 2015).

Sexual orientation models. The earliest models of LGBT sexual orientation development described a linear-stage process of several key steps including recognition of one's sexual attractions, exploration of same-sex sexual experiences, self-identification as LGBT, public disclosure, and developing pride in one's identity (Cass, 1979; Troiden, 1989). Recent scholars have suggested that linear-stage models discount the different experiences men and women have as they embrace their true sexual orientation (Bogaert & Hafer, 2009; Martos et al., 2015; Savin-Williams & Diamond, 2000). Unlike linear-stage models that include sexual behavior as part of the sexual orientation development process, life course development models that consider variables including age and gender

are currently described as a more appropriate depiction of the process (Dube, 2000; Floyd & Bakeman, 2006; Grov, Bimbi, Nanín, & Parsons, 2006). For instance, an individual's age as well as the social-political and cultural circumstances at the time he or she comes out are considered key variables left out of the earlier stage models (Floyd & Bakeman, 2006). Understanding LGBT sexual orientation developmental models is important to clarify how the developmental stages LGBT individuals experience differ compared to their heterosexual counterparts (Peacock, 2000).

Gender differences. Martos et al. (2015) stated that men reach sexual orientation milestones before women, though they highlighted greater lengths of time between achieving each of them. Calzo, Antonucci, Mays, and Cochran (2011) supported these findings but found women coming out sooner than men if the process took place later in life. The role of gender stereotyping is still present and may impact the goals LGBT individuals attempt to achieve (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009).

Professional implications. Scholars have debated whether coming out in the workplace is a beneficial experience despite increasing levels of societal acceptance (Benozzo et al., 2015; Legate, Ryan, & Weinstein, 2012; Priola, Lasio, De Simone, & Serri, 2014). While often described as producing greater levels of employee well-being, the organizational context and potential costs associated with coming out force LGBT individuals to carefully consider the decision (Croteau, Anderson, & VanderWal, 2008; E. B. King, Reilly, & Hebl, 2008). In addition, scholars have noted that as changes occur in individuals' career paths or within organizations, LGBT individuals are forced to repeat the coming-out process and face the same dilemma multiple times throughout their careers (Benozzo et al., 2015; Colgan & Wright, 2011).

#### Leadership

Early researchers including Bass (1985) explored leadership styles and described the differences between transactional and transformational leadership. Focused on their corresponding levels of success, the transactional style involved a series of employee incentives and punishments to inspire results (Bass, 1985). The employee-centered transformational style built upon transactional leadership by incorporating a leader's ability to inspire an employee through personal connection and highlighting the importance of and the ability for the employee to make significant contributions to the organization (Bromley & Kirschner-Bromley, 2007).

Recent literature has built upon historic leadership models but has placed its focus on leaders' task orientation versus their people orientation (Gartzia & Baniandrés, 2016). Further, the role that mentors, family background, and an individual's age play in an individual's level of leadership confidence is beginning to emerge as another important characteristic to consider for those struggling with impostorism (Sanford, Ross, Blake, & Cambiano, 2015). Largely missing from the literature are studies exploring what, if any, behavioral characteristics impostors, leaders, and members of the LGBT community have in common.

#### **Statement of the Research Problem**

Shifting 21st-century demographics are compelling organizations to consider what impact succession planning will have on the next generation of leaders (Parkman & Beard, 2008). Despite strong qualifications, internal fear of being exposed as a fraud reduces individuals' desire to lead and can even inhibit some from pursuing leadership positions (Kets de Vries, 2005). Scholars have explored impostor feelings among various

student populations, but limited research exists about how impostorism influences individuals and their work-related professional success (Vergauwe et al., 2015).

A central principle of the IP highlights the negative view impostors can develop about themselves and the long-term effect on future success (Caselman et al., 2006; Clance & O'Toole, 1987; Cokley et al., 2015). Studies exploring how the IP affects specific populations of individuals have included gender differences (Fried-Buchalter, 1997; Henning et al., 1998; J. E. King & Cooley, 1995; Kumar & Jagacinski, 2006; Sonnak & Towell, 2001) but have failed to include sexual orientation as another variable. As impostors, individuals learn to cope with challenges invisible to external observers much like LGBT individuals as they consider disclosing their identity to those around them (Bogaert & Hafer, 2009).

Studies have considered the factors LGBT individuals experience that impact the coming-out process (Calzo et al., 2011; Martos et al., 2015; Savin-Williams, 1998). For instance, Birkett, Newcomb, and Mustanski (2015) highlighted how victimization can lead to psychological distress and feelings of chronic stress. In addition, Benozzo et al. (2015) observed that while coming out is often considered beneficial, it is not a one-time experience but rather forces individuals to repeatedly have to divulge that they are different from others.

Studies have explored both the IP and the LGBT coming-out process independently of one another. However, no data exist regarding how LGBT individuals who also identify as impostors cope with the behavioral characteristics associated with the IP (Clancey, 2014). Investigating the similarities between the feelings of fraudulence that impostors experience and the impact of the fraudulent life that LGBT leaders lead

until they come out will offer greater insight about how each group of individuals navigate the challenges they face.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this descriptive, mixed-methods case study was to explore and describe the coping skills used to overcome nine behavioral characteristics by gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the impostor phenomenon (IP) by the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS; Clance, 1985).

#### **Research Question**

The study attempted to answer the following question:

What coping skills do gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the IP, using the CIPS (Clance, 1985), use to overcome nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP?

- 1. Anxiety
- 2. Lack of self-confidence
- 3. Depression
- 4. Perfectionism
- 5. Procrastination
- 6. Self-presentation
- 7. Emotional exhaustion
- 8. Fear of failure
- 9. Fear of success

#### **Significance of the Problem**

The IP construct has only been studied for the last 38 years. Clance and Imes (1978) identified generalized anxiety, lack of self-confidence, depression, and internalized frustration as behavioral characteristics that those identified with the IP struggle to overcome. More recently, scholars have considered perfectionism, emotional exhaustion, self-presentation, depression, fear of failure, and fear of success as additional characteristics that can affect an individual who is struggling with impostorism in the workplace (Dudău, 2014; Egan, Piek, & Dyck, 2015; Hutchins, 2015; Vergauwe et al., 2015; Whitman & Shanine, 2012). It is the prevalence of these hidden characteristics combined with other well-kept secrets that calls for further examination.

Clance and Imes (1978) noted the IP is a well-guarded secret an impostor strives to keep. Much like impostors, members of the LGBT community may attempt to hide their identity at the risk of increasing the likelihood of experiencing their own fear of exposure (Solomon et al., 2015). Further, Birkett et al. (2015) noted that increased levels of victimization and other stress LGBT individuals face related to the coming-out process can lead to chronic stress and difficulty with coping.

Despite increased societal acceptance of the LGBT community, Pachankis and Goldfried (2006) reported that gay men concerned about having their sexual orientation challenged experience greater levels of social anxiety related to their interactions with others as compared to their heterosexual counterparts. Their desire to avoid certain social situations can preclude gay men from finding the kind of social support that research suggests is critical for sexual minorities (Pachankis & Goldfried, 2006). Equally important is knowing that current models of sexual orientation development highlight

that the coming-out process often takes place in an environment of shame and alienation (Floyd & Bakeman, 2006). As a result of these conditions, LGBT individuals face a difficult decision that carries important implications. Further, the lack of research regarding any connection between sexual orientation formation and behavioral characteristics associated with the IP supports the need for further investigation (Clancey, 2014).

Dunlap (2016) noted that the coming-out process has shifted over time, with it taking place more frequently during adolescence versus in adulthood. Numerous scholars have reported the positive effect mentoring and social support can offer impostors (Dancy & Brown, 2011; Vergauwe et al., 2015; Whitman & Shanine, 2012) as well as members of the LGBT community (Birkett et al., 2015; Calzo et al., 2011). This support offers LGBT individuals an opportunity to validate their feelings of distress and anxiety associated with coming out (Solomon et al., 2015).

The results of this study should provide insight for 21st-century organizations as they consider how to identify and support employees struggling with intense feelings of fraudulence and anxiety at a time when succession planning for a new generation of leaders is more important than ever (Parkman & Beard, 2008). Finally, the study assists in filling a gap in the research regarding the internal struggle the IP poses for gay men who also contend with the daily challenges of being a sexual minority in contemporary society (Clancey, 2014).

#### **Definitions**

#### **Theoretical Definitions**

**Coping skills.** The skills used to execute a response to a threat (Bachmann & Simon, 2014; Carver, Scheier, & Weintraub, 1989; Hutchins, 2015; Neureiter et al., 2016).

**Impostor phenomenon (IP).** A psychological construct describing an individual's intense internal experience of feeling intellectually fraudulent, possessing a fear of exposure, and being unable to internalize actual success (Bechtoldt, 2015; Caselman et al., 2006; Clance & Imes, 1978; Vergauwe et al., 2015).

#### **Operational Definitions**

**Adult.** For the purposes of this study, an adult is an individual over the age of 21.

**Behavioral characteristics.** For the purposes of this study, behavioral characteristics are personal qualities typically associated with those identified as impostors by the CIPS (Clance, 1985). This study addressed the following nine characteristics: anxiety, lack of self-confidence, depression, perfectionism, procrastination, self-presentation, emotional exhaustion, fear of failure, and fear of success.

**Civic agency.** For the purposes of this study, a civic agency is any entity working on behalf of a group of citizens to identify and address issues of public concern.

Coming out. A phrase used to describe the culminating milestone of the sexual orientation development process for members of the LGBT community (Calzo et al., 2011). The American Psychological Association (2016) extended the definition to

include the process individuals experience when they acknowledge, accept, and disclose their sexual orientation to others.

**Coping skills.** For the purposes of this study, coping skills are the actions individuals take in response to the negative behavioral characteristics created by feelings of impostorism.

**Impostor cycle.** A series of behaviors and actions beginning with diligence and hard work to overcome the fear of exposure as a fraud, followed by finding success with a project, and finally returning to the initial fear of exposure (Clance & Imes, 1978).

**Impostor phenomenon (IP).** For the purposes of this study, the researcher focused on individuals scoring 45 or higher on the CIPS (Clance, 1985).

**Leadership position.** A leadership position is defined as an individual name or job title indicating there is at least one follower who is working toward achieving a common goal (Bennis, 2007). For the purposes of this study, participants were identified leaders in civic or nonprofit agencies.

**Nonprofit agency.** An entity organized and operating according to strict guidelines regarding its earnings and limitations on actions it may take as set forth by the Internal Revenue Service (2016).

**Parentification.** The role reversal of parents and children resulting in children sacrificing their own needs to meet the unmet needs of their parents (Castro et al., 2004).

**Sexual orientation.** A pattern of physical, emotional, and/or sexual attraction individuals follow in relationship to others (American Psychological Association, 2016).

#### **Delimitations**

- 1. The study was delimited to self-identified gay men.
- 2. The study was delimited to leaders serving in civic or nonprofit agencies in California.
- 3. The study was delimited to participants who scored 45 or higher on the CIPS (Clance, 1985).
- 4. The study was delimited to gay men who came out after the age of 21.

#### **Organization of the Study**

The study is organized into chapters addressing the key elements supporting the purpose of the research. Chapter II provides an extensive review of relevant literature regarding the IP construct, its common behavioral characteristics, and how it compares and overlaps with sexual orientation and sexual orientation development theory. Chapter III outlines the research methodology chosen for the study, including descriptions of the research instruments used and the data collection process. Chapter IV details the quantitative and qualitative data acquired through the research process. Finally, Chapter V summarizes the study, including answers to the research question and recommendations for further research.

#### CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The review of literature begins with an examination of the impostor phenomenon (IP) construct. An overview of the phenomenon's initial inspiration and 38 years of subsequent research is included. A discussion regarding how the IP has evolved and affects individuals, those affected, proposed causes, and the associated workplace implications follows. A description of nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP precedes a summary of general coping models individuals use. Literature describing how lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) individuals experience the comingout process is also included. The chapter concludes by explaining the continued challenges and future opportunities to support gay men who deal with the IP within an organizational context.

#### **Impostor Phenomenon**

Finding the courage to pursue a goal sounds simple until an individual experiences feelings of self-doubt or, in some cases, total paralysis that affect his or her ability to achieve that goal. Individuals struggling with the IP, which may be confused with humility, struggle to believe they deserve any success they experience (Kets de Vries, 2005). Whether the individuals are doctoral students, college instructors, or organizational leaders, scholars agree that these feelings of inadequacy are common responses to the stressful environments these individuals encounter (Craddock, Birnbaum, Rodriguez, Cobb, & Zeeh, 2011).

#### **Describing the Impostor Phenomenon**

Dr. Pauline Clance and Dr. Suzanne Imes (1978) first described the IP as a common set of experiences that 150 high-achieving women reported during their clinical

psychotherapy work. The researchers specifically noted how their clients convinced themselves of their lack of intelligence while dismissing any evidence supporting their considerable competence. This observation inspired further discovery regarding to what their clients attributed success, general behaviors they exhibited, and the creation of a general impostor profile (Clance, 1985).

Attributions of success. Women in Clance and Imes's (1978) initial study often cited external attributes such as luck and charm as the explanation for their success. Subsequent IP scholars have explored what role attributing success to external factors plays in an impostor's life. Fujie (2010) highlighted how externalizing success leads to a temporary feeling of short-term satisfaction for the impostor instead of a sense of achievement. Further, Parkman and Beard (2008) pointed out that attributing their success to luck also precedes impostors' need to explain the many reasons why they believe they are undeserving of such praise.

McGregor et al. (2008) noted that impostors are likely to be their own worst critics, who are constantly measuring their performance against that of others. Paradoxically, their constant comparison to others only exacerbates their feelings of inadequacy because of the level of uncertainty about their own skills and abilities (Kumar & Jagacinski, 2006). In order to compensate for the feeling that success is due to temporary circumstances over which they have no control, impostors may resort to such tactics as working harder than might actually be necessary (Ferrari, 2005). Ultimately, impostors feel that any success they experience is unwarranted, thereby reinforcing their overall sense of inadequacy (Caselman et al., 2006).

**Behaviors.** In their initial study, Clance and Imes (1978) noted four primary behaviors their clients exhibited once they assumed the role of impostor. The four behaviors included focusing on diligence and hard work, committing acts of intellectual inauthenticity, using charm or other actions to seek approval of others, and finally surrendering to gender-related expectations of behavior.

Encus on diligence and hard work. The group of women in the initial study exhibited a cycle of actions meant to ensure they avoided their fear of discovery by acquiring a superior's approval through hard work (Clance & Imes, 1978). The study participants' doubts of their own intelligence, willingness to work hard, belief they were deceiving others, and feeling of temporary success only resulted in reinforcing their overarching fear of detection as a fraud (Clance & Imes, 1978). This behavior remains a central tenet of IP research. Kets de Vries (2005) mentioned that impostors often believe they fall short of everyone's expectations but also stand a better chance of meeting those expectations by working harder. Impostors who attribute their success only to their hard work further support their internal disregard of their own abilities (Rohrmann, Bechtoldt, & Leonhardt, 2016).

Acts of intellectual inauthenticity. Clance and Imes (1978) further suggested the likelihood of some impostors committing acts of intellectual inauthenticity. First, the impostors might refrain from sharing their true opinions and beliefs with others by purposely opting to agree with those around them. This misrepresentation permits them to avoid the fear of looking foolish in front of others but has the reverse negative effect of limiting the impostors' opportunity to be spontaneous and creative (Clance, 1985). Similarly, impostors may purposely withhold their opinions and beliefs when they run

contrary to the prevailing conversation for fear of looking unintelligent. Langford and Clance (1993) pointed out the importance impostors place on the impressions they leave on others and the motivation they have to appear intelligent for their own sense of self-validation.

Seek external approval. Clance and Imes (1978) identified the importance of seeking external approval that, like an impostor's focus on hard work, remains an essential attribute when describing the IP. At the time, Clance and Imes related their study participants' qualities such as charm, appearance, and even sexuality as opportunities to seek the approval of others. Much like the acts of intellectual inauthenticity, Clance and Imes reported the negative reinforcing nature of impostors' seeking external approval. At first, the impostors receive the approval of others and are inclined to dismiss it, believing it was offered in response to the methods used to obtain it rather than because it was earned. Additionally, impostors begin to question their need to seek the approval of others, convincing themselves that true intellectuals would have no need for this type of validation (Clance & Imes, 1978). Nevertheless, Hillman (2013) highlighted how impostors seek external validation and exhibit a heightened sensitivity to the actions others exhibit as contributing factors to their eventual exposure as the frauds they believe themselves to be.

Gender-related expectations. The final general behavior Clance and Imes (1978) associated with impostors related to societal gender expectations. The researchers noted the decision the study's participants believed they faced regarding their ability to find success while retaining a level of expected femininity and, therefore, greater social acceptance. Impostors adopted a sense of intellectual inferiority despite their clear

success, making them feel accepted but with detrimental effects to their careers (Clance & Imes, 1978). At the time of their study, Clance and Imes encouraged further research about men exhibiting impostor behaviors, noting that it seemed to occur "in men who appear to be more in touch with their 'feminine' qualities" (p. 241).

General profile. Clance (1985) highlighted several characteristics upon which later scholars based additional IP research. Clance stressed that impostors did not have to exhibit each of the characteristics but usually possessed two or three.

*Impostor cycle*. Clance (1985) indicated that the negative set of feelings impostors experience, including self-doubt, fear, and performance anxiety, serve as the basis of a cycle impostors create for themselves. The impostors may begin the cycle by establishing unattainable goals, working hard to reach them, but ultimately failing to do so, supporting their internal belief that they are incapable of finding success (Kets de Vries, 2005; Parkman & Beard, 2008). In some cases, impostors, full of anxiety and selfdoubt, procrastinate on starting a task, rush to bring it to successful completion, and finally attribute their success to luck, believing it is the only valid explanation (Thompson, Davis, & Davidson, 1998). Conversely, impostors, believing they must work harder than others, may overprepare or overwork and, upon successful completion of the task, attribute their success to their extreme efforts (Clance et al., 1995; Thompson et al., 1998). Parkman and Beard (2008) pointed out that this cycle becomes repetitive and self-perpetuating because impostors believe that others would not have to work as hard to complete the same task but that failing to do so increases the opportunity for exposure as a fraud.

Fear of failure. Clance (1985) outlined two characteristics underlying the overarching impostor characteristic of fearing failure, including the need to be special and the need to be a superwoman/superman. Clance and Imes (1978) noted that one message some impostors receive growing up is that they should experience no challenges in completing tasks because of their intelligence. This positions the impostors to work hard to excel in life and become accustomed to the idea they are exceptional until they encounter situations where they find themselves surrounded by other high-achieving individuals. Facing an environment of equally competent individuals incites impostors' feelings of doubt if they believe they are no longer the best (Clance, 1985).

In the same way impostors need to feel they are the best, they also strive for perfection in order to maintain their role as superwomen/supermen (Clance, 1985).

Impostors who have always performed well believe there is no room for imperfection if they hope to seek the approval of others (Seritan & Mehta, 2016). In addition, the desire for impostors to avoid failure supports their ability to manage any potential for poor performance (Thompson, 2004). Ironically, impostors seeking to avoid the negative consequences they associate with a fear of success may otherwise perceive their fear of failure more positively (Fried-Buchalter, 1992).

Fear and guilt about success. Clance (1985) noted that an impostor's fear of success runs contrary to the other characteristics associated with the IP until one understands how it affects an impostor. Factors including impostors' family structure, race, sex, and region where they live can elicit the feelings of separation from others that impostors strive to avoid (Clance, 1985). While the drive to succeed is present, impostors question their true abilities and fear the possibility of rejection of their peers or

loss of affection from family members (Neureiter et al., 2016). Further, Fried-Buchalter (1997) endorsed the idea of impostors' willingness to remain competitive but noted their inconsistent performance as signs of success start to appear. Clance (1985) noted that impostors question whether they are willing to experience the kind of stress and anxiety that seeking success creates. As a result, they struggle with the internal doubts that they are considered competent by those around them.

Denial of competence and praise. Another contradictory characteristic for impostors is a tendency to dismiss the praise they internally crave. Clance and Imes (1978) described one family structure that impostors encounter where praise is provided so frequently that it leads to a sense of distrust so that any praise they receive from others is considered disingenuous. Further, Clance (1985) noted that impostors are convinced any acknowledgement of their competence is undeserved. Instead, the impostors dismiss the praise, offering explanations they believe reflect the true reasons for success, thus effectively redirecting the attention away from themselves. Leary et al. (2000) related impostors' tendency to deny competence and praise to their desire to avoid any possibility of future failure in the event additional responsibilities are assigned. This inclination to deflect attention away from themselves further supports impostors' desire to minimize their success because they believe acknowledgement of it may cause it to disappear (Chae, Piedmont, Estadt, & Wicks, 1995).

## The Psychological Construct

Scholars have recently debated whether the IP constitutes a stable personality trait or if it is an individual's reaction to specific situational experiences. Chae et al. (1995) proposed considering the IP as a motivational style similar to that of one's fear of failure

or fear of success when compared with personality dimensions. For example, impostors may choose to avoid competitive situations because of their internal impostor feelings versus having the feelings represent a unique personality phenomenon. This perspective inspired others to reconsider the IP and whether each situation creates a different reactive style versus a consistent and predictable reaction. For instance, Leary et al. (2000) conducted three separate studies exploring how self-identified impostors responded to situations involving their performance and how they were perceived by others. The researchers suggested that a greater level of interpersonal benefit motivated the individuals to express typical impostor behaviors. Self-deprecation and outright admission of their feelings of fraudulence represented an opportunity for impostors to proactively avoid the negative implications of possible failure. Further, the extent to which the outcomes of the impostors' actions were outwardly apparent played a role in determining the level of impostorism (Leary et al., 2000).

McElwee and Yurak (2007) extended the debate about the stable presence of impostor characteristics, citing the differences they noted between the inconsistent reasons for IP behaviors appearing in the subjects' personal and professional lives.

Similar to other studies supporting the IP as a self-presentation strategy, impostors expressed feelings of inadequacy as expected but failed to believe that others held higher expectations of them than they held of themselves. The researchers suggested that individuals experience impostor feelings in various personal and professional domains of their lives but not always in all of them (McElwee & Yurak, 2007).

Subsequently, McElwee and Yurak (2010) reiterated the claim that impostorism is a psychological experience related to specific situations rather than a stable personality

variable. Specifically, the researchers considered the negative effects impostors reported when believing others overestimated their abilities. This position supports the idea that individuals seek a balance between being thought of positively and being thought of accurately and in line with their own self-perceptions (McElwee & Yurak, 2010).

More recently, Seritan and Mehta (2016) revisited and highlighted the situational aspect of the IP and how it can inspire exceptional performance and, therefore, greater levels of individual productivity. While the challenges impostors face in certain situations may prove beneficial at times, the researchers noted the struggle impostors encounter to manage the negative behavioral characteristics associated with the increased productivity. These challenges can be both personal and professional and affect not only the individual but also those around him or her (Seritan & Mehta, 2016).

#### **Influential Factors**

In their original study, Clance and Imes (1978) mentioned that the IP was not the initial reason their study's participants sought professional therapeutic help. The researchers offered their explanation about family background and societal expectations of women at the time as the sources of the IP after identifying recurring themes among the individuals. Since that original study, other researchers have expanded upon the role family and parents play in establishing expectations or mindsets that persist into adulthood and help establish the impostor cycle that individuals experience (Castro et al., 2004; R. A. Jones & Wells, 1996; Whitman & Shanine, 2012).

**Family influences.** Clance and Imes (1978) grouped each of their study participants into one of two family structures that the researchers believed explained the presence of impostor tendencies. Roles, or labels, either expressly stated by the family or

adopted by the children on their own serve the purpose of distinguishing the children's unique position within the family unit (Harvey & Katz, 1985). Further, the positive or negative label "may imply a whole world of meaning about what a child can—and can't—accomplish, and what role he is expected to play throughout life" (Harvey & Katz, 1985, p. 135). Childhood roles assigned as either the sibling of another child identified as the intelligent member of the family or as a child incapable of failure lead individuals to internalize a set of expectations about what they believe the family values (Clance et al., 1995).

Subsequent research expanded the idea of individual roles to include four common familial features impostors experienced in their formative years (Clance, 1985). Clance (1985) found that inconsistency between internal familial and external feedback, a recurring message emphasizing the importance of intelligence, a sense of the child being different than the rest of the family, and a lack of praise appeared consistently among impostors, leaving them with the need to consider the effect of these factors on later development. Langford and Clance (1993) added the level of family support one experiences growing up as a critical factor leading toward the development of impostor feelings. If family support is lacking, individuals may seek validation of their intelligence or other success by striving for unrealistic goals that satisfy what they believe others expect them to achieve (Craddock et al., 2011; Langford & Clance, 1993).

Other researchers explored the importance of family, including the role parenting styles play in relation to the formation of impostor characteristics. Li, Hughes, and Thu (2014) pointed out that the choice of parenting style establishes a climate each member of a family experiences and, therefore, to what extent a child may be inclined to develop

impostor tendencies. Unlike warm and nurturing parents who help their children learn to enjoy their successes while accepting their failures, overprotective parents convey a belief that they lack confidence in their children's ability to find success on their own (Li et al., 2014; Sonnak & Towell, 2001). Harvey and Katz (1985) stressed that although it is one of many factors, parenting has a significant impact on a child's internalization of impostor feelings. In the case of two-parent families, the researchers noted that children may experience approval from one parent but not the other, creating a sense of doubt about who to believe and, further, a need to secure the disapproving parent's approval (Harvey & Katz, 1985).

Parentification. Scholars researching family environments and how they contribute to the development of impostor feelings have included parentification as a possible explanation. Whitman and Shanine (2012) defined parentification as an expectation that children will fulfill the role of parent and attend to their parents' needs at the expense of the children's developing their own sense of self as they mature. In their study of 213 graduate students, Castro et al. (2004) found a moderate correlation between parentification and the IP, noting that children's sense of inadequacy at meeting their parents' needs evolves into similar feelings of inadequacy as adults. The inability to develop a true sense of their own skills and abilities to satisfy the needs of others "contributes to false self-development, or narcissistic personality characteristics" (R. A. Jones & Wells, 1996, p. 149). The potential for an individual to experience a false sense of development as a child inspired subsequent scholars to delve more deeply into considering common personality characteristics as possible contributors to the

development of impostor feelings (Bernard, Dollinger, & Ramaniah, 2002; Chae et al., 1995; Vergauwe et al., 2015).

# **Five-Factor Personality Trait Model**

Following years of debate and other models attempting to group personality characteristics, McCrae and John (1992) proposed the five-factor model (FFM) to represent a starting point for describing the personality characteristics, or dimensions, found in all individuals. The five factors include conscientiousness, agreeableness, neuroticism, openness to experience, and extraversion. McCrae and John noted they had no expectation that the model explained every personality type but rather pointed out that the factors address the universal issues everyone experiences. Specifically, the researchers noted that all people "must be responsive to danger, loss and threat; interact with others to some degree; choose between the risks of exploration and the limitations of familiarity; weigh self- against social interest; balance work and play" (McCrae & John, 1992, p. 199).

Several scholars have considered the FFM as another contributing factor explaining the IP (Bernard et al., 2002; Chae et al., 1995; Ross, Stewart, Mugge, & Fultz, 2001; Vergauwe et al., 2015). The researchers consistently focused on neuroticism and conscientiousness as the two primary FFM factors associated with those scoring high as impostors. McCrae and John (1992) defined neuroticism in relation to how an individual experiences feelings of distress and the thoughts and behaviors that follow. Positive correlations with neuroticism in each study supported the description of an impostor appearing confident to the outside world while struggling internally with feelings of self-doubt and inadequacy (Bernard et al., 2002; Chae et al., 1995; Ross et al., 2001;

Vergauwe et al., 2015). These strong correlations with neuroticism also reinforced the suggestion Clance and Imes (1978) made regarding the important influence of depression and anxiety in the lives of impostors (Ross et al., 2001).

McCrae and John (1992) described conscientiousness as a traditional representation of one's character and meaning "either governed by conscience or diligent and thorough" (p. 197). While not as strong as the positive correlation neuroticism demonstrated in relationship to impostorism, prior studies consistently reflected a negative correlation between conscientiousness and impostor scores (Bernard et al., 2002; Chae et al., 1995; Ross et al., 2001; Vergauwe et al., 2015). Bernard et al. (2002) observed that the negative correlation between conscientiousness and impostorism contradicted the common description that some impostors overprepare and work diligently to compensate for their feelings of incompetence. The researchers offered two explanations including that impostors have a greater level of confidence in their intelligence versus their effort and that impostors demonstrate low levels of effort as a way to sabotage their potential for success (Bernard et al., 2002). Since the original Clance and Imes (1978) study, impostorism and its associated characteristics have generated interest in understanding how they affect both individuals and groups of individuals who share common attributes.

## **Populations Studied**

A significant amount of interest in studying how the IP affects all individuals emerged from the original focus that Clance and Imes (1978) placed on high-achieving women. Both men and women experience the phenomenon; however, researchers noted it "occurs with much less frequency in men and that when it does occur, it is with much

less intensity" (Clance & Imes, 1978, p. 241). Later, Harvey and Katz (1985) suggested that 70% of successful individuals deal with some level of the IP. This claim inspired other researchers to consider the influence of the IP among specific segments of the population, including the role gender plays and the impact of the phenomenon within various career fields (Caselman et al., 2006; Castro et al., 2004; Clark, Vardeman, & Barba, 2014; Cokley et al., 2015; Cusack et al., 2013; Fried-Buchalter, 1997; J. E. King & Cooley, 1995; Topping & Kimmel, 1985).

**Gender.** Gender is typically considered a socially constructed idea that specifies the acceptable roles for men and women to play (September, McCarrey, Baranowsky, Parent, & Schindler, 2001). Clance and Imes (1978) noted that the gender stereotyping some individuals experience early in life can influence the fraudulent impostor feelings they develop and to what they attribute their success in life. In addition, other researchers considered the personality traits characteristically associated with genders and explored the role they play in individual behaviors. For example, Cozzarelli and Major (1990) reinforced the role of gender expectations, noting that men were expected to suppress any feelings of doubt regarding their ability to find success, while women were to "value nurturance over autonomy or achievement" (p. 403). Similarly, Clance et al. (1995) highlighted that socially desirable qualities like competence and objectivity were normally associated with males, while women were described using the qualities of warmth and attentiveness. Further, Fried-Buchalter (1997) noted the inconsistency of identifying ambition as a positive quality for men to overcome their fears of failure but as a negative quality for women. These examples supported the assertion Cokley et al. (2015) offered about the likelihood of individuals developing impostor feelings when the

individuals believe they will be judged based upon their gender versus their actual performance.

Several studies focused on student populations have supported the position that the IP is a gender-neutral experience and begins early in life (Caselman et al., 2006; Craddock et al., 2011; Cromwell, Brown, Sanchez-Huceles, & Adair, 1990; Leary et al., 2000). Cromwell et al. (1990) investigated high school honors students and found no gender differences among those reporting impostor feelings. The researchers noted a set of behavioral characteristics including feelings of anxiety shared between impostors, supporting the idea of the common experience impostors of all ages share (Cromwell et al., 1990). Later, Caselman et al. (2006) also found a lack of gender differences among high school students reporting impostor feelings, though they noted a difference in social support networking. In contrast to female students relying on a network of friends and adults for social support, males relied more on only their network of friends when dealing with impostor feelings (Caselman et al., 2006).

Studies of college students at both the undergraduate and graduate levels have yielded similar results related to gender differences. Leary et al. (2000) found no gender differences in reported feelings of fraudulence among undergraduate students. However, the researchers noted how self-presentation impostor strategies changed for the individuals based upon the public versus private nature of divulging their shortcomings (Leary et al., 2000). In their study of doctoral students, researchers concluded that the onset of impostor feelings was a natural experience for all graduate students facing the new and stressful experience of doctoral study (Craddock et al., 2011; Watson & Betts, 2010). The scholars noted that doctoral students face multiple challenges in learning to

balance their academic and personal responsibilities while preparing to pursue future professional goals (Craddock et al., 2011; Watson & Betts, 2010).

**Professionals.** The impact of the IP among working professionals is an evolving area of study. Though Clance and Imes (1978) included high-achieving professional women in their initial study, only a handful of scholars have expanded that research to explore a number of specific career fields (Clark et al., 2014; Fried-Buchalter, 1997; Mattie et al., 2008; Prata & Gietzen, 2007; Topping & Kimmel, 1985).

In their study of university faculty members, Topping and Kimmel (1985) expanded upon the premise of how differently men and women explained their success along with the corresponding impact on reported impostor feelings. Unlike female faculty members, who learned to embrace and overcome the challenges their gender posed, Topping and Kimmel argued that men reported greater levels of impostorism because they followed an easier path on their way to success. Extending beyond gender differences, Clark et al. (2014) supported the idea that the IP was related to individuals' stages in their career paths. The researchers found that newer librarians or those tasked with more technical responsibilities reported impostor tendencies more frequently than more experienced librarians. The researchers also suggested that mentoring would offer new librarians an opportunity to discuss their job performance with someone other than a supervisor as they matured into the position, thus supporting their ability to overcome their impostor feelings (Clark et al., 2014). Hutchins (2015) reinforced the idea of career stage implications, highlighting the pressure new and nontenured university faculty members face to publish research in order to advance in their careers. Hutchins further

noted, "The direct and indirect influence of mentors on curbing impostor thoughts emerged as an important factor at influencing academic identity" (p. 8).

Prata and Gietzen (2007) considered the impact of the IP among working health professionals, with a focus on physician assistants. The researchers suggested that two types of the IP may exist, with one being more temporary in nature and related to the length of time an individual has been on the job (Prata & Gietzen, 2007). A follow-up study supported the idea that health professionals experienced impostor feelings more frequently when they were new to a position but noticed a reduction in those feelings as they gained more self-confidence and a greater understanding of how to perform their job effectively (Mattie et al., 2008). Recent studies focusing on the impostor experience and how to identify and support individuals struggling with it in the workplace have offered additional insight beyond the clinical treatment approaches customarily discussed in the literature.

# **Impostors in the Workplace**

Recent scholars have started to consider the long-term impact on the professional lives of those dealing with the IP and the associated outcomes as they affect both the individuals and their organizations (Crawford et al., 2016; Hirschfeld, 1985; Neureiter et al., 2016; Parkman & Beard, 2008; Sanford et al., 2015; Seritan & Mehta, 2016; Vergauwe et al., 2015; Whitman & Shanine, 2012). Impostor behaviors including perfectionism and internal fears of failure and success have led to employee burnout and, ultimately, affected organizational effectiveness (Parkman & Beard, 2008). However, a number of different strategies have emerged as opportunities to mitigate the negative effects of the IP, which offer a promising level of support for those who struggle with it.

The impostor experience. Scholars considering employees who reported impostor feelings of fraudulence found that those employees displayed a number of different reactions to the idea of advancement and contradicted what outside observers typically expected. Those employees who feared success were likely to decline challenging work assignments or even promotions because of an associated underlying fear of peer rejection (Neureiter et al., 2016; Seritan & Mehta, 2016). Instead, these impostors chose to dismiss their opportunities for advancement and focused on their existing positions in an effort to reinforce the good work and contributions they were already making to their organizations (Neureiter et al., 2016). Parkman and Beard (2008) noted that some self-identified impostors working in higher education even opted to leave organizations when faced with pressure to advance in order to avoid being discovered or judged more frequently in leadership positions. These factors support the belief that impostors report a greater level of job dissatisfaction compared to their nonimpostor counterparts (Vergauwe et al., 2015).

Scholars identified an additional set of reactions for those impostors already in leadership positions that led to negative work environments for other employees. Seritan and Mehta (2016) noted that impostors' inclination to overprepare and their inability to make final decisions can result in poor management styles, promoting low employee morale within the organization. Further, the impostors' self-imposed sense of perfectionism can lead to "a very narrow definition of acceptable performance standards for peers and subordinates," further damaging the culture of the organization (Parkman & Beard, 2008, p. 31). An impostor struggling with internal feelings of fraudulence and a

lack of self-confidence to effectively lead an organization faces the personal risk of becoming a workaholic unless some form of support exists (Seritan & Mehta, 2016).

**Workplace support.** Researchers agree that an organizational culture can play a significant role in supporting workplace impostors. Hirschfeld (1985) noted the importance of organizational culture by stressing that a leader should encourage impostors to work to their greatest potential. However, equally important was recognizing when the leader's encouragement started to threaten the impostors or impose the same kind of pressure that intensified their impostor feelings. In addition to encouragement, scholars also pointed out the importance of offering praise to employees based upon their hard work while treating their mistakes as learning opportunities (Crawford et al., 2016; Seritan & Mehta, 2016). Additionally, the type of feedback and external support employees receive can help diminish the impostor feelings they experience on the job. Whitman and Shanine (2012) noted the importance of providing more frequent but less formal feedback to impostors to help reinforce their contributions to the organization. While feedback from an employer was considered ideal, scholars agreed that formal mentorship programs and networking opportunities also play a supportive role for impostors. In the case of both mentoring and networking opportunities, the impostors benefit by gaining greater confidence, setting goals, and having the chance to share their experiences with others regarding the IP's behavioral characteristics negatively affecting their perceived success in the workplace (Neureiter et al., 2016; Parkman & Beard, 2008; Sanford et al., 2015).

### **Behavioral Characteristics**

The review of behavioral characteristics associated with the IP reveals their overlapping nature as they affect individuals. Vergauwe et al. (2015) described the IP as a "complex co-occurrence of these different but interrelated personality manifestations that form the breeding ground of impostor tendencies" (p. 577). Further, a review of definitions offers clarity about several commonly used terms as they relate to individual behaviors.

### Anxiety

Anxiety was included as one of the primary clinical symptoms Clance and Imes (1978) identified in their original IP research. A review of the definitions of anxiety and anxiety disorders reinforced the importance of understanding the difference between the two and how each affects the daily life of an individual.

For example, the American Psychiatric Association (2015) described anxiety as a common reaction to stress. However, if the feelings of anxiety persist for more than 6 months, are considered out of proportion to a situation or age inappropriate, or negatively affect an individual's ability to function normally, they develop into a serious anxiety disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2015). For example, someone experiencing generalized anxiety disorder can encounter adverse physical and cognitive symptoms related to critical parts of his or her life, including family and job responsibilities.

Similarly, social anxiety disorder emerges when individuals worry excessively about "social or performance situations in which they expect to feel embarrassed, judged, rejected, or fearful of offending others" (National Institute of Mental Health, 2016, para.

6). Scholars building upon the original IP research continued to identify anxiety and its

associated psychological distress as an important behavioral characteristic impostors possess (Ross & Krukowski, 2003; Whitman & Shanine, 2012).

The importance impostors place on worrying about how others perceive them and their related feelings of inadequacy are common themes related to social anxiety within IP literature. Impostors' social anxiety compels them to constantly monitor their own behavior and question the perception others have of them in an effort to reduce any possibility of public exposure (Whitman & Shanine, 2012). Chrisman et al. (1995) also noted that a strong relationship existed between impostors' anxiety levels and their desire for positive recognition.

The self-imposed pressure impostors experience reinforces their internal feelings of anxiety. Researchers have noted that unrealistic internal expectations of intelligence, the need for external validation, and an extreme sensitivity to criticism actually prevent impostors from acknowledging any true sense of their own success (Castro et al., 2004; Chae et al., 1995; Cromwell et al., 1990; Hutchins, 2015). Further, Rohrmann et al. (2016) argued that the cognitive nature of impostor anxiety prevented impostors from controlling their own fears and apprehensions when considering the other behavioral characteristics impostors routinely exhibit.

#### **Lack of Self-Confidence**

The lack of self-confidence among their study participants was a second characteristic that Clance and Imes (1978) highlighted in their original research.

Subsequent scholars continued exploring self-confidence in relation to impostors' willingness to take certain actions in both their personal and professional lives (Bechtoldt, 2015; Cokley et al., 2015; Mattie et al., 2008; Neureiter et al., 2016). Other

scholars have considered self-esteem and self-efficacy as different considerations for explaining impostor behavior (Fujie, 2010; Jostl, Bergsmann, Luftenegger, Schober, & Spiel, 2012; Langford & Clance, 1993; Peteet et al., 2015; Thompson, 2004). While seemingly interchangeable terms, Langford and Clance (1993) noted that impostors can possess a healthy level of self-esteem while struggling with low levels of self-confidence, believing that they are incapable of finding or replicating success. Similarly, Jostl et al. (2012) described self-efficacy as a set of actions individuals feel capable of accomplishing in a particular area of their lives versus the more general lack of overall self-confidence associated with impostors.

The tendency for impostors to embrace their own success and to dismiss their actual level of competency was a common theme in the literature about self-confidence. Gibson-Beverly and Schwartz (2008) noted that impostors' ability to internalize their own success coupled with their inability to internalize positive feedback negatively affected their sense of self-confidence. Further, despite performing at superior levels, high achievers routinely underestimated their capabilities while remaining highly self-critical (September et al., 2001; Want & Kleitman, 2006). In their study of Canadian university students, September et al. (2001) noted that their participants maintained a negative outlook toward problem solving, preferring to view challenges as an opportunity for failure versus an opportunity to demonstrate their competence. Finally, Neureiter et al. (2016) suggested that impostors' lack of self-confidence could have long-term career implications, including their unwillingness to seek leadership positions for which they believed they were unqualified.

# **Depression**

The American Psychiatric Association (2015) indicated that normal sadness and depression appear to be similar experiences but noted that these feelings must last for more than 2 weeks for an individual to be diagnosed as clinically depressed. Clance and Imes (1978) included depression as one of the primary clinical IP symptoms in their original study, emphasizing it as one of several possible issues their study participants encountered. Subsequent scholars have explored the feelings of worthlessness and self-loathing associated with clinical depression, reinforcing the idea of its inclusion as one of several key behavioral characteristics impostors exhibit (Bernard et al., 2002; Chrisman et al., 1995; Clance et al., 1995; Mattie et al., 2008; Oriel, Plane, & Mundt, 2004; Rohrmann et al., 2016; Ross & Krukowski, 2003).

Clance et al. (1995) highlighted that depressive symptoms impostors reported were related to the persistent feelings of unworthiness and incompetence they faced because of their inability to reach self-imposed expectations. At the same time, a study validating the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS) found a strong correlation between the CIPS and measures of depression, supporting the belief that impostorism is related to the "dependent and self-critical aspects" of the experience that depressed individuals encounter (Chrisman et al., 1995, p. 462). More recent impostor research has considered the FFM of personality traits and impostorism. Bernard et al. (2002) argued for including impostorism as part of the neuroticism trait given the repeated correlations linking it with depression. Similarly, Ross and Krukowski (2003) identified neuroticism and, specifically, depression as a strong predictor of impostor scores among their sample of college students, further supporting the interrelated nature of the two.

## **Perfectionism**

Equally prevalent in the literature about impostor behavioral characteristics is discussion about perfectionism. Early definitions of perfectionism tended to include only a focus on an individual's likelihood of setting unrealistic standards of performance associated with excessive self-criticism for not achieving those standards (Frost, Marten, Lahart, & Rosenblate, 1990). As Frost et al. (1990) noted, this limited perspective failed to account for those highly competent individuals who successfully achieved ambitious goals while remaining less self-critical than those associated with negative perfectionist tendencies. Subsequent scholars have explored the role of negative perfectionism in conjunction with the IP, noting the excessive concern impostors have about making mistakes, concern about the way they are perceived by others, and the effect it can have on those around them (Bieling, Israeli, & Antony, 2004; Dudău, 2014; Henning et al., 1998; Parkman & Beard, 2008; Sakulku & Alexander, 2011; Stoeber & Otto, 2006; Thompson et al., 2000).

Frost et al. (1990) conducted four seminal studies highlighting the greater level of importance that negative perfectionists place on making mistakes versus the importance placed on the failure to reach unrealistic goals. In their study of undergraduate students, Bieling et al. (2004) reported the negative cognitive effects associated with the amount of time negative perfectionists worry about their potential lack of success. These negative effects also play a role in an impostor's daily life. As an example, Thompson et al. (2000) highlighted the tendency for impostors to avoid situations they were convinced would lead them to make mistakes. Sakulku and Alexander (2011) reinforced that same

idea, noting the impostors' focus on hiding their perceived limitations from the view of others.

Henning et al. (1998) noted that medical students who scored high as impostors and perfectionists experienced psychological distress due to their assumptions of others' opinions of them. This illustrates the importance impostors place on the opinions of others. Hewitt et al. (2003) reinforced this idea, offering that "certain perfectionists are committed to displaying an ideal public self that conveys an image of being flawless" (p. 1303). As Sakulku and Alexander (2011) pointed out, this commitment to presenting an outward appearance of perfection places impostors in a contradictory position because they routinely divulge their inner feelings of self-doubt and imperfection as part of their impostor tendencies.

Scholars have also noted how perfectionist behavior affects both impostors and those around them. In their article discussing impostor behaviors within organizations, Parkman and Beard (2008) noted the opportunity for impostors to transfer their expectations for perfection along to those with whom they work. This transfer of expectations can create negative interpersonal situations between the impostors and their colleagues (Egan et al., 2015). Further, an organization or individual is susceptible to a sense of paralysis if the perfectionist is unwilling or unable to make decisions because of his or her internal fears about potential mistakes (Seritan & Mehta, 2016). This paralysis and need for perfection can lead to procrastination as another common behavior impostors exhibit (Egan et al., 2015).

## **Procrastination**

Procrastination and perfectionism are routinely linked together throughout IP research because they both support an impostor's desire to avoid failure (Frost et al., 1990; Kets de Vries, 2005; Rohrmann et al., 2016; Seritan & Mehta, 2016; Thompson, 2004). Like perfectionism, procrastination can have both positive and negative attributions. In its negative form, procrastination represents the start of a negative cycle because "voluntarily delaying an intended course of action despite the expectation of being worse off for the delay is inherently risky or negative behavior" (Steel, 2007, p. 81). Further, impostors' feelings of inadequacy lead them to seek failure-avoidant strategies including procrastination in an effort to minimize or even remove the possibility of failure and, therefore, any further damage to feelings of self-worth (Thompson, 2004). This concern about personal competence results in work-related strain, reduced levels of achievement, and impostors' unwillingness to try and master new challenges (Clark et al., 2014; Rohrmann et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2001). If impostors procrastinate on beginning a new task but ultimately succeed in the effort, they attribute their success to luck rather than their own talents, further reinforcing their own self-destructive behavioral cycle (Clance et al., 1995; Thompson et al., 1998).

Other scholars have related procrastination to self-handicapping or self-sabotaging behavioral patterns (Ross et al., 2001; Thompson, 2004; Want & Kleitman, 2006). E. E. Jones and Berglas (1978) defined self-handicapping as the act of individuals "finding or creating impediments that make good performance less likely" and, therefore, a way for them to protect their internal sense of competence (p. 201). Thompson (2004) considered procrastination a form of self-handicapping and self-sabotage used by

impostors to cope with their fear of evaluation or to overcome their self-imposed belief that they could be regarded as anything other than fully competent. Further, Ross et al. (2001) noted that self-handicapping actions like procrastination may represent an individual's "reaction to persistent feelings of vulnerability and inadequacy" (p. 1354).

#### **Self-Presentation**

Recent scholars have considered other behaviors that impostors exhibit, including the role self-presentation plays in conjunction with self-handicapping and impostors' need to be perfect. These studies raised questions about whether impostorism is a manipulative act by individuals to reduce expectations others have or as a way to elicit support from them in advance of new challenges and the possibility that they may fail (Ferrari & Thompson, 2006; Leary et al., 2000; McElwee & Yurak, 2007, 2010).

Leary et al. (2000) conducted three separate studies and challenged key IP principles. For example, the researchers noted that impostors' willingness to disclose their feelings of fraudulence was contradictory to the belief that impostors fear exposure. Further, Leary et al. reported that impostors' self-deprecating behavior developed more often in response to their belief that others held low expectations of them versus the more widely accepted belief that others have high expectations of impostors. Finally, the scholars argued that impostors were influenced by the social circumstances they faced, stating, "People may respond in the nonenhancing manner characteristic of impostors because they believe such tactics will have interpersonal benefits" (Leary et al., 2000, p. 751).

McElwee and Yurak (2007) suggested that impostorism itself was a selfdiminishing, or negative, self-presentational strategy used when individuals faced situations where they felt inadequate. In their comparison of two different impostor scales, the researchers noted that they both measured negative self-presentation styles but suggested that the CIPS (Clance, 1985) measured a controlled self-presentation style, indicating individuals' inclination to manipulate how others viewed them. While their study could not support conclusive evidence that impostors attempt to manipulate others, it did reinforce what role social context plays, as Leary et al. (2000) suggested. A second study reflected the common nature of the impostor experience but noted that those scoring high on impostor scales face greater levels of "fear/distress and guilt/shame in response to an actual IP episode than do people who score lower" (McElwee & Yurak, 2010, p. 193). The scholars argued that those scoring high on impostor scales may do so in their attempt to reduce the expectations others have of them if the impostors believe that others are overestimating their abilities (McElwee & Yurak, 2010).

Kets de Vries (2005) noted that all individuals have a private and a public side that emerge at different points based upon the circumstances they face. However, Ferrari and Thompson (2006) noted that impostors who routinely use negative self-presentational behaviors "contribute to anxiety and emotional exhaustion as they re-invent alibis of incapacity and fraudulence in successive achievement contexts" (p. 350).

#### **Emotional Exhaustion**

IP research has largely focused on the origins and symptoms of impostorism within student populations since the original Clance and Imes (1978) study. Recent scholars exploring the IP in the workplace have considered what challenges impostors encountered as a result of the phenomenon, including emotional exhaustion (Crawford et al., 2016; Hutchins, 2015; Whitman & Shanine, 2012). Along with cynicism and

inefficacy, Maslach and Jackson (1981) defined emotional exhaustion as one of three key elements associated with job burnout. Later, Maslach, Schaufeli, and Leiter (2001) added that emotional exhaustion represents the stress associated with burnout and the "feelings of being overextended and depleted of one's emotional and physical resources" (p. 399).

The role emotional resources play with the IP builds upon the conservation of resources theory (Hobfoll, 1989). The theory applies to stress and whether individuals react positively or negatively to the potential or actual loss of one of four types of resources tied to stress-inducing situations (Hobfoll, 1989). The four resources include object resources, conditions, personal characteristics, and energies. Crawford et al. (2016) noted that impostors concerned about being discovered as frauds face a loss of personal emotional resources. This constant level of stress leads to emotional exhaustion, carrying both personal and professional consequences including job burnout and workfamily conflicts. For example, Hutchins (2015) found university faculty, especially nontenured faculty seeking tenure, at a greater risk of experiencing emotional exhaustion because of the pressure they faced to perform at the highest level. Additionally, Whitman and Shanine (2012) suggested that impostors unable to organize other resources to counterbalance the loss of emotional resources were likely to experience a cycle of repeated losses, leading to even greater levels of emotional exhaustion. As with other impostor characteristics, the choice of coping methods impostors select can have broad implications for either breaking the cycle of losses or reinforcing their feelings of inadequacy (Whitman & Shanine, 2012).

#### Fear of Failure

Fear of failure is another behavioral characteristic often linked with perfectionism and the IP. Conroy (2001) expanded upon early definitions of fear of failure, suggesting that individuals were motivated to avoid five specific consequences associated with failing. The five consequences included "(a) experiencing shame and embarrassment, (b) devaluing of one's self-estimate, (c) losing social influence, (d) having an uncertain future, and (e) upsetting important others" (Conroy, 2001, p. 431). Conroy, Kaye, and Fifer (2007) later added that individuals were likely to feel a heightened sense of anxiety when assessing the possible threat of failure associated with specific situations.

IP scholars have associated fear of failure with a general lack of self-confidence and lower sense of self-esteem (Cozzarelli & Major, 1990; Fried-Buchalter, 1992; Neureiter et al., 2016). In their study of undergraduate students, Cozzarelli and Major (1990) reinforced the idea that impostors struggle to internalize success but noted the greater impact of potential failure on their sense of self-worth. Thompson et al. (1998) also considered impostor reactions to failure versus success. The researchers noted that impostors expressed greater levels of humiliation attributed to failure versus the negative reactions conveyed about finding success. Additionally, Neureiter et al. (2016) noted that students who scored high as impostors and attributed their success to external rather than internal factors developed an emerging sense of fear about future failure and a reduced sense of self-esteem.

Scholars have also pointed out that impostors are more likely than nonimpostors to internalize and overgeneralize their fears of perceived or actual failure (Kumar & Jagacinski, 2006; Thompson et al., 1998). Yuen and Depper (1987) defined failure as the

difference between individuals' personal expectations or set of standards and their own perception of accomplishment. The combination of high standards that impostors establish for themselves and a tendency to be highly self-critical reinforces impostors' fear of failure and the likelihood that they will avoid situations where potential failure, or success, is possible (Seritan & Mehta, 2016).

### Fear of Success

The fear of success was noted in scholarly literature as far back as the mid-1930s, when Horney (1936) associated it with individuals' underlying need to compete with others. Horney indicated that highly neurotic individuals constantly compared themselves to others, believed they had to be the best in everything they attempted, and convinced themselves that nobody else could be more successful. Much like IP study, the fear of success was initially associated with women and the evolving study of gender differences (Horner, 1972). Subsequent researchers noted that individuals scoring high as impostors, regardless of gender, reacted in similar ways to competitive environments while considering motivation and achievement as additional factors contributing to their fear of success (Fried-Buchalter, 1992, 1997; Ivers & Downes, 2012; Neureiter et al., 2016; Piedmont, 1995; Rothman, 1996; Seritan & Mehta, 2016).

The perceived outcome of finding success consistently appeared as a common concern among both students and working professionals in multiple studies. For instance, feelings of loneliness, sadness, and alienation from entire social networks forced individuals to consider whether achieving success was worthwhile (Fried-Buchalter, 1997; Ivers & Downes, 2012). In addition, the potential loss of friendships, a need to remain the best, and the stress related to additional responsibility represented the negative

costs of success (Fried-Buchalter, 1992). Further, Piedmont (1995) suggested that those lacking the necessary coping skills to deal with the stress of competition found themselves paralyzed and unable to compete successfully, reinforcing the dilemma individuals faced about their motivation to succeed.

# **The Coping Construct**

Literature about the coping construct is broad and reflects an evolving area of research from both a behavioral and cognitive perspective. Coping research builds upon the work of Lazarus and Folkman (1984), who linked coping with the assessment one makes of stressful life circumstances and the negative effect they may have on an individual's ability to reach his or her goals (Folkman, Lazarus, Gruen, & DeLongis, 1986; Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004). Subsequent researchers went on to use multiple terms to define coping strategies but have been unable to reach consensus about how best to organize the many coping approaches individuals use (Compas et al., 2014; Mark & Smith, 2012; Skinner, Edge, Altman, & Sherwood, 2003; Szymanski & Henrichs-Beck, 2014). Other scholars have explored coping by exploring emotion regulation and emotion flexibility in their attempt to explain the complex construct (Bonanno & Burton, 2013; Compas et al., 2014; Gross, 1998; Hill & Gunderson, 2015; Kato, 2012; Lazarus, 2006; McDavitt et al., 2008).

# Coping

Initially, two primary categories emerged to define coping strategies as a way to "manage (reduce, minimize, master, or tolerate) the internal and external demands of the person-environment transaction that is appraised as taxing or exceeding the person's resources" (Folkman et al., 1986, p. 572). Problem-focused or active coping served to

assist an individual with addressing an identified stressor and was often considered an adaptive or positive approach (Bonanno & Burton, 2013; Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010). Hutchins (2015) noted that university faculty struggling with the IP used problemfocused coping skills such as humor or seeking the support of others to address their impostor concerns. Conversely, emotion-focused or avoidant coping was considered a maladaptive or negative approach to deal with a stressful situation and was attributed to increasing levels of psychological distress or destructive behavior (Compas et al., 2014; Szymanski & Henrichs-Beck, 2014; Tucker-Seeley, Blow, Matsuo, & Taylor-Moore, 2010). In a study of sexual minorities, Hill and Gunderson (2015) highlighted substance abuse and denial as forms of emotion-focused coping that sought to "reduce or eliminate the experience of negative emotions with maladaptive activities" (p. 234). Continuous research building upon these two forms of coping and attempting to provide a clear explanation of the coping construct has produced more than 100 different coping measures and the identification of over 400 types of coping strategies (Austenfeld & Stanton, 2004; Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007; Skinner et al., 2003).

### **Emotion Regulation and Flexibility**

Psychologists and emotion regulation scholars drew a distinction with coping based upon the type of emotion each attempted to regulate (Bonanno & Burton, 2013; Compas et al., 2014; Gross, 1998; Hill & Gunderson, 2015; Lazarus, 2006; McDavitt et al., 2008). In addition to the negative emotions coping primarily sought to address, scholars also explored the motives individuals had to regulate and sustain positive emotions in their lives (Quoidbach, Mikolajczak, & Gross, 2015; Tamir, 2016). Emotion regulation was defined as "the processes by which individuals influence which emotions

they have, when they have them, and how they experience and express these emotions" (Gross, 1998, p. 275). Further, Compas et al. (2014) noted that emotion regulation skills one learns as a child establish the foundation individuals use to develop effective coping skills later in life. Scholars defined five forms of emotion regulation, pointing out that the timing and context of various situations impact the strategies individuals use to regulate their emotions (Gross, 1998; Quoidbach et al., 2015). These points included the selection of the situation, the potential of modifying it, the ability to focus on certain elements of the situation, the opportunity to revise an initial appraisal of it, and finally, the physical or behavioral influence in relation to the situation (Gross, 1998; Quoidbach et al., 2015).

A third and emerging theory in the literature considered flexible coping strategies in relation to stressful situations (Bonanno & Burton, 2013; Cheng, 2001; Kato, 2012; Tamir, 2016). Bonanno and Burton (2013) noted that flexible coping accounts for individual differences and expands identification of coping strategies beyond adaptive or maladaptive classifications. Further, Kato (2012) explained that flexible coping incorporates the need for individuals to evaluate their coping strategies and adapt them by considering and implementing alternative strategies until they reach a positive outcome. Regardless of the strategies used, Hill and Gunderson (2015) noted that ineffective coping skills expose individuals to a greater level of sensitivity to stressful experiences "and possibly [make them] more vulnerable to their effects" (p. 234).

## **Sexual Identity and the Coming-Out Process**

The decision to reveal a concealed identity offers both positive and negative consequences that individuals consider carefully (Dunlap, 2016; Forenza, 2016; Legate et

al., 2012; Manning, 2015; Solomon et al., 2015). An illustration of this type of decision is the coming-out process that members of the LGBT community face. Scholars exploring sexual identity development noted that coming out reflects the complexity of identity development and encouraged further investigation as societal acceptance of sexual minorities evolves (Manning, 2015; Morgan, 2013; Vaughan & Waehler, 2010). Further, gender and professional implications were other key factors central to ongoing research (Benozzo et al., 2015; del Pino et al., 2016; Dunlap, 2016; Legate et al., 2012; Manning, 2015; Martos et al., 2015; McDermott & Schwartz, 2013; Priola et al., 2014; Weber-Gilmore, Rose, & Rubinstein, 2011; Willis, 2012).

# Models of Sexual Identity Development and Coming Out

Historically, sexual identity development has been described using either linear stages or developmental milestones that define specific markers individuals reach on their way to fully realizing their sexual identity (Cass, 1979, 1983; Troiden, 1979). As Manning (2015) noted, these models focused on individuals' developing a sexual minority identity that followed a prescribed pattern, largely ignoring other factors such as race or historical context. More recently, scholars have expanded early sexual identity classifications, limited to heterosexual, gay/lesbian, or bisexual, to include additional classifications that reflect an increasingly diverse and accepting society (Morgan, 2013; Vrangalova & Savin-Williams, 2012).

Likewise, scholars have continued to explore coming out beyond the early focus on procedural steps one takes when coming out by investigating the internal decision-making aspect of the process and benefits or costs associated with it. For example, Legate et al. (2012) suggested that the decision to come out is influenced by the

environment an individual faces, pointing out that some situations encourage one to suppress disclosure. Other scholars have considered how the role of internalized homophobia or the perceived negative stigma associated with coming out affects individuals' decision to divulge their identity (Benozzo et al., 2015; Birkett et al., 2015; del Pino et al., 2016; Weber-Gilmore et al., 2011). This is in contrast to the scholars who noted that coming out offers the ability to increase visibility and give LGBT individuals a voice in predominantly heterosexual cultures (Bell, Özbilgin, Beauregard, & Sürgevil, 2011; Creed & Scully, 2011). Furthermore, scholars explained the potential for LGBT individuals to experience positive outcomes and growth resulting from their decision to reveal their true identity to others (Birkett et al., 2015; Cox et al., 2011; Hill & Gunderson, 2015; Solomon et al., 2015; Vaughan & Waehler, 2010).

#### **Gender Differences**

Research considering sexual identity formation has examined gender differences alongside age cohort differences to explore recent shifts in societal acceptance of sexual minorities. Consistently, differences between genders regarding identity development processes have appeared to be disappearing (Calzo et al., 2011; Dunlap, 2016; Grov et al., 2006; Martos et al., 2015). Further, irrespective of gender, trends indicated that individuals experienced key identity development milestones earlier in life. However, other studies suggested that men encounter more challenges related to gender and social stereotypes. Using gender role journey theory as their model, McDermott and Schwartz (2013) noted, "Some men struggle with their gender self-concept because they have overidentified with beliefs and behaviors that perpetuate negative stereotypes of men and women" (p. 202). Gender role journey theory provides a "theoretical framework for how

men navigate from positions of acceptance of traditional gender roles to feminist activism and gender role transcendence" (McDermott & Schwartz, 2013, p. 202). Priola et al. (2014) reinforced the role that environments play and their effect on gender expectations. The scholars suggested that individuals' willingness to disclose their sexual identity was compromised when they associated expected behaviors with gender stereotypes.

# **Professional Implications**

Research concerning the coming-out process has also emphasized the concept of heteronormativity and the contextual environment that LGBT individuals face as key factors impacting individuals' decision to come out in the workplace (Bell et al., 2011; Benozzo et al., 2015; Buddel, 2011; Priola et al., 2014). Benozzo et al. (2015) noted that unlike their heterosexual counterparts, LGBT individuals still contend with the possible implications that coming out generates despite an increasing number of legal protections and greater levels of societal acceptance. Further, the level of perceived or actual support of one's work environment has routinely predicted an individual's sense of well-being, though it has failed to remove the need to repeat the coming-out process any time a change occurs within the organization (Benozzo et al., 2015; Colgan & Wright, 2011; Creed & Scully, 2011; Legate et al., 2012).

Regardless of the advances made with levels of acceptance, scholars have also demonstrated that individuals still question the social cost of coming out, including possible rejection, loss of status, and mild forms of discrimination (Croteau et al., 2008; Priola et al., 2014). Further, researchers have noted that LGBT individuals have the opportunity to manage their decision to disclose given the invisible nature of their sexual identity (Benozzo et al., 2015; Buddel, 2011; Croteau et al., 2008; E. B. King et al.,

2008). While managing the disclosure process offers advantages, it also creates feelings of dishonesty or failure among individuals unwilling or unable to come out within an organization (Benozzo et al., 2015). As Creed and Scully (2011) noted, "Employees who can enact their authentic selves are likely to spend less time and energy managing their invisibility and guarding against stigmatization and thus might contribute more fully to the workplace" (p. 409).

# Leadership

Literature highlighting the evolution of leadership theory defining what constitutes an effective leader is broad. However, recent scholars pointed out that existing theories describe the ideal leader and his or her individual qualities without considering unique circumstances that aspiring and current leaders from underrepresented minority populations experience (Chin, Desormeaux, & Sawyer, 2016; Courtney, 2014; Eagly & Chin, 2010; Fassinger, Shullman, & Stevenson, 2010). While gender and racial differences are gaining attention in leadership research, the challenges LGBT individuals continue to face, despite an increasingly accepting society, remain largely absent in the literature (Chin et al., 2016; deLeon & Brunner, 2013; Leipold, 2014; Muhr & Sullivan, 2013).

# **Continued Challenges**

Scholars have noted that LGBT leaders continue to live in a heteronormative society that identifies and expects individuals to adhere to traditional gender roles assigned to men and women (deLeon & Brunner, 2013; Fassinger et al., 2010). Fassinger et al. (2010) highlighted that acting in gender nonconforming ways leads to a greater risk of negative reactions from followers and a loss of credibility for LGBT leaders. For

example, a study of 17 educational leaders noted the importance placed on public perception and their awareness of the need to avoid acting in ways generally associated with nonheterosexual individuals (deLeon & Brunner, 2013). Additionally, the invisible nature of their sexual identity forces LGBT leaders to contend with the decision to retain their heterosexual privilege by remaining silent or to face the risks associated with disclosure of their true identities (Chin et al., 2016). For instance, members of the LGBT community still face a unique set of internal questions during a job search, including whether they are prepared to expose themselves to scrutiny and how best to address different constituents with whom they will interact (Leipold, 2014).

## **Future Opportunities**

Despite the challenges that sexual minorities continue to face, existing and emerging research suggests that there is an opportunity for increased awareness of diversity issues in the future. Chin et al. (2016) highlighted four competencies that a group of diverse leaders suggested will be "crucial to leadership in the coming years as organizations become increasingly diverse: leveraging personal and social identities, utilizing a global and diverse mindset, leveraging community and organizational contexts, and promoting a diversity-supportive and inclusive climate" (p. 49). Further, scholars have noted the importance of intersectionality, or the multiple identities, individuals bring to leadership positions and how that benefits both the leaders and their followers (Chin et al., 2016; Fassinger et al., 2010; Sawyer, Salter, & Thoroughgood, 2013). Others have suggested that their ability to cope with stressful situations, need to meet higher standards of performance, and desire to be the role models they never had

position LGBT individuals to be effective leaders in an evolving society (Chin et al., 2016; Courtney, 2014; Eagly & Chin, 2010; Leipold, 2014).

# **Summary**

The preceding literature review explored the IP's original focus on women and provided insight about the internal and silent struggle many individuals face each day (Clance & Imes, 1978; Hutchins, 2015; Rohrmann et al., 2016; Vergauwe et al., 2015). Further, as a relatively new construct, limited research about coping with impostor behavioral characteristics highlighted the need to expand upon existing literature focused primarily on the phenomenon's origins (Craddock et al., 2011; Crawford et al., 2016; Whitman & Shanine, 2012). While prior IP studies considered various populations based upon gender, different professions, and student status, sexual minority populations represent a gap in current research.

Similar to impostors, the internal experiences that sexual minorities have remain invisible to the outside world (Dunlap, 2016; Martos et al., 2015; Perales, 2016; Solomon et al., 2015). The literature highlighted the challenges that gay men face each day, including deciding whether to disclose their true identity in a society that continues to evolve in its acceptance of nonheterosexual identities (Benozzo et al., 2015; Birkett et al., 2015; Hill & Gunderson, 2015). Coming out occurs repeatedly, requiring individuals to cope with questioning how they are perceived by others, anxiety about the implications of revealing their true identity, and the emotional toll of living with a fear of exposure if they choose not to disclose (Leipold, 2014; Priola et al., 2014).

Researchers have noted that an increasingly diverse society and the changing nature of 21st-century organizations call for further exploration of how best to support

employees and their leaders (Chin et al., 2016; Collins, 2012; Fassinger et al., 2010; Parkman & Beard, 2008). The internal challenges that impostors and sexual minorities experience impact the ability for others to identify potential barriers that these individuals encounter and have to overcome in order to help them reach their full potential (Kets de Vries, 2005; McDermott & Schwartz, 2013; Neureiter et al., 2016). Research is needed to explore the diversity of paths that others have followed to overcome their own barriers in order to inform the next generation of leaders.

# **Synthesis Matrix**

A synthesis matrix demonstrating the compiled literature and guiding points of this literature review is included in Appendix A.

#### CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

#### Overview

This chapter describes the research methodology used to complete this study. A review of the study's purpose statement and research question precedes a detailed description of the mixed-methods research design used to collect the data presented in a later chapter. The study's target population and the logic supporting the purposeful sampling method used are described in full detail. The chapter also discusses the data collection instruments used in the study along with descriptions of their associated reliability and validity. A thorough description of the data collection and data analysis processes prefaces the limitations of the study. The chapter concludes with a summary of the information presented in this chapter.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this descriptive, mixed-methods case study was to explore and describe the coping skills used to overcome nine behavioral characteristics by gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the impostor phenomenon (IP) by the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS; Clance, 1985).

# **Research Question**

The study attempted to answer the following question:

What coping skills do gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the IP, using the CIPS (Clance, 1985), use to overcome nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP?

- 1. Anxiety
- 2. Lack of self-confidence
- 3. Depression
- 4. Perfectionism
- 5. Procrastination
- 6. Self-presentation
- 7. Emotional exhaustion
- 8. Fear of failure
- 9. Fear of success

### Research Design

This study used a descriptive, mixed-methods case study design to capture both quantitative and qualitative data. Creswell (2003) advocated collecting both types of data provides "the best understanding of a research problem" (p. 14). More specifically, Creswell and Plano Clark (2011) explained that mixed methods is a hybrid research design allowing "researchers to embed both quantitative and qualitative data within traditional designs or procedures" (p. 95). In addition, Creswell and Plano Clark (2006) noted that mixed-methods studies require the researcher to make three critical decisions when selecting which mixed-methods design to use. The decisions include the order in which the data will be used, the amount of emphasis placed on each type of data collected, and how the two sets of data will be mixed or related to one another. A mixed-methods design was best suited for this study because the quantitative data collected as the first step in the research supported the collection of rich, descriptive data through the qualitative inquiry process that followed. The quantitative data collection process served

the purpose of assisting the researcher with locating individuals who satisfied specific criteria supporting the study's research question. Further, the choice to prioritize the qualitative strand of this mixed-methods study was in line with other qualitative researchers' seeking to answer the questions "What?" "Why?" and "How?" when they explore the meanings, experiences, and cultures of the subjects they study (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011; Yin, 2014). The design of this study offered the opportunity to explore, through a number of sources, the individual experiences of a group of gay male leaders who cope with the IP.

Merriam (1988) defined case study research as "the complete, literal description of the incident or entity being investigated" (p. 43). The bounded incident or entity represents a single unit of analysis versus the topic of the investigation. In addition, Merriam noted, "Case studies share with other forms of qualitative research the search for meaning and understanding, the researcher as the primary instrument of data collection and analysis, an inductive investigative strategy, and the end product being richly descriptive" (p. 39). Patton (2015) added that descriptive research is an opportunity to take "the reader into the setting being described" (p. 533) and highlighted that case study can be considered either the process a researcher follows to collect data or the final product of the analysis the researcher conducts. Finally, Yin (2003) defined descriptive case studies as those describing the real-life context associated with an intervention or phenomenon.

### **Population**

A population, for the purposes of scholarly research, was defined by McMillan and Schumacher (2010) as "a group of elements or cases, whether individuals, objects, or

events, that conform to specific criteria and to which we intend to generalize the results of the research" (p. 129). According to Gates (2014), there are between 5.2 and 9 million lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) individuals living in the United States. In addition, the National Center for Charitable Statistics (2016) reported that there are nearly 1.6 million nonprofit agencies registered in the United States. Further, Salamon, Sokolowski, and Geller (2012) reported that nonprofit employment represented 10.1% of total employment in the United States, with total employees numbering 10.7 million. Using a 2016 U.S. Census Bureau estimated adult population of 245,576,910, the researcher projected that nearly 396,000 LGBT individuals worked in civic or nonprofit agencies at the time of the study, with many employed in some leadership capacity. Therefore, the population for this study was gay men identified as leaders in civic or nonprofit agencies in the United States.

A target population was defined by Creswell and Plano Clark (2011) as "a group of individuals (or a group of organizations) with some common defining characteristic that the researcher can identify and study" (p. 142). This study's target population included gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles as identified by their agency's organizational chart. Further, these leaders held job titles including director, chief academic officer, executive director, and principal, denoting some level of decision-making authority within their organizations. Finally, McMillan and Schumacher (2010) defined a survey population as "the list of elements from which the sample is actually selected" (p. 129). This study's survey population was gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who completed the CIPS (Clance, 1985) and whose sexual

orientation was public knowledge and/or self-disclosed to the researcher or the person who referred them to the researcher.

# Sample

McMillan and Schumacher (2010) defined sampling as identifying "the group of subjects or participants from whom the data are collected" (p. 129). In order to find the type of participant needed for this descriptive, mixed-methods case study, the researcher used a nonprobability, purposeful snowball sampling technique that produced the identification of "information-rich cases whose study will illuminate the questions under study" (Patton, 2015, p. 230). McMillan and Schumacher (2010) defined nonprobability sampling as selecting "subjects who happen to be accessible or who may represent certain types of characteristics" (p. 136). Further, the use of purposeful snowball sampling permitted the researcher to identify a specific set of participants so that "individuals are selected because they have experienced the central phenomenon" (Creswell, 2003, p. 25).

The snowball strategy used to obtain this sample allowed the researcher to identify a sufficient number of study participants by asking other individuals, well-connected informants, and the participants to suggest names of other potential study participants. The choice to use purposeful snowball sampling was to help the researcher collect a minimum sample size of 14 research subjects who satisfied the specific participant criteria. As Patton (2015) noted, "Exercising care not to overgeneralize from purposeful samples, while maximizing to the full the advantage of in-depth, purposeful sampling will do much to alleviate concerns about small sample sizes" (p. 314).

Selection of the sample participants started with the researcher identifying and contacting potential participants known to him personally or through his own personal and professional network of contacts. The potential participants in the first set of contacts were identified using the following criteria:

- self-identified as a gay man, and
- considered a leader in a nonprofit organization or civic agency as represented on an organizational chart.

The researcher asked each potential study participant to consider his own personal and professional network of contacts who satisfied the initial set of participant criteria and to provide him with their contact information. As potential participants emerged, each participant received a link to complete an electronic consent form and the CIPS (Clance, 1985) via Survey Monkey, an electronic survey collection instrument (http://www.surveymonkey.com). A total of 14 individuals satisfied all of the study's participant criteria, including being a gay man in a leadership role who scored higher than 45 on the CIPS, and were invited to participate in the next phase of the research. Each individual agreed to contribute to the study.

#### Instrumentation

The instrumentation used for this descriptive, mixed-methods case study included a quantitative instrument, the CIPS, and a qualitative instrument, the researcher, to collect multiple sources of qualitative data to support the case study design.

# **Quantitative Instrument**

The CIPS (Clance, 1985) served as the only quantitative instrument in this study and was used as a locator survey for identifying a specific set of participants. While a

key element contributing to the overall study, the quantitative data collected through the CIPS played a supporting role in seeking answers to the research question, which had a qualitative focus. The researcher sought and obtained permission to use the CIPS instrument as part of this study (Appendix B).

The CIPS consists of 20 questions scored on a 5-point Likert scale of 1 (*not at all true*) to 5 (*very true*) designed "to help individuals determine whether or not they have IP characteristics and, if so, to what extent they are suffering" (Clance, 1985, p. 19). Ranges of total scores classify individuals as having few (40 points or less), moderate (41-60 points), frequent (61-80 points), or intense (80 points or more) impostor experiences as it relates to their fears of evaluation, not being able to repeat their successes, and being less capable than others.

## **Qualitative Instrument**

The researcher represented the primary instrument of qualitative data collection for this study. Patton (2015) noted that qualitative research is a personal endeavor affected by the researcher's background as he or she "seek[s] to understand the perceptions, feelings, experiences, and knowledge of people" (p. 27). Further, Yin (2011) emphasized the important role of collecting data from multiple sources in order to support the qualitative nature of case study research. The researcher used a mixed-methods approach to triangulate data and used interviews to collect information about the perceptions of the participants' lived experiences (Harrell & Bradley, 2009).

Yin (2011) emphasized the importance of individual interviews as part of case study research and highlighted two key roles the researcher plays during the interview process. First, the researcher followed his own line of inquiry as outlined in his interview

protocol in order to pursue the *why* and *how* involved in supporting the qualitative strand of this study. Second, the researcher had to pose questions in a conversational and unbiased manner to help produce the necessary data to support this study's research question. Rather than asking a fixed set of structured questions or a more flexible set of unstructured interview questions, the researcher elected to utilize a semistructured collection of questions as part of this study.

## **Semistructured Interview Questions**

Leech (2002) described semistructured interviews as an opportunity to collect data that "can provide detail, depth, and an insider's perspective" (p. 665). Further, Harrell and Bradley (2009) outlined three different types of semistructured questions and stressed the importance of the researcher's understanding the intended goal of the questions in deciding which type to use. For example, descriptive questions are intended to elicit descriptions of things or events, which can lead to further lines of researcher inquiry. On the other hand, structural questions can help a researcher organize and categorize things while helping define relationships between them. Finally, contrast questions provide a researcher with definitions of terms. This study utilized open-ended, descriptive semistructured interview questions to explore how the participants coped with any of the nine IP characteristics discussed in the study's literature review. Further, questions explored what impact their sexual orientation had on their leadership roles.

### Validity and Reliability

Several studies have noted the discriminant validity of the CIPS as measuring characteristics associated with negative affectivity, including anxiety and neuroticism (Chae et al., 1995; Chrisman et al., 1995; Holmes, Kertay, Adamson, Holland, & Clance,

1993). The primary use of the scale in this study was to identify prospective participants based upon their CIPS scores, as reported via Survey Monkey, to contribute to the study's qualitative strand.

Yin (2014) noted that case study research is subject to four tests to ensure its quality. Establishing construct validity, internal validity, external validity, and reliability supports case study research and requires specific actions to be taken "throughout the subsequent conduct of a case study, not just at its beginning" (Yin, 2014, p. 45). The researcher used data triangulation of primary sources of collected evidence to support the construct validity of this study. Verifying internal validity was unnecessary in this descriptive case study as there was no attempt to explore causal links between events.

## **Expert Validity**

Kimberlin and Winterstein (2008) described content validity as the means for addressing whether a set of items "adequately covers a content area or adequately represents a construct" (p. 2279) by relying on the judgment of experts. In order to establish external content validity of the interview questions used during the study, the researcher consulted with Dr. Richard Sinacola. Dr. Sinacola is a licensed psychologist who specializes in depression, anxiety, and sexual orientation issues. The researcher made adjustments to the initial set of interview questions based upon Dr. Sinacola's recommendations prior to conducting a field test of the interview protocol.

#### **Field Test**

The researcher contacted five gay men in nonprofit or civic leadership roles and asked them to complete the CIPS to support a field test of the interview protocol. One of the five men reported a score of 45 or higher to satisfy the study's quantitative data

parameters and agreed to participate in a face-to-face interview conducted at his employment site. The participant received the set of interview questions ahead of the meeting. The researcher included an independent observer who had earned her doctorate and was familiar with qualitative interviewing during the field testing to collect her critical feedback about the process. The observer offered the researcher critical insight about the pace and structure of the interview, feedback about the researcher's verbal and nonverbal communication skills, and suggestions to consider for adjusting the interview protocol. Further, the field test confirmed that the number of questions was not excessive and provided the researcher with an opportunity to revise two terms included in four of the questions that the individual reported were unclear. Finally, Dr. Sinacola reviewed the revised list of final questions following the field testing and provided no additional feedback.

### **Data Collection**

The data collection process did not begin until the researcher completed several steps to protect the human subjects who participated in this study. The researcher sought and received approval from the Brandman University Institutional Review Board (BUIRB) to conduct this study by submitting the following documents for review: the CIPS and the approval from Dr. Pauline Rose Clance to use the instrument (Appendix B), a letter of invitation (Appendix C), consent forms for both the quantitative (Appendix D) and qualitative (Appendix E) data collection processes, and a participant bill of rights (Appendix F). Yin (2014) noted the importance of obtaining institutional review board approval prior to commencing research to assure participants of their confidentiality, their safety, and their full knowledge of the research.

Upon receiving BUIRB approval, the researcher identified an initial group of prospective study participants using his own personal and professional network of contacts. The initial recruitment and screening of participants included only the need for the individuals to be self-identified gay men working in nonprofit or civic agencies within the state of California. Further, the researcher asked each prospective participant to suggest names and provide contact information for other potential study participants. Patton (2015) noted that this snowball sampling technique "generates a chain of interviewees based on people who know people who know people who would be good sources given the focus of inquiry" (p. 298). Once the participants signed and returned the informed consent form, the researcher contacted them by telephone to determine their leadership roles within their organizations. Those who did not satisfy the study's leadership criterion were thanked for their interest and dismissed from further consideration.

## **Quantitative Data**

Multiple studies have reported the reliability of the CIPS and its capacity to help individuals self-identify the extent to which they experience the IP, further supporting its inclusion in this study (Holmes et al., 1993; Jostl et al., 2012). The researcher instructed each participant to complete the CIPS with his professional life in mind within 1-3 days of receipt of the instrument while assuring each individual of the confidentiality of his score. Those whose CIPS scores fell below the identified threshold for this study (a total score of 45) were thanked for their participation and dismissed from further consideration. The researcher protected the confidentiality of each respondent by identifying each individual with a generic code (Participant 1, Participant 2, etc.)

identifiable only by the researcher. Further, the researcher invited those individuals who had CIPS scores of 45 or higher to participate in interviews.

### **Qualitative Data**

Interviews allow researchers to "find out what is in and on someone else's mind to gather their stories" and to "enter into the other person's perspective" (Patton, 2015, p. 426). Further, Yin (2014) defined reliability as "demonstrating that the operations of a study—such as the data collection procedures—can be repeated with the same results" (p. 44). This study's researcher followed a consistent approach when arranging and conducting the case study interviews. For example, the researcher contacted each prospective participant by e-mail or telephone when he learned of the individual's potential interest in the study in order to answer any initial questions. The participants received a copy of the interview questions ahead of time, and the researcher posed the questions in the same order during each interview. The researcher conducted a face-toface interview at the individual's work site with each participant included in the study. Each interview included semistructured, open-ended questions and appropriate prompts and lasted approximately one hour. The list of questions and prompts approved by the BUIRB is included as Appendix G. Finally, the researcher created and maintained a case study database. The database included electronic files using a Google share drive that included reported CIPS scores.

### **Data Analysis**

Several key decisions, including determining the level of interaction between the quantitative and qualitative strands as well as the priority and timing of each strand, are critical to the success of mixed-methods research (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). This

mixed-methods case study used an interactive level of interaction whereby the collection of qualitative data relied heavily upon the initial collection of quantitative data. Further, the qualitative data assumed a greater level of priority and were collected only after collecting the quantitative data that helped identify the participants. Lastly, Yin (2014) noted the importance of identifying an analytic strategy prior to collecting data and offered four general strategies. This researcher chose to use an inductive strategy in this descriptive case study, allowing his review of the collected data to lead him "farther into [the] data and possibly suggesting additional relationships" (Yin, 2014, p. 136).

## **Quantitative Analysis**

The CIPS is scored on a scale of 1-100, with each of the 20 questions having a maximum Likert-scale score of 5. Participants completed the scale via Survey Monkey, and the researcher maintained a spreadsheet with each participant listed along with his CIPS score. Each participant was assigned a code known only to the researcher in order to protect his confidentiality. An analysis of this quantitative information allowed the researcher to identify 14 individuals who satisfied the minimum CIPS score for inclusion in the qualitative phase of data collection that followed.

## **Qualitative Analysis**

The qualitative data in the form of transcribed interviews, observation field notes, and artifacts assisted the researcher with identifying emerging themes that supported seeking answers to the research question guiding this study.

Each interview participant agreed to allow the researcher to record the interview using a handheld tape recorder and backup audio recording unit to capture the full conversation. Further, the researcher kept a journal of written notes highlighting key

interview discussion points and also the notes related to the direct observations made throughout the course of the site visits. The researcher reviewed and enhanced the notes just after completing the site visits to be more complete and comprehensive than was possible during each visit. These notes were transcribed into a Microsoft Word document. It became clear that having both an audio and written copy of the discussions was vital in order to capture the words spoken during the interviews and to remind the researcher about the nonverbal cues noted during the discussions, including laughter and facial gestures.

Once the text of the interviews, notes from the observations, and artifacts were uploaded into QSR International's NVivo 11 software, the researcher took additional time to review all of the notes and reflected on the research question guiding the study. Statements made during the interviews provided a deeper understanding of the participants and how they described their own personal experiences as gay leaders dealing with the IP. After this additional reflection, many possible codes to make sense of the data emerged, with several codes attributed to each of the behavioral characteristics ultimately identified as the best way to present the information.

## **Interrater Reliability**

Patton (2015) noted that interrater reliability in qualitative research allows multiple individuals analyzing the same data to "discuss what they see in the data, share insights, and consider what emerges from their different perspectives" (p. 667). In order to support the interrater reliability of the researcher's coding process, an individual who successfully completed a doctoral qualitative study completed an independent review of the collected data and created her own codes associated with them. The ensuing

discussion allowed the researcher to compare the two perspectives and make minor adjustments to his existing codes, resulting in more robust and descriptive emerging themes. The following chapter presents the final themes that emerged from the data analysis in greater depth.

#### Limitations

Case study research is defined as an empirical inquiry that helps a researcher understand a real-world case within its contemporary context when the boundaries between the case and the context are not clear (Yin, 2014). As with other types of empirical research, this study included several limitations.

First, the self-scoring and self-reporting nature of the CIPS produced results that were subjective based upon the participants' own behaviors and could have been influenced by uncontrollable contextual factors. Further, the scale offers no clear direction about whether the respondents should consider their personal or their professional context when responding to the questions. Second, the small purposeful sample of participants was drawn only from individuals who lived in California, limiting the generalizability of the results to a larger population. Third, the sample only included gay men and not other members of the LGBT community. Finally, the sample of prospective participants was limited to those working in civic or nonprofit agencies who were defined as leaders based upon their agency's organizational chart.

#### Summary

This chapter reviewed the study's purpose statement and research question prior to describing the descriptive, mixed-methods case study research design used for the research process. The study's target population and sample were outlined along with the

instruments used for data collection. The chapter concluded by including a thorough description of the data collection and analysis processes and the limitations of this study. The following chapter provides a comprehensive review of the data collected for this study.

#### CHAPTER IV: RESEARCH, DATA COLLECTION, AND FINDINGS

#### Overview

This chapter examines the findings of the research to describe how gay male leaders affected by the impostor phenomenon cope with the phenomenon's behavioral characteristics. The chapter summarizes the data collected from 14 interviews of self-identified gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles. This chapter reviews the purpose of the study, the primary research question, and the research methodology. Next, the chapter includes a set of tables illustrating the themes and patterns of the data collected and analyzed for each interview. Finally, a summary analysis of the themes and patterns of all 14 interviews completes the chapter.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this descriptive, mixed-methods case study was to explore and describe the coping skills used to overcome nine behavioral characteristics by gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the impostor phenomenon (IP) by the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS; Clance, 1985).

# **Research Question**

What coping skills do gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the IP, using the CIPS (Clance, 1985), use to overcome nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP?

- 1. Anxiety
- 2. Lack of self-confidence
- 3. Depression

- 4. Perfectionism
- 5. Procrastination
- 6. Self-presentation
- 7. Emotional exhaustion
- 8. Fear of failure
- 9. Fear of success

### **Research Methods and Data Collection Procedures**

This descriptive, mixed-methods case study captured both quantitative and qualitative data to help identify participants and to explore and describe how they cope with the behavioral characteristics associated with the IP. While earlier studies explored whether the IP affects a variety of specific populations of individuals, prior research did not include the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) population. Therefore, gay male leaders identified as experiencing the IP were the subjects of this research.

The quantitative data collection process involved prospective study participants completing the 20-item CIPS (Clance, 1985). The CIPS is designed to determine to what extent individuals experience the IP. Participant responses helped the researcher identify individuals who were moderately affected or had frequent impostor experiences as determined by their total scores. The researcher invited these participants to participate in the qualitative data collection process.

A total of 14 participants completed an interview that used 10 open-ended, semistructured interview questions developed to explore each individual's experience with nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP. The researcher used additional probing questions as needed during each interview. An opening question

designed to set the participants at ease asked the individuals to describe their decision to pursue civic or nonprofit employment. The researcher chose to focus on civic and nonprofit agencies to support further exploration about how impostorism influences individuals in a specific career field similar to his own. The next eight interview questions specifically addressed the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP. Each question encouraged the participants to consider a specific characteristic and discuss how they coped with the characteristic in their professional life. The researcher did not disclose the characteristic's connection with the IP in advance of the interviews. A final question encouraged the participants to reflect on the role they believed their family played in their career choices and/or identity development. The interview protocol including the 10 questions is found in Appendix G. Table 1 summarizes the nine behavioral characteristics and the interview question associated with each.

Table 1

Alignment of Interview Questions With Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Interview question
1. Anxiety	Question 4
2. Lack of self-confidence	Question 6
3. Depression	Question 5
4. Perfectionism	Question 9
5. Procrastination	Question 8
6. Self-presentation	Question 7
7. Emotional exhaustion	Question 3
8. Fear of failure	Question 2
9. Fear of success	Question 2

Before data collection began, prospective participants received an e-mail letter of invitation regarding the nature of the study (Appendix C), a link to complete an electronic informed consent form (Appendix D), the CIPS (Appendix B), and a participant bill of rights (Appendix F). Those participants who scored 45 or higher on the CIPS received a second invitation to participate in a 45- to 60-minute interview and the interview protocol (Appendix G).

At the beginning of each interview, the participant was asked to complete another informed consent form (Appendix E) agreeing to be audio recorded during the interview. Each interview included in the study took place in person and was recorded using a recording application on the researcher's iPhone in addition to a handheld backup recording device. Recorded interviews were sent using the iPhone recorder application for immediate professional transcription. The researcher uploaded each interview transcript into NVivo coding software and coded it to elicit themes and patterns. Gorden (1992) noted that the process of coding data permits a researcher to derive a summary of the responses collected from multiple interviews exploring a common topic and to demonstrate how frequently similar information appears. The coding process included an individual who also completed a qualitative study as part of earning her doctorate in education, who coded the same transcripts as the researcher to ensure interrater reliability. A comparison of the interrater's and researcher's coding results revealed a high percentage of consistency between the two, providing a strong measure of interrater reliability.

### **Population and Sample**

The 14 participants included in this study were all self-identified gay men who were employed as civic or nonprofit leaders in California at the time of the study. Each participant shared his leadership role with the researcher and confirmed his current employment status as a leader within his organization. For the purposes of this study, the researcher defined a leader as an individual whose name or job title appeared on an organizational chart denoting some level of decision-making authority within his organization. This group of 14 men satisfied the criteria and the quantitative threshold of 45 on the CIPS needed to participate in this study.

In order to find the type of participant needed for this descriptive, mixed-methods case study, the researcher used a nonprobability, purposeful snowball sampling technique. Patton (2015) noted that the nonprobability, purposeful sampling technique produces the identification of "information-rich cases whose study will illuminate the questions under study" (p. 230). Further, the snowball strategy used to obtain this sample allowed the researcher to identify a sufficient number of study participants by asking other individuals, well-connected informants, and the participants to suggest names of other potential study participants.

Selection of the sample participants started with the researcher identifying and contacting potential participants known to him personally or through his own personal and professional network of contacts. The researcher asked each potential study participant to consider his own personal and professional network of contacts who satisfied the initial set of participant criteria and to provide the researcher with the

potential participants' contact information. As additional potential participants emerged, the researcher contacted each to confirm his possible interest.

The researcher contacted a total of 34 individuals regarding the study. A total of 31 individuals responded expressing interest in participating. Of those 31, 14 individuals satisfied all of the study criteria and took part in the full study. The researcher disqualified 11 of the 31 who responded either because they did not satisfy the quantitative threshold for study participation or because they were not currently employed. The remaining six individuals either did not complete the CIPS or never responded to the invitation to participate in an interview.

The 14 participants who completed the CIPS earned an average score of 65 on a scale of 100. There were two participants who scored higher than 80, indicating they had intense impostor experiences. An additional six of the 14 participants scored between 61 and 80 on the CIPS, indicating they had frequent impostor experiences. The remaining six participants scored between 41 and 60, indicating moderate IP experiences. Table 2 summarizes the CIPS scores of the 14 individuals who participated in the full study.

## **Presentation and Analysis of Data**

# **Data Analysis by Participant**

Participant 1. Participant 1 was a coproducer and technical director of a local nonprofit theater company. His CIPS score of 68 indicated he frequently had impostor experiences. Table 3 summarizes Participant 1's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 2

Description of Participants

Participant	Job title	CIPS score	Industry
Participant 1	Coproducer	68	Nonprofit
Participant 2	Chair	61	Nonprofit
Participant 3	Educator	70	Nonprofit
Participant 4	Director	48	Nonprofit
Participant 5	Chief academic officer	90	Nonprofit
Participant 6	Deputy director	59	Civic
Participant 7	Lead human resources specialist	81	Civic
Participant 8	Environmental manager	61	Civic
Participant 9	Executive director	51	Nonprofit
Participant 10	Psychiatrist	58	Nonprofit
Participant 11	Associate dean	60	Nonprofit
Participant 12	Director	72	Nonprofit
Participant 13	Principal	48	Nonprofit
Participant 14	Educator	75	Nonprofit

Participant 1 expressed overarching themes of "pushing through" and redirecting his line of thinking as his coping methods for many of the IP characteristics he experienced in his professional life. Practicing or preparing as much as possible reduced his anxiety in advance of uncomfortable situations like public speaking or projects on which he knew he was likely to procrastinate. Participant 1 also reported a need to make others feel comfortable and described this reaction as a sense of humility and as a way to compensate for his lack of self-confidence in some situations. Further, his desire to avoid potential conflict and to compensate for his self-described positive sense of perfectionism inspired him to look for situations where he could help make things better.

Table 3

Participant 1: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Practice, research, or study as much as possible</li> <li>Demonstrate humility</li> <li>Make the other person happy</li> <li>Push to work through the feelings</li> <li>Determine what is believed should be done and reach for that outcome</li> <li>Work on a project where success is assured</li> <li>Determine how to successfully manage an additional task</li> <li>Become immersed in the project to overcome not feeling as smart</li> <li>Overcompensate and prepare earlier</li> <li>Bend over backwards to avoid conflict</li> <li>Focus on doing good things</li> <li>Switch gears and do something else</li> <li>Take over and try to manage things</li> <li>Ensure control over the situation</li> <li>Look for things that can be improved</li> <li>Reflect on what impression is made</li> <li>Reflect on past successes</li> </ul>

Participant 1 described an intentional way of redirecting his thoughts to more positive thinking when facing stressful situations that would take a toll on his personal well-being. Advance planning, taking control of situations, and focusing on doing his best when taking on additional tasks helped him overcome feelings of "not being as smart as others" or a need "to do it all." Participant 1 discussed the importance of self-reflection when facing new projects to help remind himself about his past successes. Similarly, he described being acutely aware of the impression he made as "a projection of me, and if it is not as good as it can be, then it reflects back on me as a person and that I'm somehow not as good." Participant 1 stressed the importance of pursuing projects he

knew would be successful alongside those that were more challenging as a way to remind himself of his ability to succeed despite a measure of insecurity. Participant 1 noted,

I like to have something I can do, and then it's done and I can say, "This is what I did." I think I probably feel insecure that if I do a project really well that it reflects . . . I'm doing good because I look at what a good project it is. I think that's how I process them.

Participant 2. Participant 2 was a council chairperson providing direction to a local art museum. His CIPS score of 61 indicated he frequently had impostor experiences. Table 4 summarizes Participant 2's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 4

Participant 2: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Evaluate and modify all parts of life</li> <li>Pace life as if it is a marathon</li> <li>Create daily rituals and routines</li> <li>Take time to process thoughts internally</li> <li>Reflect positively on accomplishments</li> <li>Look for opportunities for progress and movement within an organization</li> <li>Remain mindful of physical well-being</li> <li>Turn things down that bring no joy or sense of value</li> <li>Evaluate fit within an organization to support success</li> <li>Seek a sense of control</li> <li>Train others to provide more personal time</li> <li>Create systems to reduce stress</li> <li>Look for alternative ways to solve issues</li> <li>Set time aside for processing</li> <li>Negotiate around societal expectations of behavior</li> <li>Present an authentic self</li> <li>Develop systems that work to find success</li> <li>Choose the right opportunities/have a vision</li> <li>Celebrate unique perspective on life</li> </ul>

Participant 2 stressed the importance of his personal value system and his outlook on life as contributing factors to coping with the IP's behavioral characteristics. Further, he attributed developing successful coping skills to his age and the lessons he had learned throughout life.

Participant 2 emphasized the importance of remaining mindful about what creates stress and the need to establish daily rituals and routines that create time for personal reflection. More importantly, his focus on remaining mindful helped guide the actions he took to deal with anxiety and moments when he doubted his self-confidence. He considered life a marathon that required him to pace himself and to evaluate what impact new challenges had on his life. In contrast to some who believe procrastination is a negative characteristic, Participant 2 noted, "Procrastination gives me that timeframe to reflect and come up with the best solution."

Participant 2 highlighted the importance of celebrating the unique perspective he added to the world around him while recognizing that the perception others had of him may differ. He described an early need to present a "good boy" image to the outside world but suggested it forced him to create a public persona that made him feel inauthentic. He credited his success as a leader to his ability to integrate all parts of his personality and weave them into one cohesive unit, noting,

Who knows what that is perceived by the other person as; but I would say that, for me anyway, it tends to be as authentic as I can be so that I'm not trying to put on a face for something that I'm not.

**Participant 3.** Participant 3 was a local educator. His CIPS score of 70 indicated he frequently had impostor experiences. Table 5 summarizes Participant 3's responses in

themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 5

Participant 3: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Make lists that force action</li> <li>Complete one task at a time</li> <li>Reduce overwhelming feelings to concrete tasks</li> <li>Hide internal feelings and persevere</li> <li>Internalize constant reminders that everyone makes mistakes</li> <li>Avoid putting tasks off</li> <li>Remain mindful of actions to avoid attention</li> <li>Prioritize to avoid being overwhelmed</li> <li>Celebrate every success</li> <li>Seek the value of every action</li> <li>Determine what benefit a task will offer</li> <li>Worry less about the time it takes to succeed</li> </ul>

Participant 3 stressed that the specific actions he took every day to cope with the IP's behavioral characteristics helped address the ongoing struggle he faced with self-confidence. Rather than surrendering to feelings of being overwhelmed, he took concrete steps to make lists of tasks that needed to be accomplished as a way to hold himself accountable even for those tasks he preferred to avoid. Further, he expressed the importance of breaking down large projects into smaller steps to offer him the chance to celebrate small successes along the way.

Participant 3 believed in the power of self-reflection as an opportunity to realize that everyone makes mistakes. He was equally mindful that his external reactions to situations contributed to how he believed others perceived him. As a result, Participant 3

worked hard to maintain his composure to avoid any attention that triggered feelings of being judged by others.

Participant 3 highlighted his need to find value in every action he took as the way to overcome his fear of failing. He focused on finding some intrinsic value in everything he did as a strong way to motivate his ability to persevere. Further, Participant 3 noted the importance of reminding himself to worry less about how long it took for him to complete a project or task to avoid comparing himself with others. Participant 3 noted,

As I have gone through my life doing everything, I always think, "I am going to fail, I'm going to fail, I'm not going to make it, I'm not going to make it." But I have always made it. It might take me a little longer, but I have always made it.

**Participant 4.** Participant 4 was the director of a local nonprofit agency serving the LGBT community. His CIPS score of 48 indicated he had moderate impostor experiences. Table 6 summarizes Participant 4's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Participant 4 repeatedly mentioned the importance of finding value in any situation and recognizing his commitments as the most critical coping mechanisms he used to address the IP's behavioral characteristics. He attributed this approach to the way he was raised and the fact that he had been HIV positive for the past 30 years. Participant 4 described the series of challenges he had encountered in life and noted, "I'm going to work as hard as I have to [in order to] get it [project] done because that's just the way I was raised and my work ethic. It may not be pleasant, but I'm committed to finish it."

Table 6

Participant 4: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Seek opportunities that provide personal value</li> <li>Force action to realize success is possible</li> <li>Recognize that initial fear will be replaced by feeling of success</li> <li>Celebrate being valued by others</li> <li>Meditate or do some other form of exercise to relax</li> <li>Pursue opportunities where success is likely</li> <li>Understand personal limitations</li> <li>Internally reinforce own attributes</li> <li>Find strength to be authentic in every situation</li> <li>Identify any lessons to be learned from experiences</li> <li>Recognize and embrace that perfection is not possible</li> <li>Never lose passion for things that bring happiness</li> </ul>

Participant 4 stressed that the environment in which he found himself proved to be a key factor in coping with his IP feelings. He emphasized how important it was to surround himself with individuals who recognized his contributions and who offered positive feedback. Furthermore, he acknowledged the need to be authentic and remain mindful about internally reinforcing his own attributes in every situation.

Participant 4 stated that he sought to find a lesson in every experience he had in life. Equally important, he constantly reminded himself that perfection was not possible and how to appreciate his own limitations. Participant 4 summed up his feelings as follows:

Now I don't want to have failures even though I realize, too, that from some of the failures I've had, I've learned something, and that's helped me, too. I think I have this fear of failure, which is probably not a real good thing to have because sometimes when we fail we actually learn more than when we succeed.

**Participant 5.** Participant 5 was the chief academic officer of a local school district. His CIPS score of 90 indicated he often had intense IP experiences. Table 7 summarizes Participant 5's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 7

Participant 5: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Have confidence that outcome will be recognized</li> <li>Focus on being authentic</li> <li>Do things for others</li> <li>Express emotions</li> <li>Take control of situations</li> <li>Consider and implement solutions</li> <li>Be more process oriented while remaining creative</li> <li>Be willing to propose ideas and seek feedback</li> <li>Seek direction as needed</li> <li>Understand and react to behavioral expectations</li> <li>Celebrate being chosen</li> <li>Appreciate challenges</li> <li>Value self and others</li> </ul>

Participant 5 focused on his desire to retain control of situations and valuing feedback as his primary forms of coping with the IP's behavioral characteristics. Further, he acknowledged that his current position and age allowed him to do things for other people more frequently and cited this as an opportunity to operate in a more authentic manner than he felt was permitted in earlier stages of his personal and professional lives.

Participant 5 highlighted several early professional experiences that inspired him to value the opportunity to provide professional advice and direction for others. Further, he learned the importance of proposing new ideas while having the humility to seek and accept direction from others. Participant 5 stated that the ability to remain both process

driven and creative reinforced a level of self-confidence and personal achievement that others recognized about him.

Participant 5 also shared the importance of taking pride in accepting new challenges and working with others. He stressed the significance of focusing on being selected to lead projects or teams while reminding himself that the outcomes were the most important and would be recognized. He added, "I have to be more OK when people do something because you have to value people. I think that's part of me, too. I have to value myself and be all right."

**Participant 6.** Participant 6 was the deputy director of a county social service agency. His CIPS score of 59 indicated he had moderate IP experiences. Table 8 summarizes Participant 6's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 8

Participant 6: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Seek an encouraging atmosphere</li> <li>Look for challenges</li> <li>Recognize personal achievements</li> <li>Be willing to make sacrifices, knowing they are not permanent</li> <li>Submit the best that can be produced</li> <li>Focus on building strong relationships</li> <li>Seek solutions to problems rather than relying on others</li> <li>Develop self-awareness and respond appropriately in situations</li> <li>Recognize the danger of placing personal expectations on others</li> <li>Identify situations that call for perfectionism</li> <li>Appreciate the gap you fill in situations</li> <li>Make lists and prioritize</li> </ul>

Participant 6 described the importance of self-reflection and implementing the lessons he had learned in life as the primary coping methods he used to address many of the IP's behavioral characteristics. In addition, he highlighted his willingness to acknowledge his strengths and his appreciation for the relationships he sought to create with others as important factors in his life.

Professionally, Participant 6 noted how important it was for him to pursue supportive atmospheres in which to work. However, he remained committed to seeking opportunities that allowed him to challenge himself as a way to demonstrate his capability. Participant 6 stressed the importance of taking time to recognize each success along the way and the importance of involving family members in critical decisions before making them. Finally, Participant 6 commented on the value of taking risks and making personal sacrifices, knowing decisions can be reversed and replaced by others.

Participant 6 described the importance of relationship building and self-reflection. He celebrated the role he had assumed as a problem solver in both his professional and personal lives, noting how that approach had helped support his sense of self-confidence. Further, Participant 6 recognized that his inclination to seek "a polished final product" or to avoid procrastinating was not an expectation he could place on others. Instead, he had learned to acknowledge and value how others operated, stating, "I'm not going to stop being ambitious, but I can dial it back in recognition of other people."

Participant 7. Participant 7 was a lead human resources specialist for a government agency. His CIPS score of 81 indicated he often had intense IP experiences. Table 9 summarizes Participant 7's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 9

Participant 7: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Find an environment that supports values</li> <li>Make choices that support current and future needs</li> <li>Acknowledge the need to adapt</li> <li>Prepare in advance to feel more confident in the moment</li> <li>Find humor in stressful situations</li> <li>Follow and act upon instincts</li> <li>Find ways to be unique</li> <li>Read and react to situations</li> <li>Reflect on what is most important in life</li> <li>Accept positive feedback</li> </ul>

Participant 7 suggested that his focus on following his instincts and reflecting on the way he was raised supported his ability to cope with the IP's behavioral characteristics. While he acknowledged the importance of attempting to lead his life as authentically as possible, he recognized that specific situations required adjustments. However, he described adaptations including how he interacted with his children during school events and how he acted during evenings out with friends who he knew were uncomfortable with his sexual orientation as examples of how he felt he could connect more fully with those around him.

Participant 7 spoke about the importance of creating an environment that allowed him to focus on his priorities including family and his current and future needs. He emphasized, "In your fight to be that way or to be perfect, you get lost and do not pay attention to other things that are important, too, because you have one goal." Participant 7 noted that finding humor, following his instincts, and seeking every opportunity to

approach each new situation with his own unique perspective were essential in finding success.

The need to adjust to the environment around him forced Participant 7 to consider how he managed his internal feelings without compromising his personal values. He described the importance of knowing his strengths and how he prepared in advance to feel more confident about those situations that challenged him. Participant 7 noted,

You learn to live with those things, with those feelings, and you master those feelings, and that's part of who you are. You go to PTA with your kids, or you go to a bar with your friends, you expect friends. . . . All the time, you have that background that you cannot just strip it off. It's part of you.

**Participant 8.** Participant 8 was the environmental manager of a local city's public works division. His CIPS score of 61 indicated he had frequent impostor experiences. Table 10 summarizes Participant 8's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Participant 8 traced the way he coped with the IP's behavioral characteristics to how he was raised and the lessons he learned while growing up. He mentioned that the emphasis his parents placed on forging a better and more secure way of life influenced the choices he made along the way. Further, Participant 8 described an awareness of using certain coping skills to address challenges with which he continued to struggle.

Participant 8 emphasized the importance of seeking mentors and taking steps like pursuing additional training or education as a way to be prepared for new opportunities.

Instead of this representing a sense of personal ambition, he described it as a way to

Table 10

Participant 8: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Focus on knowing strengths</li> <li>Take steps to support future success</li> <li>Identify and maintain mentors</li> <li>Remain open to new opportunities</li> <li>Prepare for situations in advance</li> <li>Process feelings/thoughts with others</li> <li>Learn to identify and address anxiety</li> <li>Relate and take prior successful steps to address new challenges</li> <li>Honor why there is a need to be perfect</li> <li>Avoid making assumptions</li> <li>Respect boundaries of others</li> <li>Anticipate implications of actions</li> <li>Recognize the expertise others possess</li> <li>Accept those things that can't be controlled</li> <li>Check the reality of situations</li> </ul>

position himself for new challenges for which he might otherwise feel underprepared to accept. In addition, Participant 8 emphasized how important advance preparation was, including reflecting on what supported past successes, in reducing his level of anxiety about new situations.

Participant 8 celebrated his perfectionist tendencies but acknowledged his willingness and benefit of accepting imperfection, noting, "There's a point now I can go, 'I can reword this sentence a little better, but it's not going to make enough of a difference. It's still good." Further, he confessed that his sense of perfectionism may contradict experts in his workplace, and he learned what value there may be in deferring to the judgment of others.

Participant 8 described his typical interaction with others as guarded and something he continued to focus on addressing. He stressed the importance of "giving"

people my best" while reducing assumptions he made about the expectations others had of him, noting,

All that stuff's in my head, and it's like, "Really? Nobody cares. Nobody's going to notice. It's a blue shirt. Nobody cares." I know that in my head, but it still just manifests itself in that I worry about that kind of stuff sometimes.

**Participant 9.** Participant 9 was the executive director of a local nonprofit agency. His CIPS score of 51 indicated he had moderate IP experiences. Table 11 summarizes Participant 9's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 11

Participant 9: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Reflect on issues creating negative feelings</li> <li>Seek the value of the work being done</li> <li>Consider the personal impact of making certain decisions</li> <li>Pursue the best options available for each situation</li> <li>Take one step at a time</li> <li>Identify solutions versus wallowing in dissecting the problem</li> <li>Seek feedback</li> <li>Think through situations in advance and prepare for them</li> <li>Always seek to put the best foot forward</li> <li>Draw on past successful experiences</li> <li>Have confidence to restart or reevaluate a project</li> <li>Get ideas out of the head and onto paper</li> <li>Recognize the many ways people define perfection</li> </ul>

Participant 9 described a sense of optimism and belief that lessons he learned early in life played an important role in learning how to cope with the IP's behavioral

characteristics. He reflected on the consequences of the actions he took throughout his life while maintaining a focus on the need to keep moving forward versus wallowing in a decision-making process that could have paralyzed him.

Participant 9 stressed the importance of assessing each situation one at a time and identifying the value it could offer while relating it to past successful experiences.

Instead of allowing himself to get overwhelmed, Participant 9 emphasized the need to consider the many alternatives of each situation along with the willingness to "just identify the issues and then move on." Further, he highlighted the positive effect of taking time to develop a plan before moving forward and determining what steps were critical to be taken first. He admitted to setting high expectations of himself while noting, "Yeah, I mean the expectation is that I'm going to succeed in every one of them [situations]. Do I? No. Do I beat myself up about it if I don't? No. You do the best you can do."

Participant 9 recognized that his desire to reach perfection was not always shared by others. In addition, he mentioned how important it was to "realize that the way I would do something isn't necessarily the right way. It's just the way I'd do it." Participant 9 stressed that his drive for perfection included the confidence to reevaluate or restart projects in order to feel confident about the final product. He noted,

I've learned that life happens. While we're going on doing this stuff that we call work and all this stuff, life happens. Ultimately, I think it really is those core values that impact our own lives and give us our own personal satisfaction and worth.

**Participant 10.** Participant 10 was a psychiatrist employed by a government agency. His CIPS score of 58 indicated he had moderate IP experiences. Table 12 summarizes Participant 10's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 12

Participant 10: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Look at organizational mission statements to determine fit</li> <li>Recognize and honor commitments</li> <li>Find a level of comfort in the willingness to work hard</li> <li>Focus on the motivation anxiety produces</li> <li>Rely on skills when faced with adversity</li> <li>Clarify expectations others possess</li> <li>React to the environment and demonstrate a willingness to adapt</li> <li>Seek and evaluate the perspectives of others</li> <li>Find the passion for doing something that ensures success</li> <li>Recognize when one part of life is impacting another</li> </ul>

Participant 10 cited his focus on the way he reacted to situations in his personal and professional lives as the key to coping with the IP's behavioral characteristics.

Through a combination of research and self-reflection, Participant 10 developed the confidence to successfully navigate any situation. In addition, his willingness to observe his reactions and adjust his frame of mind further reinforced his ability to manage his impostor experiences.

Participant 10 highlighted the importance of always seeking an environment that supported his values. Taking the time to research new opportunities and clarifying what others expected of him in advance supported Participant 10's desire to ensure he

understood the significance of his contributions before moving forward. Further, he stressed the need to remind himself how important it was to honor commitments he made by harnessing the anxiety those situations created as a way to "get your juices flowing to be able to perform well in any venue."

Participant 10 conveyed how important self-reflection and remaining open to new experiences were to him. He described the need to evaluate new situations while reflecting on what personal adjustments he needed to make in his work style along with a willingness to seek feedback from others to ensure success. Additionally, he acknowledged learning how important it was to counterbalance his inclination to work hard at his own expense. Participant 10 noted, "I want my work to be done because if my work is not done, that takes precedence over my personal life."

Participant 11. Participant 11 was an associate dean of student affairs at a nonprofit private college. His CIPS score of 60 indicated he had moderate IP experiences. Table 13 summarizes Participant 11's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Participant 11 described the attention he placed on developing an inner sense of motivation as his way of dealing with the IP's behavioral characteristics. He highlighted the focus he placed on envisioning his future while appreciating the existing challenges and the role they played in supporting his long-term goals. Furthermore, Participant 11 stressed the importance of taking time to reflect on his own accomplishments while acknowledging influential factors that kept him motivated.

Table 13

Participant 11: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Recognize and act upon the desire to give back</li> <li>Listen to mentors or others who offer advice</li> <li>Seek a sense of inspiration when making every decision</li> <li>Find a willingness to follow instincts</li> <li>Maintain a long-term vision for success</li> <li>Question how the current environment is supporting future goals</li> <li>Seek environments where personal learning occurs</li> <li>Acknowledge the need for affirmation</li> <li>Work hard to exceed expectations</li> <li>Admit when help is needed</li> <li>Identify internal boundaries</li> <li>Create time for personal reflection</li> <li>Take time to research the unknown</li> <li>Honor personal expertise</li> <li>Anticipate how success repositions personal standing</li> <li>Celebrate high standards</li> <li>Focus on accomplishments versus "still to do"</li> </ul>

Participant 11 emphasized the beneficial role mentors played in his life. He noted the importance of seeking guidance from others and developing a sense of humility to seek help when he needed it. More importantly, Participant 11 illustrated how he had learned to trust his instincts when he described one specific experience, stating, "There's all these voices going on both externally and internally, but at the end of the day, I knew that it was the right choice for me because my gut told me I know I can learn a lot."

Participant 11 also conveyed how important it was to include time for self-reflection and to visualize the future. He described the need to celebrate the high standards he set for himself but to honor the internal boundaries he maintained to avoid feeling overwhelmed. Further, Participant 11 expressed that self-reflection was a

powerful way to focus on his accomplishments and how they positioned him with others and, more importantly, how they supported his success. He stated,

That's what I continuously think about even today when I work in my day-to-day job. I think about what I am doing, not just to be of service to students and my colleagues, but what am I doing to even help myself grow professionally and grow in my knowledge base?

Participant 12. Participant 12 was a director of a nonprofit agency serving the local LGBT community. His CIPS score of 72 indicated he frequently experienced IP feelings. Table 14 summarizes Participant 12's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 14

Participant 12: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Review and honor personal values</li> <li>Establish clear self-expectations</li> <li>Determine a personal mission statement</li> <li>Question the personal value of every action</li> <li>Have confidence to follow instincts</li> <li>Recognize destructive self-talk</li> <li>Evaluate priorities and recognize personal limitations</li> <li>Separate personal feelings from unpleasant responsibilities</li> <li>Think and act strategically based upon past experiences</li> <li>Find opportunities to delegate</li> <li>Recognize times when it is best to reduce visibility, to quit pushing</li> <li>Define the difference between perfect and what is acceptable</li> </ul>

Participant 12 emphasized that experiences he had as a child guided the way he coped with the IP's behavioral characteristics. These experiences inspired him to

evaluate every situation he faced while determining the value each might add to his life before deciding what next steps to follow. Further, Participant 12 described the influence a personal mission statement he created as a young professional had in helping him learn how to identify his own limitations and priorities. He reported that the mission statement positively impacted his ability to lead a fulfilling life.

Participant 12 emphasized how learning to trust his own intuition helped him recognize and learn how to overcome the inclination to let self-doubt overwhelm his self-confidence in his abilities. He stated, "It's like a gut feeling: 'Does this feel right?' Most of the time, I have an absolute definitive gut feeling, and I just know which one I want or what I want to do." Participant 12 described the importance of reflecting on steps he had taken to achieve past successes while thinking strategically in the moment to determine the relevancy of taking similar steps versus making faulty assumptions.

Participant 12 stated that he attributed his feelings of success to a well-developed sense of self-expectations while recognizing the mistake of placing those expectations upon others. He further expressed the importance of defining the difference between perfect and acceptable when trying to be the best he could be, realizing, "You have to accept the realities and limits of a situation." Similarly, Participant 12 noted the value of humility and the ability to interpret situations in life. He still followed advice an early mentor offered:

When you're out there, like way out in front, really pushing something forward, you're going to make enemies. You're inevitably going to get resistance. So, when you are way out there and you have a huge success, go back to your office

for a while. Be quiet, get work done, don't be out there. Wait until you feel like it's time, and then come back out there with something else.

Participant 13. Participant 13 was an elementary school principal in a local school district. His CIPS score of 48 indicated he had moderate IP experiences. Table 15 summarizes Participant 13's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 15

Participant 13: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic	Themes identified
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Believe success is possible if others have been able to succeed</li> <li>Obtain a clear sense of what is expected</li> <li>Remain mindful of purpose and values of actions</li> <li>Demonstrate an appreciation of others</li> <li>Create a plan for approaching unpleasant situations</li> <li>Reflect on past successes</li> <li>Develop a determination to succeed</li> <li>Recognize personal limitations</li> <li>Accept being a perfectly flawed human being</li> <li>Identify patterns of success and seek opportunities to replicate them</li> </ul>

Participant 13 emphasized the importance of remaining mindful about every action he took as his key to coping with the IP's behavioral characteristics. He stressed that assessing whether the actions offered value to the professional and personal goals he hoped to achieve in life was an essential part of deciding what to do. Further, creating a mindset of success helped him reduce his inclination to compare himself to others unless doing so supported his belief that he was equally capable of achieving the same outcomes.

Participant 13 admitted that his willingness to confront unpleasant situations represented a challenge for him to remain committed to presenting an authentic appreciation of others. Additionally, these situations offered him an opportunity to reflect on patterns of past successes and the steps he took to achieve them. Participant 13 said he had learned to appreciate his limitations without letting them pose obstacles to future success, stating,

I know that we all have limits and we can only do what we can do. I'm willing to do everything I can do during that time and be mindful of how I do it. I just hope that that's acceptable and that I'm doing my best.

**Participant 14.** Participant 14 was a local educator. His CIPS score of 75 indicated he frequently had impostor experiences. Table 16 summarizes Participant 14's responses in themes and patterns related to how he coped with the nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

Table 16

Participant 14: Themes in Response to Behavioral Characteristics

Behavioral characteristic Themes identified	
<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Lack of self-confidence</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Perfectionism</li> <li>Procrastination</li> <li>Self-presentation</li> <li>Emotional exhaustion</li> <li>Fear of failure</li> <li>Fear of success</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Take matters under control regardless of obstacles</li> <li>Welcome and seek opportunities for change</li> <li>Plan three steps ahead for what needs to be done</li> <li>Recognize what brings happiness</li> <li>Understand the expectations others have</li> <li>Remain clear about personal and professional goals</li> <li>Appreciate and apply personal knowledge and expertise</li> <li>Identify when perfection is not necessary</li> <li>Learn from and emulate role models</li> <li>Maintain internal pride about strengths</li> </ul>

Participant 14 stressed how important it was for him to pursue actions he believed would ensure his happiness as his way to cope with the IP's behavioral characteristics. He emphasized his belief in never apologizing for expressing pride in the strengths he offered to his chosen career path while remaining committed to the choices he made in life. For example, Participant 14 described sharing his extensive professional background and training in the arts during job interviews for teaching positions, confidently stating, "I'm better than the average schmuck that walks out of the interview." In addition, he noted the importance of remembering the lessons that role models taught him throughout his life and his responsibility for sharing those with others.

Participant 14 described specific actions he took in order to achieve his personal and professional goals. He stressed how important it was to learn how to appreciate his unique talents and apply them to his chosen career path. However, Participant 14 also expressed knowing how important it was for him to value the impact he had on his students and shared.

Yeah, I feel when it's not good enough, I feel crushed. In real time, super crushed, but I'm a really good actor, so they [students] never see my internal dialogue. In fact, that is my job: to stay consistent for young people.

#### **Data Analysis by Common Themes Related to Behavioral Characteristics**

The following section presents the collected participant data analyzed according to each of the nine IP behavioral characteristics. The number of participants offering responses to each characteristic highlights how individuals experience the characteristics in different ways or not at all. Further, the frequency of responses noted by characteristic demonstrates the varying levels of intensity with which individuals reported experiencing

each characteristic. The researcher examined all 14 study participants' responses and identified common themes related to each behavioral characteristic emerging from the data that addressed the study's research question. The research question asked, "What coping skills do gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the IP, using the CIPS (Clance, 1985), use to overcome nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP?"

**Anxiety.** Table 17 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address anxiety.

Table 17

Anxiety: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic		Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Anxiety	1. A	Anticipate what needs to be done	12	30
	2. S	Seek alternative solutions	10	20
	3. E	Engage in positive self-talk	9	12
	4. T	Take one step at a time	7	14

Common Theme 1: Anticipate what needs to be done. A majority of the participants (86%) described trying to anticipate what steps to take in advance of big projects or situations that they knew would create anxiety as the most common way to cope with it. Several participants mentioned making lists as the way to anticipate steps they needed to take and offered specific techniques including using whiteboards or simple pencil and paper to create their lists.

In addition, participants expressed the importance of doing advance research as an opportunity to feel more confident and prepared. One participant shared, "I reduce my

anxiety tremendously if I feel like I've researched, studied, prepped for it [situation] as best as I possibly can." Another participant added, "I know the first thing I need to do is get my research together, identify what it is, what is my plan? Identify it. Make sure that I know it in my head, inside out and backwards."

Common Theme 2: Seek alternative solutions. Approximately 71% of the 14 participants mentioned their commitment to seeking alternative solutions as their method for coping with anxiety-provoking problems or situations. Examples of these alternative solutions included temporarily modifying their way of life, establishing routines to accommodate to new situations, approaching each situation with a slightly different perspective, and remaining focused on a final outcome regardless of the circumstances creating anxiety. One participant recalled a specific situation he faced and described his reaction as follows: "I've been evaluating what other sides of my life need to be modified in order for me to manage this because it's going to go on for another year."

Common Theme 3: Engage in positive self-talk. Roughly 64% of all participants admitted to engaging in positive and reinforcing self-talk as their method for coping with anxiety. Participants described this internal dialogue as the way to remind themselves of positive contributions they had made, as their own form of a reality check, and as an opportunity to remind themselves to assess their own mental state. One individual shared,

I try not to be so hard on myself and realize, "OK, I can do this." I'm going to do a good job, but I'm not going to beat myself up and say, "Oh you're not doing the best job you could."

Common Theme 4: Take one step at a time. Exactly 50% of all participants stressed the importance of handling things one at a time as a positive way to cope with anxiety. Participants expressed the importance of breaking large projects or difficult situations down into smaller tasks as the opportunity to avoid overwhelming feelings of anxiety. One individual mentioned the significance of learning how to pace himself by comparing life to a marathon. Similarly, another participant added, "It [the situation] maybe takes my breath away, it maybe knocks me on my ass for a minute, and then you just start working at it by asking myself, 'What do I do first?'"

**Lack of self-confidence.** Table 18 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address their lack of self-confidence.

Table 18

Lack of Self-Confidence: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic	Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Lack of self-	1. Continue striving for success	8	21
confidence	2. Celebrate unique perspective	8	14
	3. Embrace positive feedback	6	6

Common Theme 1: Continue striving for success. Approximately 57% of all participants noted how important they felt it was to remain committed to the idea of finding success to help them cope with their lack of self-confidence. One participant described the feeling as "this pushing that I've always felt I need to do in my life."

Others related it to the work ethic their families had instilled in them along with a belief that "there's always things that you can manipulate and change and develop that will

make things better." Participants described relying on internal forms of motivational encouragement to overcome self-confidence issues. A participant shared an example of his willingness to listen to himself, stating, "I remember standing in front of Cal State Fullerton and looking at those buildings and thinking, 'OK. I'm coming in. I'm going to get my bachelor's. I'm going to get my teaching credential."

Common Theme 2: Celebrate unique perspective. Roughly 57% of all participants also highlighted intentional techniques they chose to celebrate the unique perspective they added to situations as the way they coped with a lack of self-confidence. Participants indicated that taking time to remind themselves of the expertise they possessed, positioning themselves to draw upon the talents they knew they possessed, and not apologizing for personal style all represented examples of the unique perspectives supporting their self-confidence. One participant shared, "I accepted the fact that I would process information in a different format than what the average person would, and I think that is kind of being true to myself." Similarly, another participant expressed greater self-confidence after being told, "I like your conference calls because you talk from the heart."

Common Theme 3: Embrace positive feedback. Approximately 43% of all participants noted the importance of learning how to accept and embrace positive feedback as a way to cope with self-confidence issues. Participants highlighted that it was easier to recognize direct feedback, as one participant shared, "The vice president was constantly commenting about my ability, my knowledge based around legal issues, or conduct stuff that I didn't realize that my own skills and capabilities was beyond what she had experienced prior."

Similarly, participants also mentioned how they learned to identify and recognize that indirect comments could be just as powerful. One participant noted,

He [my supervisor] said to the other person, "If you can't learn to work with him [participant], then you need to leave because he's not leaving." I have to tell you, that did something for me. I always felt like it was my fault when something happened, and I really appreciated he made me feel like I was OK the way I was.

**Depression.** Table 19 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address feelings of depression.

Table 19

Depression: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic	Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Depression	1. Remember priorities	11	18
	2. Assess situations and personal mindset	7	13
	3. Celebrate being valued by others	4	4

Common Theme 1: Remember priorities. Approximately 79% of all participants expressed a need to focus on their identified priorities to cope with feelings of depression. Some described these priorities as values, and others regarded them as goals. Participants noted that the purpose was to reduce any potential for feeling overwhelmed or unsatisfied. One participant explained, "You turn down asks for things because if I don't enjoy it, if it doesn't trigger some creative juices in me, or some kind of idealism or value system in me, then there's no sense in me doing it." Another participant related the importance of recognizing personal limitations, stating, "I've learned over my life to realize I'm only one person, and I can only do what one person can do."

Common Theme 2: Assess situations and mindset. Exactly 50% of all participants explained the importance of proactively assessing their needs as an opportunity to address situations that could produce feelings of depression. Participants explained the critical nature of approaching situations in an organized manner and anticipating what steps needed to be taken. One participant described that his approach to situations included asking himself,

How am I going to fit this in? What do I need to do to get ready for it? It's really about how am I going to manage another task and what do I give up to take the time to do this new task?

Further, one participant highlighted his need to slow down and assess his mindset, sharing,

I realize that it's more my setting it aside and processing it more. During the course of whatever period of time, it will come into my head, I'll noodle on it for a while, and then it will go away.

Common Theme 3: Celebrate being valued by others. Approximately 29% of all participants shared that learning to celebrate how much others valued them helped them cope with feelings of depression. One participant suggested that feeling valued differed from accepting positive feedback, noting, "It definitely impacts the feeling about myself and my self-worth; I realize I'm somebody that's valued." Gestures like a boss taking time to unexpectedly acknowledge him led another participant to realize, "Holy God, wow! In my head, I'm feeling like I'm not getting things done. I'm not prioritizing appropriately. There are things I just can't get on top of. But he doesn't see all that. He sees something different."

**Perfectionism.** Table 20 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address perfectionism.

Table 20

Perfectionism: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic	Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Perfectionism	1. Accept adversity	9	13
	2. Celebrate success	8	10

Common Theme 1: Accept adversity. Roughly 64% of all participants agreed that learning there were situations when they needed to acknowledge that their perfectionism was adding no value was an important coping mechanism. One participant shared, "I think you have to look at all situations individually and question, When is perfectionism a good thing? When does it add to versus when does it take away? There's times, for me, I know it takes away." Another participant mentioned, "There's a point now [where I know] I can reword [a] sentence a little better, but it's not going to make . . . a difference. It's still good." Similarly, recognizing his internal belief that "it's never going to be right" allowed one participant to moderate his inclination to always be perfect.

Common Theme 2: Celebrate success. Approximately 57% of all participants mentioned the importance of appreciating their sense of perfectionism as the way to cope with perfectionism. Whereas some may see perfectionism as a negative characteristic, one participant highlighted, "I think people appreciate my perfectionism because they're not having to redo my work." Similarly, another participant noted, "I can't ever think in my professional career when I've received criticism or even feedback that 'No, we wish

you would dial this back a little." One participant explained how he had learned how to manage his perfectionism and still find success, sharing,

With winter programs, it doesn't have to be perfect, it just has to be. The parents are going there just to see their kid get up and have a good time and to sing and enjoy the moment. I just need to make sure that moment's going to happen.

That's my job.

**Procrastination.** Table 21 presents two common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address procrastination.

Table 21

Procrastination: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic	Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Procrastination	1. Identify lessons learned	10	13
	2. Thoroughly evaluate projects	7	12

Common Theme 1: Identify lessons learned. Close to 72% of all participants described that the lessons they learned over time had helped them learn how to cope with procrastination. One participant learned the impact his procrastination had on others and noted, "I always know you can't let it go too long because that makes them even more angry when nobody gets back to them." Another participant noted the personal sense of accomplishment he felt by learning to manage his procrastination, stating, "I pride myself on being responsive and making things happen. They're [other employees and supervisors are] like, 'I need this,' and then you stop what you're doing, and you do that." Further, one participant realized the negative effect procrastination had on him, sharing,

"I like to have things done before they are due or way before the deadline. That feeling of the last minute is not good for me."

Common Theme 2: Thoroughly evaluate projects. Roughly 58% of all participants mentioned taking time to think through projects in advance as a way to cope with procrastination. Participants suggested that setting time aside allowed for a better final product. One participant said planning ahead "gives me time and space to ruminate about it, reflect, and to come up with the best solution."

Several participants described specific actions they took to avoid procrastination on big projects. One participant offered, "I'll just have a Word document sitting on my desktop about the project. If I think of something in the middle of doing something else, I'll open that document and write myself a little note for later." Another participant shared his strategy, stating,

I've had a rough draft in my head for a number of months and on paper for about the last 2 weeks. I want to make sure the letter is really, really good, and so I worked more on it a little bit earlier this week.

**Self-presentation.** Table 22 presents three common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address their self-presentation.

Table 22

Self-Presentation: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic		Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Self-presentation	1.	Present an authentic self	11	25
	2.	Negotiate based upon expectations	11	17
	3.	Respect boundaries	8	9

Common Theme 1: Present an authentic self. Approximately 79% of all participants mentioned the importance of representing themselves as authentically as possible. One participant shared, "I don't think I give people my best when I'm not giving them all of me." Another expressed the importance of finding a supportive environment and shared, "I can totally be myself. Yeah, I was not being my authentic self for many, many years." Participants described a journey they followed to recognize their authentic self. One participant shared,

Working through lots of different aspects of your own personal life, you come to that perspective about how other people perceive you. Then, you still have to turn some of that off and say, "It's not me; it's their perspective of me."

Common Theme 2: Negotiate based upon expectations. Roughly 79% of all participants also described developing an appreciation for different situations that called for adjusting their self-presentation. Participants agreed that it was a necessary skill to possess, with one noting, "You renegotiate that with yourself as to what society tells you you should be . . . what is good behavior." Another participant added, "It's just a matter of what is necessary information, verbally, nonverbally, to say, to get out there at the time. I think anyone who is successful in any career is always going to change." One participant stressed that personal adjustments should not be considered disingenuous but rather stated,

There's one thing to have meeting etiquette; there's another to just be really conscious of how I speak, what I say, when I'm speaking. That when I do speak, something that comes out of my mouth is valued or meaningful. That I'm not just talking for the sake of talking.

Common Theme 3: Respect boundaries. Approximately 57% of all participants highlighted learning how to respect the boundaries others had and how that affected their approach to self-presentation. One participant explained that learning how to navigate relationships with others was important and stated, "We all had to be on the same page. That was an adjustment. It wasn't negative. It was something I had to learn." Another participant shared, "He's still the city manager, so I'm not going to be cutting up with him and stuff. But I have a little less of a guard up with him." Further, another participant learned the importance of respecting others when addressing them under unpleasant circumstances as a supervisor and noted,

People have real feelings. They're real people. Even though you may not feel they're doing their job effectively, it doesn't mean that they don't think they're doing their job effectively. They're doing the best that they possibly can. I always try to be respectful of the person I am talking to.

**Emotional exhaustion.** Table 23 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address emotional exhaustion.

Table 23

Emotional Exhaustion: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic		Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Emotional exhaustion	1.	Realign thoughts and actions	12	26
	2.	Focus on values	11	28
	3.	Regain power	9	20

Common Theme 1: Realign thoughts and actions. Nearly 86% of all participants expressed a process they followed to realign their internal thought processes and actions they took as a way to cope with emotional exhaustion. Participants noted the need to reflect on their willingness to reduce the number of hours they worked without compromising their work ethic. One participant described the conscious effort he made and said, "I think that discipline has helped me because I started saying, 'OK. I'm only going to work until 5:00 or 6:00, and then that's it. What doesn't get done doesn't get done." Another participant added, "I realized I had gone beyond that threshold. Then I chopped off a bunch of things and canceled it and knew that I wasn't doing enough to take care of myself."

Several participants described a willingness to make personal sacrifices, realizing the long-term benefits. One participant explained his decision to pursue his master's degree and shared, "I'm not going to retire for 25 years. Do I want to have options in the future? How can you not do it? It's annoying, and I don't want to have to do it, but how do you not?" Similarly, another participant considering a promotion opportunity said, "OK, so instead of commuting for 20 minutes, I'm going to commute for an hour and 15 minutes but knowing that that wasn't going to be permanent for me."

Common Theme 2: Focus on values. Roughly 79% of all participants expressed the importance of considering their values as a way to cope with emotional exhaustion. Participants mentioned that finding meaning in projects or work tasks was important, with one stating, "I want to do it [work] because of its creative potential and to make delight in the world." Similarly, another participant shared, "I guess really underneath it all, I wanted to be able to kind of give back what was given to me in education."

Participants noted that satisfying their personal values reduced their feelings of stress or unhappiness in life. One participant, despite his true passion for more creative opportunities, shared how he continued working in the field of accounting because he acknowledged the contribution he was making to his current organization. He noted, "Here I don't even mind accounting because it's the whole thing that I'm doing here that makes me feel good. It's not what I would call a job. It's doing something good." Similarly, one participant stressed that knowing his skill set and what would ultimately make him happy was a critical factor in deciding what to do. He stated,

I'm not the kind of person that sells myself well, so I don't want to be a consultant where I have to go out and say, "Look at me. I can do all this great work for you, and I'll do it better than this person can." That's just not who I am. It's nice to know I don't have to compete for my work.

Common Theme 3: Regain power. A little over 64% of all participants suggested that their willingness and confidence to take control of situations helped them cope with emotional exhaustion. Rather than relinquishing control to others, one participant noted, "I did that so that I had control of my time in a way that allowed me to do my community work and still have some part of my time for my business life." Another participant noted, "I don't want a life on hyperdrive where everything I do and say and every decision I make is scrutinized." One participant, reflecting on whether taking control could be a negative step to take, said,

It works for me because I can be in control of it [project]. It's knowing that this is what you expect, this is the date, and then really taking a look at your markers that

you put in. So if you plan you can do x, y, and z, then you know you need to do x, then y, and then z.

**Fear of failure.** Table 24 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address fear of failure.

Table 24

Fear of Failure: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic	Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Fear of failure	1. Reframe the thought process	14	40
	2. Strive to make the best of a situation	11	20
	3. Follow instincts	10	14

Common Theme 1: Reframe the thought process. Unanimously, 100% of the participants mentioned the need to work hard to reframe their thoughts in order to cope with their fear of failure. Several participants stressed the importance of looking at the greater impact they had on a project. One participant reminded himself of the impact he made and said, "Because it is giving back. It is helping other people who can't always stand up and don't have a voice to speak for themselves, don't have the ability or the wherewithal." Similarly, another participant shared, "I realized I wouldn't have had the impact and made the difference that I did. That felt good for me."

Recognizing the personal impact of risking failure was also mentioned by several participants as a way to cope with their fear of failure. One participant consciously reminded himself, "I don't want to have failures even though I realize, too, that from some of the failures I've had, I've learned something, and that's helped me, too. . . . We actually learn more than when we succeed." Further, another participant mentioned the

personal impact of ignoring his fears and said, "This is what inspires me, this is what's powerful to me. It is what I know I'm going to be happy doing versus doing something that my family thinks is successful because it makes money."

Common Theme 2: Strive to make the best of a situation. Approximately 79% of all participants made references to reconsidering situations they faced and making the best out of them as the way to cope with a fear of failure. One participant noted that his need to position himself for the future served as his motivation to override his fear of pursuing an advanced degree and said, "I knew I needed that if I'm going to show people that I want to move up." Another participant described his willingness to work hard to honor his commitments and noted, "Whatever I have to do, give it that little extra, and that's a plus, I guess."

Other participants suggested that their goal of surpassing the expectations others had of them helped them cope with the fear that they might fail. One participant described the holiday decorations he used for his conference room and noted, "I want them to be as brilliant, bold, and just bodacious as they can be because I want people to come into something like this room, and I want them to feel like, 'Wow!'" Another participant conveyed how important understanding his boss's expectations was to help him reduce his fears and shared, "When I present things to her, it's in a packaged way: 'OK, so we had this problem and here was the solution. What do you think?""

Common Theme 3: Follow instincts. Nearly 72% of all participants highlighted how much they listened to their own instincts as a way to cope with any fear of failing. A participant described his willingness to trust his feelings as an opportunity to find "a level of comfort that I know what I'm going into." Another participant explained,

A lot of it's visual, intuitive stuff that's going on. Then it stews around and usually comes out in a logical way that I can communicate it. It's not instantaneous. It takes a lot of stewing and working it through.

Another participant explained that his commitment to his chosen career path helped him disregard discouraging comments feeding into his fear of failure and allowed him to focus on his professional goals. He noted, "I knew at some point I want to be a dean of students, maybe a VP [vice president]. I didn't let that comment get to me because I really thought it was a very limiting comment." One participant highlighted, "You kind of get to the point where you go, 'OK, I'm more confident about the fact that, yeah, that's pretty good."

**Fear of success.** Table 25 presents the common themes shared by the study participants regarding what coping skills they used to address fear of success.

Table 25

Fear of Success: Common Themes in All Participant Responses

Behavioral characteristic	Theme	Number of respondents	Frequency of responses
Fear of success	1. Seek balance	7	9
	2. Appreciate challenges	5	8
	3. Seek valuable colleagues	5	6

Common Theme 1: Seek balance. Exactly 50% of all participants described the attention they paid to their environment as a way to cope with the fear of success. One participant described that the relationship he developed with his colleagues was a critical element to feeling successful and said, "I think I've worked in, especially with the county, a very encouraging atmosphere." Another participant mentioned the research he

did before considering new professional opportunities and said, "I look for the mission statement, what the actual job would entail, and whether it's something I would want to do."

Other participants focused on the kind of impact they had as a key factor in coping with their fear of success. One participant remembered a time when he questioned why he chose to remain in nonprofit work, knowing he could make more money elsewhere. He realized, "That was something that I can look back at and say, 'You know what? That was meaningful. That was interesting. That was exciting." Similarly, another participant explained, "I'm at the right place for me. I get to run a department and work with a great team of people to make a difference and to bring education, knowledge, testing, and linkage to care for people."

Common Theme 2: Appreciate challenges. Nearly 36% of all participants described how important it was for them to learn to appreciate challenges as a way to cope with their fear of success. One participant expressed that his willingness to take risks and recognize the benefits of doing so proved to be important to his professional and personal growth. He said, "I take that task on and say, 'OK, this allows me to further prove myself to this group on how amazing I am." Another participant shared the belief in forcing himself to take challenges and added,

Your strengths are your weaknesses, and your weaknesses are your strengths. I think it's good that you can do it [accept challenges]. I think what you have to go through sometimes to get it, to make it happen, it's difficult for those around you and for you, too.

Participants mentioned an inclination to question their willingness to pursue challenging opportunities but expressed how much easier it became each time they did so. One participant described doubting his knowledge when deciding whether to accept new responsibilities but said, "I don't have any of that, but if it was presented to me, I don't know that I would say no. It's what's the best thing at the time for me." Another participant expressed the importance of trusting himself to listen to words of encouragement and said,

I had all these things in my head, but I went ahead and went for it [a new job] because somebody said, "You should do it; we think you'd be great; we know your quality of work, we know that there's going to be things you absolutely don't have direct experience in, but there's a lot of experiences you do have that we think would be helpful."

Common Theme 3: Seek valuable colleagues. Approximately 36% of all participants mentioned the important role that valuable colleagues played in helping them cope with their fear of success. Participants mentioned supervisors, peers, and colleagues in other organizations as influential individuals who made a difference.

One participant mentioned the relationship he developed with his supervisor and said, "She's been very much a mentor person to me, so she's always, at least for the last 3 or 4 years, been trying to groom me to take that position." Similarly, another participant added how much he appreciated others inspiring him to follow his passion and said, "My direct supervisor was always encouraging me to take the next step."

Participants also stressed the importance of building strong internal and external professional relationships beyond those in a direct supervisory role. A participant

described a difficult situation working with someone from an outside agency and said, "They hashed it out at their level, and then I called her back the next week just to . . . [encourage] relationship building." Equally important to another participant was identifying trusted peers within an organization to support him. He shared, "I want to do it, and I want to be involved with people that I respect, that I can learn from, and that are doing it for the same reason I'm doing it."

#### **Summary**

This chapter presented a summary of responses collected from 14 study participants. Each participant responded to a set of open-ended, semistructured interview questions designed to explore how he coped with nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP.

The 14 participants were all leaders in civic or nonprofit agencies in California and completed an initial survey to determine the extent to which each of them had impostor experiences. Once a participant was identified as an individual who had moderate to intense impostor experiences, the researcher interviewed him in person. The researcher recorded all 14 interviews using a handheld recording device as well as a recording application on an iPhone to ensure accurate transcription of each conversation.

The researcher analyzed all of the collected data and identified two to four common themes among participants within each of the nine behavioral characteristics. First, participants stated that anticipating what needed to be done, seeking alternative solutions, engaging in positive self-talk, and taking one step at a time effectively helped them cope with feelings of anxiety. Second, participants cited learning to celebrate their unique perspectives, demonstrating a willingness to keep striving for success, and

embracing positive feedback as factors that helped them cope with low levels of selfconfidence. Third, participants stressed that reminding themselves of their priorities, assessing situations and their mindset about them, and celebrating being valued by others assisted them in coping with feelings of depression. Fourth, participants described that learning to accept adversity and identifying when it was time to celebrate their success made a difference in how they coped with feelings of perfectionism. Fifth, participants shared the impact of identifying what lessons they had learned and the importance of thoroughly evaluating projects and tasks as effective methods for coping with their inclination to procrastinate. Sixth, participants believed in the importance of presenting an authentic self, learning to negotiate situations based upon expectations, and respecting the boundaries of others as well as their own to help them cope with any concerns about their self-presentation. Seventh, participants felt it was important to take time to realign their thoughts, to focus on their values, and to regain power over situations in order to cope with emotional exhaustion. Eighth, participants described that their efforts to reframe how they thought about situations, to make the best out of each one, and to follow their instincts helped them cope with the fear of failure. Finally, participants expressed that their focus on seeking balance, recognizing valuable colleagues, and learning to appreciate challenges helped them cope with the fear of success.

# CHAPTER V: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

A summary of the study's findings is presented in this final chapter. The chapter begins by reiterating the purpose, research question, and methodology that guided the study, followed by the descriptions of the population and sample of participants. Next, the chapter describes the findings and conclusions based upon the research question. The chapter also includes implications for action as well as the researcher's recommendations for further research. Finally, the researcher concludes the chapter by sharing his personal reflections and comments.

## **Summary of the Study**

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this descriptive, mixed-methods case study was to explore and describe the coping skills used to overcome nine behavioral characteristics by gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the impostor phenomenon (IP) by the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS; Clance, 1985).

#### **Research Question**

This study was designed to answer the following research question:

What coping skills do gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who are identified as experiencing the IP, using the CIPS (Clance, 1985), use to overcome nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP?

- 1. Anxiety
- 2. Lack of self-confidence

- 3. Depression
- 4. Perfectionism
- 5. Procrastination
- 6. Self-presentation
- 7. Emotional exhaustion
- 8. Fear of failure
- 9. Fear of success

# Methodology

This mixed-methods, descriptive case study included several steps to gather the quantitative and qualitative data reported in the study. First, the researcher contacted a number of gay men who were serving in leadership positions at the time of the study and were willing to complete the CIPS without the researcher disclosing what the CIPS was measuring. Next, the researcher invited those with CIPS scores higher than 45 to participate in an interview conducted in person that included semistructured, open-ended questions. The researcher recorded each interview using both a handheld recording device and a recording application on his iPhone that allowed the recorded conversation to be submitted for professional transcription. Next, the researcher and each interview participant reviewed his individual transcript to ensure accurate recording of his responses. The researcher uploaded all transcripts into NVivo coding software in order to elicit themes and patterns. An individual with her doctorate in education reviewed and analyzed the same transcripts and initial coding that the researcher completed. The two compared results and adjusted a few codes to ensure they agreed. Consequently, they

found a high percentage of consistency and accuracy between their coding results and satisfied interrater reliability.

## **Population and Sample**

The participants for this study were self-identified gay men currently serving in civic or nonprofit agency leadership roles in California. The focus on civic and nonprofit agencies supported the researcher's interest in exploring how impostorism influences individuals in a specific career field similar to his own. The criteria used to identify the study sample required prospective participants to score at least 45 out of 100 on the CIPS, indicating they had either moderate, frequent, or intense IP experiences. The sample for this mixed-methods, descriptive case study consisted of 14 participants. This group of gay men met all of the criteria required to participate in this study.

#### **Major Findings**

The research question that guided this study analyzed the skills that gay men in civic or nonprofit leadership roles use to cope with nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP. The research question and data collected from 14 interviews reflected a number of common approaches that different individuals used to cope with each of the characteristics that affected them. The major findings of this study are presented according to each of the nine behavioral characteristics.

### **Major Finding 1**

The first major finding was that 86% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP identified the importance of anticipating what needed to be done as their primary way of coping with feelings of anxiety. Further, 71% of them outlined alternative solutions they explored to address

situations that created anxiety for them, further supporting a proactive approach to reducing or eliminating anxiety as a hindrance to their success. One participant described this proactive approach as fixing anything that could possibly go wrong ahead of time and, therefore, taking control of a situation that would otherwise create self-doubt.

### **Major Finding 2**

The second major finding indicated that 57% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP expressed the importance of learning how to identify internal factors that motivated them along with honoring their unique outlook on situations as a way to cope with low levels of self-confidence. Participants described accepting challenges with a willingness to push as hard as it took to find success while recognizing the possibility of encountering limitations over which they had no control. Further, participants described feeling more confident about their actions after acknowledging their past accomplishments.

# **Major Finding 3**

According to 79% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP, focusing on priorities was essential in coping with depression. Participants shared examples of both personal and professional priorities that remained critical to remember as they learned to manage the expectations they set for themselves. For instance, identifying the personal value that involvement in a project offered, remembering the reason for choosing a particular career path, and recognizing their need to work in a supportive environment all contributed to feelings of self-worth and competence.

### **Major Finding 4**

According to 64% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP, acknowledging the extent to which achieving perfection was important to the success of a project helped them cope with their tendency to be perfectionists. While participants appreciated the benefits of their willingness to strive for perfection, learning to understand that others defined success in additional ways also helped participants embrace imperfection when perfection was unnecessary.

Further, learning how to accept imperfection if it allowed the participants to complete a project or to realize the lack of negative impact imperfection would have on others reinforced the value of accepting the thought one participant shared of being a "perfectly flawed human being."

# **Major Finding 5**

The fifth major finding indicated that 77% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP cited learning from prior experiences when they procrastinated as the key to learning to cope with the inclination to keep doing it. While often considered a negative characteristic, participants shared the value of controlling procrastination and using that time to pursue a thoughtful approach to tasks or projects. In addition, participants reflected on what impact their procrastination had on others that could circle back to the participants, causing distress or feelings of inadequacy.

### **Major Finding 6**

According to 79% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP, authentically presenting themselves was a critical

factor to consider when coping with questions about their self-presentation. In addition, remaining attentive to the circumstances of their situation, including who else was present, the expected level of professional conduct, and even their speech patterns, was an equally important factor concerning their self-presentation. The participants described finding a level of comfort regarding how to be transparent with others about their feelings. Further, worrying less about how they were perceived and being more concerned about remaining true to their personal values helped minimize feelings of fear or distress. Nevertheless, participants also suggested that the need to recognize how to navigate different situations reinforced the impression of being a genuine person that they wished others to have of them.

# **Major Finding 7**

The seventh major finding indicated that 86% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP stressed the importance of internally adjusting their thoughts and actions as a way to cope with feelings of emotional exhaustion. In an effort to break a cycle of feeling overwhelmed or overextended, participants detailed specific steps including reevaluating their priorities, renegotiating commitments, and recognizing unhealthy situations that provided no intrinsic value to the participants. Participants noted that these concrete steps allowed them to focus on what values they had while retaining a sense of control over situations that might be detrimental to their own sense of personal well-being.

### Major Finding 8

Another key finding revealed that 100% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP described intentional

approaches they took to reconsider how they coped with the fear of failure. Actively considering the contributions that they could make to new challenges helped participants overcome the fear of taking risks despite knowing one possible outcome might be failure. Further, taking time to reflect on prior successes and acknowledging the lessons learned from prior failures supported the participants' willingness to continue to follow their instincts when considering future opportunities. Moreover, the desire to make a difference or to honor commitments they made contributed to the participants' willingness to overcome their fear of failing.

# **Major Finding 9**

The final major finding was that 50% of gay men serving in civic or nonprofit leadership roles who were identified as experiencing the IP suggested that their focus on finding a supportive environment surrounded by encouraging colleagues helped them cope with the fear of success. Participants noted that they sought environments that celebrated and appreciated their contributions without the need to feel competitive. Further, learning to appreciate new challenges as opportunities to excel and demonstrate their value to an organization represented an ideal mindset for the participants versus worrying about what might happen. Similarly, participants described supportive environments as offering the chance to explore new opportunities that could provide long-term support of future career aspirations.

### **Unexpected Findings**

The data collected, transcribed, and coded for this study explored how gay male leaders experiencing feelings of impostorism coped with nine behavioral characteristics associated with the IP. The findings suggested that these leaders invested a significant

amount of time in reflecting on their prior accomplishments as a primary way to cope with each characteristic. Further, the time devoted to self-reflection offered an opportunity to focus on their personal and professional priorities, their values, and how to successfully navigate future challenges. The researcher was not surprised about the importance of positive self-reflection but did identify some unexpected findings during the data collection process.

### **Unexpected Finding 1**

The researcher hesitated to include depression as one of the behavioral characteristics, recognizing his lack of formal training in diagnosing or identifying signs of depression. The researcher was concerned this lack of training would prohibit his ability to pose questions that would elicit the types of responses that a nonclinician could comfortably classify as linked to feelings of depression. As data collection continued, the participants unknowingly and frequently offered specific coping skills they used to manage their concern over an inability to reach self-imposed expectations without specifically mentioning feelings of depression.

# **Unexpected Finding 2**

The level of confidence participants expressed in how they presented themselves coupled with minimal concern over how others perceived them was unexpected.

Contrary to the IP literature suggesting that impostors present themselves negatively to seek support from others, this study's participants described drawing strength from establishing their own set of criteria for how they wished to be perceived by others.

### **Unexpected Finding 3**

Despite having moderate to intense impostor experiences, the participants expressed an unexpected level of optimism and self-confidence. The focus the participants placed on reframing their mindsets when experiencing doubt, seeking challenges as a way to demonstrate their capabilities, and remaining mindful of how to manage stressful situations demonstrated the value they placed on positive coping and self-reflection.

#### **Conclusions**

#### **Conclusion 1**

Individuals coping with impostor experiences should seek work environments that encourage and offer an opportunity to accept challenges but that also offer regular and specific feedback to help them gauge their progress. Clance (1985) noted that impostors "know intellectually that failure is a necessary part of living" but will "avoid it at all costs" (p. 63). Unlike impostors who remain paralyzed and unwilling to challenge themselves, this study's participants demonstrated their willingness to accept the possibility that they could find success and build greater levels of self-confidence. As Participant 2 noted, "You kind of get to the point where you go, 'OK, I'm more confident about the fact that, yeah, that's pretty good.""

#### **Conclusion 2**

Individuals who have moderate to intense impostor experiences should take time to evaluate their personal and professional values. Further, the decisions they make and actions they take should align to support those values. Participants highlighted that the positive outcomes of doing so included an opportunity to experience the professional

fulfillment that supported their willingness to work hard. As Participant 13 noted, "It's really that their [his students'] lives ultimately are a response of what it is that you do every day. The reality, the hard truth of that, never leaves me." However, remaining mindful not to sacrifice relationships with family and friends represented an example of critical social support used to manage emotional exhaustion (Whitman & Shanine, 2012).

#### **Conclusion 3**

Individuals dealing with moderate to intense impostor experiences need to have the confidence to trust their instincts to a greater extent than they may feel comfortable doing. Whether applied to managing feelings of anxiety or the need to be perfect, participants expressed that their willingness to trust themselves more frequently helped them cope with impostor experiences. Participant 12 noted, "The only thing I can do is throw it [goals] all up on the whiteboard and then create some deadlines and hope that I can get there, but at least I have targets." In the case of perfectionists, Clance (1985) noted, "The thought of easing up and expecting less of themselves creates almost immediate panic" (p. 87). Instead of succumbing to this panic, Participant 7 noted, "I always try to be unique; to give something to a task; to have a mini legacy on it."

# **Implications for Action**

The conclusions drawn from this study suggest specific implications for action by individuals coping with impostor experiences as well as the organizations for which they work. The researcher recommends the following actions based upon the review of literature and data analysis presented in this study.

# **Implication 1**

Identifying and striving to support personal and professional values helps impostors redirect negative feelings associated with the IP. Individuals need to *develop a strategy that routinely reminds them of their values*, which could include writing them down on paper or maintaining some other record they routinely review and reevaluate.

# **Implication 2**

Those having moderate to intense impostor experiences need to *establish a clear* set of personal expectations prior to beginning any new project. Results from this study reflect that positive coping occurs when individuals set high goals but, in advance, also include what is acceptable to them regarding the final product or the expectations they have of the contributions others will make.

# **Implication 3**

Those experiencing impostor characteristics should *define a specific pathway of steps* they wish to follow to help minimize anxiety about the unknown and potential fear of failure. The series of steps may include making lists of tasks to accomplish for a particular project, what tasks they will complete in a given time period, or what actions they feel may be necessary to advance along a chosen career path.

# **Implication 4**

Individuals coping with impostor experiences should thoughtfully *observe the* environment and consider what questions they should ask prospective employers during job interviews. Examples might include exploring the frequency of feedback and the type of supervision to be expected. Further, asking questions about the pace of the

organization and what kind of projects or deadlines to expect would provide critical insight about the type of atmosphere they would encounter.

# **Implication 5**

As a deeply personal and often unspoken quality, impostors may remain invisible to those with whom they interact. For this reason, organizations should *develop* awareness training tailored to different constituencies like student groups, employee groups, or human resources officers. This would raise awareness about the IP for those in a position to support impostors. Further, it would provide an opportunity for individuals who have yet to acknowledge the reason behind their feelings to identify positive coping strategies to assist them as they manage their internal experiences.

# **Implication 6**

Organizations actively pursuing succession planning should *identify established* leaders who experience IP characteristics and create opportunities for them to interact with pools of future leaders. The goal of normalizing the IP experience will provide vehicles for establishing mentoring relationships and support diversity initiatives around inclusion.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

The findings from this mixed-methods case study provide a frame for additional research about how individuals cope with characteristics associated with the IP.

Recommendations for further study about coping with these characteristics include the following:

- The current study included 14 gay men in civic or nonprofit leadership roles in California. In order to deepen this study, this research should be replicated in other parts of the United States and internationally.
- 2. A comparative study should be conducted between gay men and other members of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) community to explore and describe any differences or similarities regarding IP characteristics and their associated coping strategies.
- 3. Sexual orientation was used to define the specific population included in this study. A comparative study should be conducted between sexual minorities and heterosexual individuals to explore any differences that emerge regarding how each group copes with IP behavioral characteristics.
- 4. Leadership was used to define the specific population included in this study. A comparative study should be conducted between those in leadership roles and those in support roles to explore any differences that emerge regarding how each group copes with IP behavioral characteristics.
- 5. A comparative study should be conducted between gay men in civic and nonprofit leadership roles and gay men in corporate or for-profit leadership roles regarding the IP characteristics and the coping strategies they use.
- 6. The methodology of this study included minimizing disclosure of the IP as the primary focus prior to each participant's involvement. A study should be conducted that includes full disclosure of the IP with its participants to discover any alternative coping strategies that may emerge when there is full awareness of the primary construct.

7. A gap in research surrounding how some racial and ethnic groups cope with the IP still exists. Conducting a quantitative study that collects data through a survey or questionnaire regarding potential differences in IP coping strategies would increase the number of participants and backgrounds represented.

# **Concluding Remarks and Reflections**

The IP is a relatively new and unknown named construct dating back to 1978. At the time, the country was experiencing a shift in societal norms, including the advancement of women's rights and an increased focus on the gay rights movement.

Research about the construct has been sporadic over the past 39 years and tended to focus on women. More recently, various professions have become a focus of research on how individuals are affected by the IP, with limited discussion about how individuals actually cope with the negative characteristics often associated with it. I believe that exploring the experiences of a group of men who have dealt with their sexual minority status and the IP will be the start of future research to help support healthy coping strategies by those who still face similar personal and, most often, unseen challenges.

The 14 men who participated in this study admitted that they still battle feelings of self-doubt in some part of their personal and professional lives on almost a daily basis. However, each has developed his own unique way to cope that has allowed him to find great success in his career while focusing on leading a personal life that keeps him in balance. Of the 14, only one participant struck me as someone who is still working to overcome some of his most difficult internal struggles. Nevertheless, he described other coping skills that allow him to present the optimistic and self-confident outlook all 14 exhibited. After realizing that the participants were typically responding to the questions

from their perspective as leaders, I wondered if their candid responses about the IP characteristics would have changed if they had known why the nine characteristics were specifically chosen.

As a fellow impostor and gay man, this study became an important personal journey for me even beyond the academic challenge it represented. It produced many opportunities to explore my childhood with my mother, to assure her that the term *impostor* is not a bad thing in this context, to dig deeper to find strength I never knew existed, and to normalize the feelings of doubt I, too, have experienced for as long as I can remember. Equally important, I had the chance to learn new strategies that others employ to successfully navigate some of the same challenges I face and how they can become part of my own coping skills.

Finally, when I came out of the closet as a gay man, I remember feeling like I had joined an exclusive club of individuals who were the only ones who knew what was going on in my head. As I approach the final words of this dissertation, I look forward to joining a second club of individuals who can understand the rollercoaster of emotions only a fellow dissertation student could ever describe. Most importantly, completing this study has allowed me to join a third club of people who, unfortunately, may or may not know each other exist but whom I hope this dissertation can somehow play a part in connecting in the future.

#### REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. (2015). What are anxiety disorders? Retrieved from https://psychiatry.org/patients-families/anxiety-disorders/what-are-anxiety-disorders?ga=1.47826596.2045790976.1470499115
- American Psychological Association. (2016). Sexual orientation and homosexuality:

  Answers to your questions for a better understanding. Retrieved from

  http://www.apa.org/topics/lgbt/orientation.aspx
- Austenfeld, J. L., & Stanton, A. L. (2004). Coping through emotional approach: A new look at emotion, coping, and health-related outcomes. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1335-1363.
- Bachmann, A. S., & Simon, B. (2014). Society matters: The mediational role of social recognition in the relationship between victimization and life satisfaction among gay men. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 44(3), 195-201. doi:10.1002/ejsp.2007
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership: Good, better, best. *Organizational Dynamics*, 13(3), 26-40.
- Bechtoldt, M. N. (2015). Wanted: Self-doubting employees—Managers scoring positively on impostorism favor insecure employees in task delegation.

  \*Personality and Individual Differences, 86, 482-486.\*

  doi:10.1016/j.paid.2015.07.002
- Bell, M. P., Özbilgin, M. F., Beauregard, T. A., & Sürgevil, O. (2011). Voice, silence, and diversity in 21st century organizations: Strategies for inclusion of gay,

- lesbian, bisexual, and transgender employees. *Human Resource Management*, 50(1), 131-146. doi:10.1002/hrm.20401
- Bennis, W. (2007). The challenges of leadership in the modern world: Introduction to the special issue. *American Psychologist*, 62(1), 2-5. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.62.1.2
- Benozzo, A., Pizzorno, M. C., Bell, H., & Koro-Ljungberg, M. (2015). Coming out, but into what? Problematizing discursive variations of revealing the gay self in the workplace. *Gender, Work and Organization*, 22(3), 292-306. doi:10.1111/gwao.12081
- Bernard, N. S., Dollinger, S. J., & Ramaniah, N. V. (2002). Applying the big five personality factors to the impostor phenomenon. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 78(2), 321-333.
- Bieling, P. J., Israeli, A. L., & Antony, M. M. (2004). Is perfectionism good, bad, or both? Examining models of the perfectionism construct. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *36*, 1373-1385. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(03)00235-6
- Birkett, M., Newcomb, M. E., & Mustanski, B. (2015). Does it get better? A longitudinal analysis of psychological distress and victimization in lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56(3), 280-285. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.10.275
- Blashill, A. J., & Powlishta, K. K. (2009). Gay stereotypes: The use of sexual orientation as a cue for gender-related attributes. *Sex Roles*, 61(11-12), 783-793. doi:10.1007/s11199-009-9684-7

- Bogaert, A. F., & Hafer, C. L. (2009). Predicting the timing of coming out in gay and bisexual men from world beliefs, physical attractiveness, and childhood gender identity/role. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 39(8), 1991-2019.
- Bonanno, G. A., & Burton, C. L. (2013). Regulatory flexibility: An individual dfferences perspective on coping and emotion regulation. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(6), 591-612. doi:10.11777/1745691613504116
- Bromley, H. R., & Kirschner-Bromley, V. A. (2007). Are you a transformational leader? *Physician Executive*, *33*(6), 54-57.
- Brown, J., & Trevethan, R. (2010). Shame, internalized homophobia, identity formation, attachment style, and the connection to relationship status in gay men. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 4(3), 267-276. doi:10.1177/1557988309342002
- Buddel, N. (2011). Queering the workplace. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services:*The Quarterly Journal of Community & Clinical Practice, 23(1), 131-146.

  doi:10.1080/10538720.2010.530176
- Calzo, J. P., Antonucci, T. C., Mays, V. M., & Cochran, S. D. (2011). Retrospective recall of sexual orientation identity development among gay, lesbian, and bisexual adults. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(6), 1658-1673.
- Carver, C. S., & Connor-Smith, J. (2010). Personality and coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61, 679-704. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100352
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(2), 267-283. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.56.2.267

- Caselman, T. D., Self, P. A., & Self, A. L. (2006). Adolescent attributes contributing to the imposter phenomenon. *Journal of Adolescence*, 29, 395-405. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.07.003
- Cass, V. C. (1979). Homosexual identity formation: A theoretical model. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 4(3), 219-235.
- Cass, V. C. (1983). Homosexual identity: A concept in need of definition. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 9(2/3), 105-126.
- Castro, D. M., Jones, R. A., & Mirsalimi, H. (2004). Parentification and the impostor phenomenon: An empirical investigation. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 32(3), 205-216.
- Chae, J.-H., Piedmont, R. L., Estadt, B. K., & Wicks, R. J. (1995). Personological evaluation of Clance's Imposter Phenomenon Scale in a Korean sample. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 65(3), 468-485.
- Cheng, C. (2001). Assessing coping flexibility in real-life and laboratory settings: A multimethod approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(5), 814-833. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.80.5.814
- Chin, J. L., Desormeaux, L., & Sawyer, K. (2016). Making way for paradigms of diversity leadership. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 68(1), 49-71. doi:10.1037/cpb0000051
- Chrisman, S. M., Pieper, W. A., Clance, P. R., Holland, C. L., & Glickauf-Hughes, C. (1995). Validation of the Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 65(3), 456-467.

- Clance, P. R. (1985). *The impostor phenomenon: Overcoming the fear that haunts your success*. Atlanta, GA: Peachtree.
- Clance, P. R., Dingman, D., Reviere, S. L., & Stober, D. R. (1995). Impostor phenomenon in an interpersonal/social context: Origins and treatment. *Women & Therapy*, *16*(4), 79-96.
- Clance, P. R., & Imes, S. A. (1978). The imposter phenomenon in high achieving women: Dynamics and therapeutic intervention. *Psychotherapy: Theory,*\*Research & Practice, 15(3), 241-247. doi:10.1037/h0086006
- Clance, P. R., & O'Toole, M. A. (1987). The imposter phenomenon: An internal barrier to empowerment and achievement. *Women & Therapy*, *6*(3), 51-64. doi:10.1300/J015V06N03\_05
- Clancey, K. (2014). *I pretend to know everything: The impostor phenomenon in male*psychology graduate students (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest

  Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3619517)
- Clark, M., Vardeman, K., & Barba, S. (2014). Perceived inadequacy: A study of the imposter phenomenon among college and research librarians. *College & Research Libraries*, 75(3), 255-271.
- Cokley, K., Awad, G., Smith, L., Jackson, S., Awosogba, O., Hurst, A., . . . Roberts, D. (2015). The roles of gender stigma consciousness, impostor phenomenon and academic self-concept in the academic outcomes of women and men. *Sex Roles:*A Journal of Research, 73(9-10), 414-426.

- Colgan, F., & Wright, T. (2011). Lesbian, gay and bisexual equality in a modernizing public sector 1997-2010: Opportunities and threats. *Gender, Work and Organization*, 18(5), 548-570. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0432.2011.00558.x
- Collins, J. C. (2012). Identity matters: A critical exploration of lesbian, gay, and bisexual identity and leadership in HRD. *Human Resource Development Review*, 11(3), 349-379. doi:10.1177/1534484312446810
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(2), 71-81. doi:10.1111/ajpy.12043
- Connor-Smith, J. K., & Flachsbart, C. (2007). Relations between personality and coping:

  A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(6), 10801107. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.93.6.1080
- Conroy, D. E. (2001). Progress in the development of a multidimensional measure of fear of failure: The Performance Failure Appraisal Inventory (PFAI). *Anxiety, Stress & Coping, 14*(4), 431-452.
- Conroy, D. E., Kaye, M. P., & Fifer, A. M. (2007). Cognitive links between fear of failure and perfectionism. *Journal of Rational-Emotive and Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 25(4), 237-253. doi:10.1007/s10942-007-0052-7
- Courtney, S. J. (2014). Inadvertently queer school leadership amongst lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) school leaders. *Organization*, 21(3), 383-399. doi:10.1177/1350508413519762

- Cowman, S. E., & Ferrari, J. R. (2002). "Am I for real?" Predicting impostor tendencies from self-handicapping and affective components. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 30(2), 119-125.

  doi:10.2224/sbp.2002.30.2.119
- Cox, N., Dewaele, A., Van Houtte, M., & Vincke, J. (2011). Stress-related growth, coming out, and internalized homonegativity in lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth:

  An examination of stress-related growth within the minority stress model. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 58(1), 117-137. doi:10.1080/00918369.2011.533631
- Cozzarelli, C., & Major, B. (1990). Exploring the validity of the impostor phenomenon.

  \*Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 9(4), 401-417.

  doi:10.1521/jscp.1990.9.4.401
- Craddock, S., Birnbaum, M., Rodriguez, K., Cobb, C., & Zeeh, S. (2011). Doctoral students and the impostor phenomenon: Am I smart enough to be here? *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 48(4), 429-442.
- Crawford, W. S., Shanine, K. K., Whitman, M. V., & Kacmar, K. M. (2016). Examining the impostor phenomenon and work-family conflict. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *31*(2), 375-390. doi:10.1108/JMP-12-2013-0409
- Creed, W. E. D., & Scully, M. A. (2011). Songs of ourselves: Employees' deployment of social identity in workplace encounters. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 20(4), 408-429. doi:10.1177/1056492611432810
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2006). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cromwell, B., Brown, N. W., Sanchez-Huceles, J., & Adair, F. L. (1990). The impostor phenomenon and personality characteristics of high school honor students.

  \*\*Journal of Social Behavior & Personality, 5(6), 563-573.
- Croteau, J. M., Anderson, M. Z., & VanderWal, B. L. (2008). Models of workplace sexual identity disclosure and management: Reviewing and extending concepts.

  \*Group and Organization Management, 33(5), 532-565.\*

  doi:10.1177/1059601108321828
- Cusack, C. E., Hughes, J. L., & Nuhu, N. (2013). Connecting gender and mental health to imposter phenomenon feelings. *Psi Chi Journal of Psychological Research*, 18(2), 74-81.
- Dancy, T. E., II, & Brown, M. C., II. (2011). The mentoring and induction of educators of color: Addressing the impostor syndrome in academe. *Journal of School Leadership*, 21(4), 607-634.
- D'Augelli, A. R. (1991). Gay men in college: Identity processes and adaptations. *Journal of College Student Development*, 32(2), 140-146.
- deLeon, M. J., & Brunner, C. C. (2013). Cycles of fear: A model of lesbian and gay educational leaders' lived experiences. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 49(1), 161-203. doi:10.1177/0013161X12459482

- del Pino, H. E., Moore, M. R., Dacus, J.-d., McCuller, W. J., Fernández, L., & Moore, A.
  A. (2016). Stigma and family relationships of middle-aged gay men in recovery.
  Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services, 28(1), 1-19.
  doi:10.1080/10538720.2016.1124350
- Dube, E. M. (2000). The role of sexual behavior in the identification process of gay and bisexual males. *Journal of Sex Research*, *37*(2), 123-132.
- Dudău, D. P. (2014). The relation between perfectionism and impostor phenomenon.

  \*Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences, 127, 129-133.\*

  doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.226
- Dunlap, A. (2016). Changes in coming out milestones across five age cohorts. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services*, 28(1), 20-38.

  doi:10.1080/10538720.2016.1124351
- Eagly, A. H., & Chin, J. L. (2010). Diversity and leadership in a changing world.

  American Psychologist, 65(3), 216-224. doi:10.1037/a0018957
- Egan, S. J., Piek, J. P., & Dyck, M. J. (2015). Positive and negative perfectionism and the big five personality factors. *Behaviour Change*, *32*(2), 104-113. doi:10.1017/bec.2015.3
- Fassinger, R. E., Shullman, S. L., & Stevenson, M. R. (2010). Toward an affirmative lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender leadership paradigm. *American Psychologist*, 65(3), 201-215.
- Ferrari, J. R. (2005). Impostor tendencies and academic dishonesty: Do they cheat their way to success? *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, *33*(1), 11-17.

- Ferrari, J. R., & Thompson, T. (2006). Impostor fears: Links with self-presentational concerns and self-handicapping behaviours. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40, 341-352. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2005.07.012
- Floyd, F. J., & Bakeman, R. (2006). Coming-out across the life course: Implications of age and historical context. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *35*(3), 287-296. doi:10.1007/s10508-006-9022-x
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R. S., Gruen, R. J., & DeLongis, A. (1986). Appraisal, coping, health status, and psychological symptoms. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *50*(3), 571-579. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.50.3.571
- Folkman, S., & Moskowitz, J. T. (2004). Coping: Pitfalls and promise. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 745-774. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456
- Forenza, B. (2016). Exploring the affirmative role of gay icons in coming out.

  \*Psychology of Popular Media Culture, 1-10. doi:10.1037/ppm0000117
- Fried-Buchalter, S. (1992). Fear of success, fear of failure, and the imposter phenomenon: A factor analytic approach to convergent and discriminant validity. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 58(2), 368-379.
- Fried-Buchalter, S. (1997). Fear of success, fear of failure, and the imposter phenomenon among male and female marketing managers. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, *37*(11-12), 847-859.
- Frost, R. O., Marten, P., Lahart, C., & Rosenblate, R. (1990). The dimensions of perfectionism. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *14*(5), 449-468. doi:10.1007/BF01172967

- Fujie, R. (2010). Development of the State Impostor Phenomenon Scale. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 52(1), 1-11. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5884.2009.00417.x
- Gartzia, L., & Baniandrés, J. (2016). Are people-oriented leaders perceived as less effective in task performance? Surprising results from two experimental studies.

  \*Journal of Business Research, 69(2), 508-516. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.05.008
- Gates, G. J. (2014). *LGBT demographics: Comparisons among population-based*surveys. Retrieved from UCLA School of Law, Williams Institute website:

  http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/lgbt-demogs-sep2014.pdf
- Gibson-Beverly, G., & Schwartz, J. R. (2008). Attachment, entitlement, and the impostor phenomenon in female graduate students. *Journal of College Counseling*, 11(2), 119-132.
- Gorden, R. (1992). *Basic interviewing skills*. Itasca, IL: F. E. Peacock.
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: An integrative review.

  \*Review of General Psychology, 2(3), 271-299.
- Grov, C., Bimbi, D. S., Nanín, J. E., & Parsons, J. T. (2006). Race, ethnicity, gender, and generational factors associated with the coming-out process among gay, lesbian, and bisexual individuals. *Journal of Sex Research*, 43(2), 115-121.
- Harrell, M. C., & Bradley, M. A. (2009). Data collection methods: Semi-structured interviews and focus groups. Retrieved from RAND Corporation website: http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/technical\_reports/2009/RAND\_TR71 8.pdf

- Harvey, J. C., & Katz, C. (1985). *If I'm so successful, why do I feel like a fake?* New York, NY: St. Martin's Press.
- Henning, K., Ey, S., & Shaw, D. (1998). Perfectionism, the imposter phenomenon and psychological adjustment in medical, dental, nursing and pharmacy students.

  \*Medical Education, 32(5), 456-464.
- Hewitt, P. L., Flett, G. L., Sherry, S. B., Habke, M., Parkin, M., Lam, R. W., . . . Stein,
  M. B. (2003). The interpersonal expression of perfection: Perfectionistic self-presentation and psychological distress. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(6), 1303-1325. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.84.6.1303
- Hill, C. A., & Gunderson, C. J. (2015). Resilience of lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals in relation to social environment, personal characteristics, and emotion regulation strategies. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 2(3), 232-252. doi:10.1037/sgd0000129
- Hillman, H. (2013). *The impostor syndrome: Becoming an authentic leader* [Kindle version]. Retrieved from Amazon.com
- Hirschfeld, M. (1985). Is there an impostor in your office? *Management Review*, 74, 44-47.
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *American Psychologist*, 44(3), 513-524.
- Holmes, S. W., Kertay, L., Adamson, L. B., Holland, C. L., & Clance, P. R. (1993).

  Measuring the impostor phenomenon: A comparison of Clance's IP scale and Harvey's I-P scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 60(1), 48.

- Horner, M. S. (1972). Toward an understanding of achievement-related conflicts in women. *Journal of Social Issues*, 28(2), 157-175.
- Horney, K. (1936). Culture and neurosis. American Sociological Review, 1(2), 221-230.
- Hutchins, H. M. (2015). Outing the imposter: A study exploring imposter phenomenon among higher education faculty. *New Horizons in Adult Education & Human Resource Development*, 27(2), 3-12. doi:10.1002/nha3.20098
- Internal Revenue Service. (2016). Exemption requirements—501(c)(3) organizations.

  Retrieved from https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/charitableorganizations/exemption-requirements-section-501-c-3-organizations
- Ivers, J.-H., & Downes, P. (2012). A phenomenological reinterpretation of Horner's fear of success in terms of social class. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 27(3), 369-388. doi:10.1007/s10212-011-0076-3
- Jones, E. E., & Berglas, S. (1978). Control of attributions about the self through self-handicapping strategies: The appeal of alcohol and the role of underachievement.

  \*Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin, 4(2), 200-206.
- Jones, R. A., & Wells, M. (1996). An empirical study of parentification and personality. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 24(2), 145-152.
- Jostl, G., Bergsmann, E., Luftenegger, M., Schober, B., & Spiel, C. (2012). When will they blow my cover? The impostor phenomenon among Austrian doctoral students. *Zeitschrift Fur Psychologie*, 220(2), 109-120.
- Kato, T. (2012). Development of the Coping Flexibility Scale: Evidence for the coping flexibility hypothesis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(2), 262-273. doi:100.1037/a0027770

- Kets de Vries, M. F. R. (2005, September). The dangers of feeling like a fake. *Harvard Business Review*, 108-116.
- Kimberlin, C. L., & Winterstein, A. G. (2008). Validity and reliability of measurement instruments used in research. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 65, 2276-2284.
- King, E. B., Reilly, C., & Hebl, M. (2008). The best of times, the worst of times:

  Exploring dual perspectives of "coming out" in the workplace. *Group and Organization Management*, 33(5), 566-601. doi:10.1177/1059601108321834
- King, J. E., & Cooley, E. L. (1995). Achievement orientation and the impostor phenomenon among college students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 20(3), 304-312. doi:10.1006/ceps.1995.1019
- Kolligian, J., Jr., & Sternberg, R. J. (1991). Perceived fraudulence in young adults: Is there an "imposter syndrome"? *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 56(2), 308-326.
- Kumar, S., & Jagacinski, C. M. (2006). Imposters have goals too: The imposter phenomenon and its relationship to achievement goal theory. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40(1), 147-157. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2005.05.014
- Langford, J., & Clance, P. R. (1993). The imposter phenomenon: Recent research findings regarding dynamics, personality and family patterns and their implications for treatment. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training,* 30(3), 495-501. doi:10.1037/0033-3204.30.3.495

- Lazarus, R. S. (2006). Emotions and interpersonal relationships: Toward a personcentered conceptualization of emotions and coping. *Journal of Personality*, 74(1), 9-46. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00368.x
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*: New York, NY: Springer.
- Leary, M. R., Patton, K. M., Orlando, A. E., & Funk, W. W. (2000). The impostor phenomenon: Self-perceptions, reflected appraisals, and interpersonal strategies.

  \*Journal of Personality, 68(4), 725-756.
- Leech, B. L. (2002). Asking questions: Techniques for semistructured interviews. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, *35*(4), 665-668.
- Legate, N., Ryan, R. M., & Weinstein, N. (2012). Is coming out always a "good thing"?

  Exploring the relations of autonomy support, outness, and wellness for lesbian,
  gay, and bisexual individuals. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 3(2),
  145-152. doi:10.1177/1948550611411929
- Leipold, B. (2014). Navigating straight waters: The lived experience of how out, White, gay males have successfully navigated the college presidential search process.

  \*\*Journal of Psychological Issues in Organizational Culture, 5(3), 40-67.\*\*

  doi:10.1002/jpoc.21155
- Li, S., Hughes, J. L., & Thu, S. M. (2014). The links between parenting styles and imposter phenomenon. *Psi Chi Journal of Psychological Research*, 19(2), 50-57.
- Manning, J. (2015). Communicating sexual identities: A typology of coming out. Sexuality & Culture, 19(1), 122-138. doi:10.1007/s12119-014-9251-4

- Mark, G., & Smith, A. P. (2012). Effects of occupational stress, job characteristics, coping, and attributional style on the mental health and job satisfaction of university employees. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 25(1), 63-78. doi:10.1080/10615806.2010.548088
- Martos, A. J., Nezhad, S., & Meyer, I. H. (2015). Variations in sexual identity milestones among lesbians, gay men, and bisexuals. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 12(1), 24-33. doi:10.1007/s13178-014-0167-4
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 2(2), 99-113.
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W. B., & Leiter, M. P. (2001). Job burnout. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 397-422.
- Mattie, C., Gietzen, J., Davis, S., & Prata, J. (2008). The imposter phenomenon: Self-assessment and competency to perform as a physician assistant in the United States. *Journal of Physician Assistant Education*, 19(1), 5-12.
- McCrae, R. R., & John, O. P. (1992). An introduction to the five-factor model and its applications. *Journal of Personality*, 60(2), 175-215.
- McDavitt, B., Iverson, E., Kubicek, K., Weiss, G., Wong, C. F., & Kipke, M. D. (2008).
  Strategies used by gay and bisexual young men to cope with heterosexism.
  Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services: Issues in Practice, Policy & Research,
  20(4), 354-380. doi:10.1080/10538720802310741
- McDermott, R. C., & Schwartz, J. P. (2013). Toward a better understanding of emerging adult men's gender role journeys: Differences in age, education, race, relationship

- status, and sexual orientation. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity, 14*(2), 202-210. doi:10.1037/a00285538
- McElwee, R., & Yurak, T. J. (2007). Feeling versus acting like an impostor: Real feelings of fraudulence or self-presentation? *Individual Differences Research*, *5*(3), 201-220.
- McElwee, R., & Yurak, T. J. (2010). The phenomenology of the impostor phenomenon. *Individual Differences Research*, 8(3), 184-197.
- McGregor, L. N., Gee, D. E., & Posey, K. E. (2008). I feel like a fraud and it depresses me: The relation between the impostor phenomenon and depression. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *36*(1), 43-48.
- McMillan, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (2010). *Research in education: Evidence-based inquiry*. Boston, MA: Pearson/Allyn and Bacon.
- Merriam, S. B. (1988). *Case study research in education: A qualitative approach*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Morgan, E. M. (2013). Contemporary issues in sexual orientation and identity development in emerging adulthood. *Emerging Adulthood*, 1(1), 52-66. doi:10.1177/2167696812469187
- Muhr, S. L., & Sullivan, K. R. (2013). "None so queer as folk": Gendered expectations and transgressive bodies in leadership. *Leadership*, 9(3), 416-435. doi:10.1177/1742715013485857
- National Center for Charitable Statistics. (2016). Quick facts about nonprofits. Retrieved from http://nccs.urban.org/statistics/quickfacts.cfm

- National Institute of Mental Health. (2016). Anxiety disorders. Retrieved from https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/anxiety-disorders/index.shtml
- Neureiter, M., Traut-Mattausch, E., Buse, K., & Di Fabio, A. (2016). An inner barrier to career development: Preconditions of the impostor phenomenon and consequences for career development. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1-15. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00048
- Oriel, K., Plane, M. B., & Mundt, M. (2004). Family medicine residents and the impostor phenomenon. *Family Medicine*, *36*(4), 248-252.
- Pachankis, J. E., & Goldfried, M. R. (2006). Social anxiety in young gay men. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 20, 996-1015. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2006.01.001
- Parkman, A., & Beard, R. (2008). Succession planning and the imposter phenomenon in higher education. *CUPA-HR Journal*, *59*(2), 29-36.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualtitative research and evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Peacock, J. R. (2000). Gay male adult development: Some stage issues of an older cohort. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 40(2), 13-29. doi:10.1300/J082v40n02\_02
- Perales, F. (2016). The costs of being "different": Sexual identity and subjective wellbeing over the life course. *Social Indicators Research*, *127*(2), 827-849. doi:10.1007/s11205-015-0974-x
- Peteet, B. J., Brown, C. M., Lige, Q. M., & Lanaway, D. A. (2015). Impostorism is associated with greater psychological distress and lower self-esteem for African American students. *Current Psychology: A Journal for Diverse Perspectives on Diverse Psychological Issues*, 34(1), 154-163. doi:10.1007/s12144-014-9248-z

- Piedmont, R. L. (1995). Another look at fear of success, fear of failure, and test anxiety:

  A motivational analysis using the five-factor model. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, 32(3-4), 139.
- Prata, J., & Gietzen, J. W. (2007). The imposter phenomenon in physician assistant graduates. *Journal of Physician Assistant Education*, 18(4), 33-36.
- Priola, V., Lasio, D., De Simone, S., & Serri, F. (2014). The sound of silence. Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender discrimination in "inclusive organizations." *British Journal of Management*, 25(3), 488-502. doi:10.1111/1467-8551.12043
- Quoidbach, J., Mikolajczak, M., & Gross, J. J. (2015). Positive interventions: An emotion regulation perspective. *Psychological Bulletin*, *141*(3), 655-693. doi:10.1037/a0038648
- Rohrmann, S., Bechtoldt, M. N., & Leonhardt, M. (2016). Validation of the impostor phenomenon among managers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 821. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00821
- Ross, S. R., & Krukowski, R. A. (2003). The imposter phenomenon and maladaptive personality: Type and trait characteristics. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(3), 477-484. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00067-3
- Ross, S. R., Stewart, J., Mugge, M., & Fultz, B. (2001). The imposter phenomenon, achievement dispositions, and the five factor model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *31*, 1347-1355. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00228-2
- Rossi, N. E. (2010). "Coming out" stories of gay and lesbian young adults. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *57*(9), 1174-1191. doi:10.1080/00918369.2010.508330

- Rothman, M. (1996). Fear of success among business students. *Psychological Reports*, 78(3), 863-869.
- Sakulku, J., & Alexander, J. (2011). The imposter phenomenon. *International Journal of Behavioral Science*, 6(1), 73-92.
- Salamon, L. M., Sokolowski, S. W., & Geller, S. L. (2012). *Holding the fort: Nonprofit*employment during a decade of turmoil. Retrieved from The Johns Hopkins

  Center for Civil Society Studies website: ccss.jhu.edu/wp-content/uploads
  /downloads/2012/01/NED\_National\_2012.pdf
- Sanford, A. A., Ross, E. M., Blake, S. J., & Cambiano, R. L. (2015). Finding courage and confirmation: Resisting impostor feelings through relationships with mentors, romantic partners, and other women in leadership. *Advancing Women in Leadership*, *35*, 31-41.
- Savin-Williams, R. C. (1998). The disclosure to families of same-sex attractions by lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 8(1), 49-68.
- Savin-Williams, R. C., & Diamond, L. M. (2000). Sexual identity trajectories among sexual-minority youths: Gender comparisons. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 29(6), 607-627.
- Sawyer, K., Salter, N., & Thoroughgood, C. (2013). Studying individual identities is good, but examining intersectionality is better. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *6*(1), 80-84.
- September, A. N., McCarrey, M., Baranowsky, A., Parent, C., & Schindler, D. (2001).

  The relation between well-being, imposter feelings, and gender role orientation

- among Canadian university students. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 141(2), 218-232.
- Seritan, A. L., & Mehta, M. M. (2016). Thorny laurels: The impostor phenomenon in academic psychiatry. *Academic Psychiatry*, 40(3), 418-421. doi:10.1007/s40596-015-0392-z
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(2), 216-269. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216
- Solomon, D., McAbee, J., Åsberg, K., & McGee, A. (2015). Coming out and the potential for growth in sexual minorities: The role of social reactions and internalized homonegativity. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 62(11), 1512-1538. doi:10.1080/00918369.2015.1073032
- Sonnak, C., & Towell, T. (2001). The impostor phenomenon in British university students: Relationships between self-esteem, mental health, parental rearing style and socioeconomic status. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 31(6), 863-874. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00184-7
- Steel, P. (2007). The nature of procrastination: A meta-analytic and theoretical review of quintessential self-regulatory failure. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*(1), 65-94. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.65
- Stoeber, J., & Otto, K. (2006). Positive conceptions of perfectionism: Approaches, evidence, challenges. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 10(4), 295-319. doi:10.1207/s15327957pspr1004\_2

- Szymanski, D., & Henrichs-Beck, C. (2014). Exploring sexual minority women's experiences of external and internalized heterosexism and sexism and their links to coping and distress. *Sex Roles*, 70(1-2), 28-42. doi:10.1007/s11199-013-0329-5
- Tamir, M. (2016). Why do people regulate their emotions? A taxonomy of motives in emotion regulation. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 20(3), 199-222. doi:10.1177/1088868315586325
- Thompson, T. (2004). Failure-avoidance: Parenting, the achievement environment of the home and strategies for reduction. *Learning and Instruction*, *14*(1), 3-26. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2003.10.005
- Thompson, T., Davis, H., & Davidson, J. (1998). Attributional and affective responses of impostors to academic success and failure outcomes. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25(2), 381-396. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00065-8
- Thompson, T., Foreman, P., & Martin, F. (2000). Impostor fears and perfectionistic concern over mistakes. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 29(4), 629-647. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00218-4
- Topping, M. E., & Kimmel, E. B. (1985). The imposter phenomenon: Feeling phony. *Academic Psychology Bulletin*, 7(2), 213-226.
- Troiden, R. R. (1979). Becoming homosexual: A model of gay identity acquisition.

  \*Psychiatry, 42, 362-373.
- Troiden, R. R. (1989). The formation of homosexual identities. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 17(1-2), 43-73.
- Tucker-Seeley, R. D., Blow, A. J., Matsuo, H., & Taylor-Moore, R. (2010). Behavioral escape avoidance coping in African-American men who have sex with men.

- Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services: The Quarterly Journal of Community & Clinical Practice, 22(3), 250-268. doi:10.1080/10538720903426362
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). QuickFacts: United States. Retrieved January 10, 2017, from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/PST045216/00
- Vaughan, M., & Waehler, C. (2010). Coming out growth: Conceptualizing and measuring stress-related growth associated with coming out to others as a sexual minority. *Journal of Adult Development*, 17(2), 94-109. doi:10.1007/s10804-009-9084-9
- Vergauwe, J., Wille, B., Feys, M., De Fruyt, F., & Anseel, F. (2015). Fear of being exposed: The trait-relatedness of the impostor phenomenon and its relevance in the work context. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 30(3), 565-581. doi:10.1007/s10869-014-9382-5
- Vrangalova, Z., & Savin-Williams, R. (2012). Mostly heterosexual and mostly gay/lesbian: Evidence for new sexual orientation identities. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(1), 85-101. doi:10.1007/s10508-012-9921-y
- Want, J., & Kleitman, S. (2006). Imposter phenomenon and self-handicapping: Links with parenting styles and self-confidence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40(5), 961-971. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2005.10.005
- Watson, G. C., & Betts, A. S. (2010). Confronting otherness: An e-conversation between doctoral students living with the imposter syndrome. *Canadian Journal for New Scholars in Education*, *3*(1), 1-13.

- Weber-Gilmore, G., Rose, S., & Rubinstein, R. (2011). The impact of internalized homophobia on outness for lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. *The Professional Counselor*, 1(3), 163-175. doi:10.15241/gwv.1.3.163
- Whitman, M. Y., & Shanine, K. K. (2012). Revisiting the impostor phenomenon: How individuals cope with feelings of being in over their heads. *Research in Occupational Stress and Well Being*, 10, 177-212. doi:10.1108/S1479-3555(2012)0000010009
- Willis, P. (2012). Witnesses on the periphery: Young lesbian, gay, bisexual and queer employees witnessing homophobic exchanges in Australian workplaces. *Human Relations*, 65(12), 1589-1610. doi:10.1177/0018726712457795
- Yin, R. K. (2003). *Case study research: Design and methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). Applications of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yuen, L. M., & Depper, D. S. (1987). Fear of failure in women. *Women & Therapy*, 6(3), 21-39. doi:10.1300/J015V06N03\_03

# **APPENDICES**

# APPENDIX A

# **Synthesis Matrix**

	Anxiety	Lack of self- confidence	Depression	Perfectionism	Procrastination	Self-presentation	Emotional exhaustion	Fear of failure	Fear of success
American Psychiatric Association (2016)	X		x						
Bechtoldt (2015)		x							
Bernard, Dollinger, and Ramaniah (2002)			X						
Bieling, Israeli, and Antony (2004)				X					
Castro, Jones, and Mirsalimi (2004)	X								
Chae, Piedmont, Estadt, and Wicks (1995)	X								
Chrisman, Pieper, Clance, Holland, and Glickauf-Hughes (1995)	X		X						
Clance (1985)						X			
Clance, Dingman, Reviere, and Stober (1995)			X		X				
Clance and Imes (1978)	X	X	X				X		
Clark, Vardeman, and Barba (2014)					X				
Cokley et al. (2015)		X							
Conroy (2001)								X	
Conroy, Kaye, and Fifer (2007)								X	
Cozzarelli and Major (1990)								X	
Crawford, Shanine, Whitman, and Kacmar (2016)							X		
Cromwell, Brown, Sanchez- Huceles, and Adair (1990)	X								
Dudău (2014)				X					
Egan, Piek, and Dyck (2015)				X					

Ferrari and Thompson (2006)						x			
Fried-Buchalter (1992)								X	х
Fried-Buchalter (1997)									х
Frost, Marten, Lahart, and Rosenblate (1990)				X	x				
Fujie (2010)		X							
Gibson-Beverly and Schwartz (2008)		х							
Henning, Ey, and Shaw (1998)				X					
Hewitt et al. (2003)				X					
Hirschfeld (1985)							X		
Hobfoll (1989)								X	
Horner (1972)									X
Horney (1936)									X
Hutchins (2015)	X						X		
Ivers and Downes (2012)									х
Jones and Berglas (1978)					X				
Jostl, Bergsmann, Luftenegger, Schober, and Spiel (2012)		X							
Kets de Vries (2005)					X	x			
Kumar and Jagacinski (2006)								X	
Langford and Clance (1993)		X							
Leary, Patton, Orlando, and Funk (2000)						x			
Maslach and Jackson (1981)							x		
Maslach, Schaufeli, and Leiter (2001)							X		
Mattie, Gietzen, Davis, and Prata (2008).		x	X						
McElwee and Yurak (2007)						X			
McElwee and Yurak (2010)						х			
National Institute of Mental Health (2016)	X								
Neureiter, Traut-Mattausch, Buse, and Di Fabio (2016)		X						X	X

Oriel, Plane, and Mundt (2004)			X					
Parkman and Beard (2008)				X				
Peteet, Brown, Lige, and Lanaway (2015)		X						X
Piedmont (1995)								X
Rohrmann, Bechtoldt, and Leonhardt (2016)	X		х		X			х
Ross and Krukowski (2003)	X		X					
Ross, Stewart, Mugge, and Fultz (2001)					x			
Rothman (1996)								X
Sakulku and Alexander (2011)				X				
September, McCarrey, Baranowsky, Parent, and Schindler (2001)		х						
Seritan and Mehta (2016)				x	X		X	X
Steel (2007)					X			
Stoeber and Otto (2006)				X				
Thompson (2004)		X			X			
Thompson, Davis, and Davidson (1998)					X		X	
Thompson, Foreman, and Martin (2000)				x				
Want and Kleitman (2006)		X			X			
Whitman and Shanine (2012)	X					X		
Yuen and Depper (1987)							x	

#### APPENDIX B

# Permission to Use and Copy of the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS)

#### Permission To Use the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (CIPS)

Please find attached the requested Clance IP Scale and scoring instructions. This correspondence constitutes permission to use the scale. I request that on each CIPS you use/distribute, that you have the copyright and permission information printed on each page:

Note. From The Impostor Phenomenon: When Success Makes You Feel Like A Fake (pp. 20-22), by P.R. Clance, 1985, Toronto: Bantam Books. Copyright 1985 by Pauline Rose Clance, Ph.D., ABPP. Reprinted by permission. Do not reproduce without permission from Pauline Rose Clance, <a href="mailto:drpaulinerose@comcast.net">drpaulinerose@comcast.net</a>. www.paulineroseclance.com.

This clause is already on the attached CIPS copy.

If you do not want to put the name of the test or book on the scale if it may affect your research, contact me and I can send you a version of the scale without that specific information yet retaining the clause, "Under copyright. Do not reproduce without the permission of Dr. Pauline Rose Clance."

For research purposes, I also request that you send a citation and abstract/results summary of your work to me when you are completed with your research to add to the IP reference list.

For IP presentation purposes, I request that you send me a brief summary (i.e., couple of sentences) of participant (and your own) feedback about the presentation in regard to how the Impostor Phenomenon was received.

Thank you again for your interest in the Impostor Phenomenon. Please e-mail me that you agree with these conditions. You may refer participants to my website (<a href="www.paulineroseelance.com">www.paulineroseelance.com</a>) for any interest in viewing IP articles and for my contact information.

Best.

Pauline Rose Clance, Ph.D., ABPP

# Clance IP Scale

For each question, please circle the number that best indicates how true the statement is of you. It is best to give the first response that enters your mind rather than dwelling on each statement and thinking about it over and over.

1. I have often suc	ceeded on a test or	task even though I was a	fraid that I woul	d not do well before I	undertook the task.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
2. I can give the im	pression that I'm	more competent than I re	eally am.		
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
3. I avoid evaluation	ons if possible and	have a dread of others ev	aluating me.		
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
4. When people pr me in the future.	aise me for sometl	ning I've accomplished, I'	m afraid I won't	be able to live up to t	heir expectations of
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
5. I sometimes thin place at the right ti		resent position or gained ght people.	my present succ	ess because I happene	d to be in the right
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
6. I'm afraid peopl	le important to me	may find out that I'm ne	ot as capable as ti	hey think I am.	
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
7. I tend to remem	ber the incidents i	n which I have not done i	ny best more tha	n those times I have d	lone my best.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
8. I rarely do a pro	oject or task as we	ll as I'd like to do it.			
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
9. Sometimes I fee	or believe that m	y success in my life or in	my job has been	the result of some kin	d of error.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
10. It's hard for m	e to accept compli	ments or praise about my	intelligence or a	ccomplishments.	
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
Note: From The Impostor P Rose Clance, Ph.D., ASPP. 1 www.psulinecoseclance.com	teprinted by permission. I	os Makes You Feel Like A Fake (pp. 2 Do not reproduce without permission	0-22), by P.R. Clance, 19 from Pauline Rose Clan	85, Toronto: Bantam Books. C ce, <u>drpaulinerose@comcast.ne</u>	opyright 1985 by Pauline L

11. At times, I feel	my success has be	en due to some kind of lu	ck.		
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
12. I'm disappoint	ed at times in my p	oresent accomplishments	and think I shou	ld have accomplished	much more.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
13. Sometimes I'm	afraid others will	discover how much know	eledge or ability l	really lack.	
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
14. I'm often afrai attempt.	d that I may fail at	a new assignment or unc	dertaking even th	ough I generally do w	rell at what I
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
15. When I've succ repeating that succ		g and received recognitio	n for my accomp	lishments, I have dou	bts that I can keep
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
16. If I receive a gr of what I've done.	eat deal of praise	and recognition for some	thing I've accom	plished, I tend to disc	ount the importan
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
17. I often compar	e my ability to tho	se around me and think t	hey may be more	intelligent than I am	Zi.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
18. I often worry a confidence that I w		g with a project or exam	ination, even tho	ugh others around me	have considerable
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
19. If I'm going to accomplished fact.	receive a promotio	on or gain recognition of s	some kind, I hesi	tate to tell others unti	l it is an
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
20. I feel bad and o	liscouraged if I'm	not "the best" or at least	"very special" in	situations that involv	e achievement.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
	reprinted by permission. D	ps Makes You Feel Like A Fake (pp. 20 o not reproduce without permission			

## Scoring the Impostor Test

The Impostor Test was developed to help individuals determine whether or not they have IP characteristics and, if so, to what extent they are suffering.

After taking the Impostor Test, add together the numbers of the responses to each statement. If the total score is 40 or less, the respondent has few Impostor characteristics; if the score is between 41 and 60, the respondent has moderate IP experiences; a score between 61 and 80 means the respondent frequently has Impostor feelings; and a score higher than 80 means the respondent often has intense IP experiences. The higher the score, the more frequently and seriously the Impostor Phenomenon interferes in a person's life.

Note: From The Impostor Phenomenon: When Success Makes You Feel Like A Fake (pp. 20-22), by P.R. Clance, 1985, Toronto: Bantam Books. Copyright 1985 by Pauline Rose Clance, Ph.D., ABPP. Reprinted by permission. Do not reproduce without permission from Pauline Rose Clance, <a href="mailto:drawlengescharce.com">drawlengescharce.com</a>,

## APPENDIX C

# **Informational Letter to Participants**

November 1, 2016

Dear Participant:

My name is Don Scott and I am a doctoral student at Brandman University conducting research to explore and describe the behavioral characteristics of gay men serving in civic or non-profit leadership roles. This study involves two steps.

First, I will send a link that will include a consent form and an electronic survey. I will invite you to complete the 20 question survey within 1-2 days of receiving it. The survey should take approximately 20 minutes to complete. I will receive your responses electronically and want to assure you that your name and responses will remain confidential and known only to me.

The second step of this study involves a 45-60 minute interview at a time that is convenient for you. All information shared during the interview will remain confidential and your name will not be attached to any notes or the interview transcript. All information will be stored in locked files accessible only to me. Further, you will be free to stop the interview and withdraw from the study at any time. Finally, you may be assured that the researcher is not in any way affiliated with your employer.

If you wish to participate, please contact me at doscott@mail.brandman.edu. I am also happy to answer any questions you may have in advance of your participation.

Sincerely,

Donald B. Scott

## APPENDIX D

## **Electronic Consent**

**INFORMATION ABOUT:** Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics: How Do Gay Male Leaders Cope?

**RESPONSIBLE INVESTIGATOR:** Donald B. Scott, M.Ed.

# **Introduction**

You are being asked to participate in a research study conducted by Donald B. Scott, a doctoral student at Brandman University. The purpose of this study is to explore and describe the behavioral characteristics of gay men serving in civic or non-profit leadership roles.

Your participation in this survey is voluntary. You may choose not to participate. If you decide to participate in this electronic survey, you can withdraw at any time.

The survey will take approximately 20 minutes to complete. Your responses will be confidential and each participant will be assigned a three digit code for identification purposes. The Researcher will keep the identifying codes safe-guarded in a locked file drawer to which the Researcher will have sole access. The results of this study will be used for scholarly purposes only. Further, I may contact you after receiving your responses to arrange for a follow-up interview.

If you have any questions about completing this survey or any aspects of this research, please contact:

Don Scott, Researcher doscott@mail.brandman.edu or Dr. Douglas DeVore, Advisor ddevore@brandman.edu

## **Informed Consent Form**

No information that identifies me will be released without my separate consent and all identifiable information will be protected to the limits allowed by law. If the study design or the use of the data is to be changed, I will be so informed and my consent re-obtained. There are minimal risks associated with participating in this research. I understand that the Investigator will protect my confidentiality by keeping the identifying codes and research materials in a locked file drawer that is available only to the researcher.

I understand that I may refuse to participate in or I may withdraw from this study at any time without any negative consequences. Also, the investigator may stop the study at any time. I understand that if I have any questions, comments, or concerns about the study or the informed consent process, I may write or call:

Office of the Vice Chancellor of Academic Affairs Brandman University 16355 Laguna Canyon Road Irvine, CA 92618 (949) 341-7641

**ELECTRONIC CONSENT**: Please select your choice below.

Clicking on the appropriate button below indicates you have read and understand the informed consent form.

I wish to participate in the survey.	
I <u>decline</u> to participate in the survey.	

## APPENDIX E

## **Written Informed Consent Form**

**INFORMATION ABOUT:** Exploring the Impostor Phenomenon's Behavioral Characteristics: How Do Gay Male Leaders Cope?

# BRANDMAN UNIVERSITY 16355 LAGUNA CANYON ROAD IRVINE, CA 92618

**RESPONSIBLE INVESTIGATOR:** Donald B. Scott, M.Ed.

**PURPOSE OF THE STUDY:** You are being asked to participate in a research study conducted by Donald B. Scott, a doctoral student at Brandman University. The purpose of this study is to explore and describe the coping skills gay men serving in civic or non-profit leadership roles and identified with the impostor phenomenon using the Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale use to overcome behavioral characteristics associated with the impostor phenomenon

In participating in this study, I agree to be interviewed about my experiences as a leader. The one-on-one interviews will take approximately 45-60 minutes of your time.

## I understand that:

- a) There are minimal risks associated with participating in this research. I understand that the Investigator will protect my confidentiality by keeping the identifying codes and research materials in a locked file drawer that is available only to the researcher.
- b) The possible benefit of this study is that my input may help add to the research regarding the impostor phenomenon and effective ways for individuals to cope with it. The findings will be available to me at the conclusion of the study and will provide new insights about the experiences gay men in leadership roles report having with the impostor phenomenon. I understand that I will not be compensated for my participation.
- c) If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please feel free to contact Don Scott at doscott@mail.brandman.edu.
  You may also contact the Brandman University Advisor for this study, Dr. Douglas DeVore at ddevore@brandman.edu.
- d) My participation in this research study is voluntary. I may decide not to participate in the study and I can withdraw at any time. I can also decide not to answer particular questions during the interview if I so choose. I understand that I

may refuse to participate or may withdraw from this study at any time without any negative consequences. Also, the Investigator may stop the study at any time.

e) No information that identifies me will be released without my separate consent and that all identifiable information will be protected to the limits allowed by the law. If the study design or the use of the data is to be changed, I will be so informed and my consent reobtained. I understand that if I have any questions, comments, or concerns about the study or the informed consent process, I may write or call the Office of the Executive Vice Chancellor of Academic Affairs, Brandman University, at 16355 Laguna Canyon Road, Irvine, CA 92618, (949) 341-7641.

I acknowledge that I have received a copy of this form and the Research Participant's Bill of Rights. I have read the above and understand it and hereby consent to the procedure(s) set forth.

Signature of Participant or Responsible Party	Date
Printed Name of Participant or Responsible Party	Date
Signature of Witness (if appropriate)	Date
Signature of Principal Investigator	

#### APPENDIX F

# **Participant Bill of Rights**



#### BRANDMAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

#### Research Participant's Bill of Rights

Any person who is requested to consent to participate as a subject in an experiment, or who is requested to consent on behalf of another, has the following rights:

- 1. To be told what the study is attempting to discover.
- To be told what will happen in the study and whether any of the procedures, drugs or devices are different from what would be used in standard practice.
- To be told about the risks, side effects or discomforts of the things that may happen to him/her.
- To be told if he/she can expect any benefit from participating and, if so, what the benefits might be.
- To be told what other choices he/she has and how they may be better or worse than being in the study.
- To be allowed to ask any questions concerning the study both before agreeing to be involved and during the course of the study.
- 7. To be told what sort of medical treatment is available if any complications arise.
- To refuse to participate at all before or after the study is started without any adverse effects.
- 9. To receive a copy of the signed and dated consent form.
- To be free of pressures when considering whether he/she wishes to agree to be in the study.

If at any time you have questions regarding a research study, you should ask the researchers to answer them. You also may contact the Brandman University Institutional Review Board, which is concerned with the protection of volunteers in research projects. The Brandman University Institutional Review Board may be contacted either by telephoning the Office of Academic Affairs at (949) 341-9937 or by writing to the Vice Chancellor of Academic Affairs, Brandman University, 16355 Laguna Canyon Road, Irvine, CA, 92618.

Brandman University IRB Adopted November 2013

#### APPENDIX G

## **Interview Protocol**

# Good morning/afternoon:

Thank you for your willingness to participate in this interview. As I mentioned during our earlier conversation, I am conducting research as part of earning my doctorate degree in Organizational Leadership at Brandman University. The purpose of my research is to explore the experiences you have had as a leader working in a non-profit or civic agency. More specifically, as a fellow gay man in a leadership position who scores high on the impostor phenomenon scale, I am interested in the experiences of other gay male leaders who score high on the scale. The interview will take about 30-45 minutes and includes 9 questions. I may ask a few follow-up questions if I need further clarification.

# **Informed Consent and Recording**

Before we begin the interview, I want to seek your Informed Consent about your participation. I also have a copy of the Brandman Bill of Rights I sent. Do you have any questions or need clarification about either document?

I would like to remind you that anything we have previously discussed and will discuss today will remain confidential. All of the data will be reported without making any reference to you or your employer. With your permission, I would like to tape record this interview so that I ensure accurate recording of your responses I will be recording this session only so I have the ability to capture our discussion so that I can transcribe it for review. After I transcribe the conversation, I will send it to you via email so that you can make sure I have accurately captured your thoughts and ideas.

Finally, at any point during the interview you may ask that I skip a particular question or stop the interview altogether.

Do you have any questions before we begin?

# List of Questions and probe questions

Question #1: Why have you chosen to work in the (non-profit or civic) arena versus a more corporate atmosphere?

Question #2: How would you describe your thought processes, i.e. your personal level of self-confidence, when reflecting on deciding to pursue career advancement opportunities?

• Probe: What are some of the pros and cons you consider when accepting new responsibilities?

Question #3: How have your work responsibilities or tasks been accomplished at the expense of your personal well-being?

- Probe: How would you describe any kind of stress you face and how have you learned to manage that stress?
- Probe: What kind of work responsibilities have cut into your personal life?

Question #4: Think of a work project or a task you led that created anxiety for you. How did you manage that anxiety?

• Probe: Why did you use that approach for dealing with the anxiety?

Question #5: How do you typically react when faced with a large or daunting task in the workplace? Could you give me an example.

Question #6: Give me an example when your own level of self-confidence has affected you in the workplace.

- Probe: How do you respond in those situations?
- Probe: What impact does positive feedback you receive have on your response? Question #7: Can you describe a situation when you have adjusted your behavior based upon the way you believe others perceive you?

• Probe: Why does that happen?

• Probe: Do you consider the adjustment positive or negative and why?

Question #8: Can you describe circumstances that might lead you to procrastinate or avoid certain work tasks or projects?

• Probe: How do you typically respond when you realize you are procrastinating or avoiding those tasks?

Question #9: Has perfectionism ever been a concern in your professional life?

• Probe: Do you consider that a positive or negative characteristic and why?

# **Ending Interview question**

Question #10: I want to finish this interview by asking how you would describe the role your family played in your career choices or identity.

Do you have any questions or additional thoughts you would like to share with me before we conclude?